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DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

Michael Mocksten,

Chief Financial Officer
454 City Hall

Baltimore, Maryland 21202

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Brandon M. Scott, Mayor

Honorable President and Members of
The Board of Estimates
City of Baltimore, Maryland April 12, 2024

In compliance with Article VII, Section 8, of the revised City Charter (November, 1964), submitted herewith is the Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the City of Baltimore, Maryland, (the City) for the year ended June 30, 2023.
The ACFR was prepared by the City’s Department of Finance. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the presented data
and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. We believe that the
data, as presented, is accurate in all material aspects; that it is presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial
position and changes in financial position of the City; and, that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the
maximum understanding of the City’s financial affairs have been provided.

Management has provided a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in
the form of a Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the
MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of
the independent auditors in the financial section of the ACFR.

The City Charter established a Department of Audits under the general supervision of the City Comptroller. The Charter
requires the City Auditor to “annually make a general comprehensive public report of the financial position of the City; in
the discretion of the Comptroller, such report may be in the form of an opinion on the annual financial statements prepared
by the Director of Finance.” Additionally, the Board of Estimates awarded a contract to the nationally recognized
independent certified public accounting firm, SB & Company, LLC, to perform an audit with the City Auditor of the basic
financial statements of the City as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023. The audit report is contained herein. The audit
was conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. On the basis of
this examination, the independent public accountants have issued an unmodified opinion that the presentation of the basic
financial statements conforms with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. In conducting the audit,
the auditors performed tests of the accounting records and such other procedures as were considered necessary in the
circumstances to provide a reasonable basis for this opinion on the financial statements. The auditors also assessed the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluated the overall financial
statement presentation.

The independent audit of the City’s financial statements is part of a broader, federally mandated Uniform Grant Guidance
“Single Audit” designed to meet the special needs of Federal grantor agencies. The Single Audit Report will be available
as a separate document as of a later date.

This report includes all of the funds that we consider to be part of, controlled by or dependent on the City. Professional
judgment must be used to determine whether or not a potential component unit should be included in the reporting entity.
Various potential component units were evaluated to determine whether they should be reported in the City’s ACFR. Three
component units, the Baltimore Industrial Development Authority (blended component unit), the Baltimore City Public
School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation (discretely presented component units), were considered to be part of
the City’s reporting entity when it was concluded that the City was financially accountable for these entities. The Housing
Authority of Baltimore City and certain other organizations are not considered to be component units and are not included
in the City’s basic financial statements.
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PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore (the City) is a body corporate and politic of the State of Maryland (the State) in
which all local governmental functions are performed by the City. The City has had a charter form of government since
1797, home rule powers since 1918, and is governed by an elected Mayor, Comptroller and a City Council. The City has
a total area of approximately 92 square miles and population of 569,931 as of 2022 per the most recent report from the US
Census. The City is a major deep-water seaport located on the Patapsco River, a tributary of the Chesapeake Bay and is
served by Baltimore/Washington International Thurgood Marshall Airport in adjacent Anne Arundel County. The City is
almost completely surrounded by Baltimore County, a separate entity, which borders the City on the east, north, west and
part of the south. Anne Arundel County adjoins the City on its southern border.

The City provides the full range of municipal services contemplated by statute or charter, which are provided or paid for
by the City from Local, State or Federal sources. These services include public safety (police and fire protection), water,
wastewater and stormwater utilities, highways and streets, sanitation, health and human services, culture and recreation,
education (elementary through high school, provided by a component unit, the Baltimore City Public School System),
public improvements, planning and zoning, parking facilities, mortgage loan programs, industrial development, and general
and administrative services. The City is also responsible for the adoption and maintenance of building codes, and regulation
of licenses and permits, collection of certain taxes and revenues, maintenance of public records and the conduct of elections.
These activities are included in the reporting entity. There are no overlapping local governmental entities or taxing
jurisdictions. Accordingly, there is no overlapping debt of the City.

Under the Charter, the City’s executive functions are vested in the Mayor, the Board of Estimates and an independent
Comptroller. The City’s legislative functions are vested in the City Council. The Mayor is the chief executive officer of
the City. The Mayor is elected for a term of four years and is eligible to succeed him or herself without limitation as to the
number of terms. If the Mayor is disabled or absent from the City, the President of the City Council acts as ex-officio
Mayor. If the Mayor resigns, is permanently disqualified, or dies in office, the President of the City Council becomes
Mayor for the remainder of the term. The Mayor has authority to veto ordinances, has power of appointment of most
department heads and municipal officers, serves on the Board of Estimates and appoints two of the other four members of
the Board of Estimates.

The Board of Estimates is the highest administrative body of the City. It is composed of the President of the City Council,
who serves as President of the Board, the Mayor, the Comptroller, the City Solicitor and the Director of Public Works. The
Board of Estimates formulates and determines City fiscal policy with its primary policy tool being the recommended annual
Ordinance of Estimates, the City’s budget.

Key Budgetary Policies

Balanced Budget: The City Charter requires the operating budget to be balanced. Any difference between non-property
tax revenues and total expenditures are to be made up by adjusting the property tax rate or enactment of new revenue
measures.

Public Hearings: The Charter mandates that both the Board of Estimates and the City Council conduct public hearings on
the proposed budget.

Timely Adoption: The Charter sets forth a schedule requiring the budget to be adopted before the beginning of the fiscal
year, July 1.

Budget Amendment: The Charter provides means for adopting supplemental appropriations funded from unanticipated
revenues and/or new grants and sources that materialize during the year. The City’s policy is to minimize the use of
supplemental appropriations. In addition, the Charter allows for and spells out the procedures for amending the budget to
transfer appropriations between programs within an agency and between agencies.

Six-Year Capital Plan: Guiding the physical development budget plan of the City is the Charter requirement for a six-year
capital improvement plan, the first year comprising the capital budget year. The plan is prepared in conformance with basic
capital budgeting policies, which include appropriating funds in the year in which projects are likely to begin, financing a
portion of capital improvements from current revenues, and estimating the impact of capital projects on the operating
budget.

Budget Monitoring and Execution: Budget analysts maintain ongoing contact with agency fiscal officers in the process of
implementation and execution of the budget. Expenditure and revenue projections are developed and reviewed on a
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monthly basis. The Mayor, through the Department of Finance, exercises appropriate fiscal management to adjust budget
policy, as necessary, to be within the limits of the current adopted plan. The City Council has the practice of reviewing
budget performance at mid-year and during the fourth quarter.

Debt Policy: In 1990, the City adopted a formal debt policy which set annual borrowing limits, consolidated all financing
arrangements within the Department of Finance, established refunding and refinancing policies, and set limits on key debt
management ratios. The objective is to maintain the City’s reputation as a locality having a conservative approach to all

aspects of debt management, including debt service expenses, debt retirement schedules, and debt capacity ratios. The
Debt Policy was last reviewed December 2023 by an independent financial consultant contracted by the City. After
considering the consultant’s recommendation, the City plans not to exceed $80 million in budgeted annual general
obligation debt in Fiscal Year 2025 and up to $125 million thereafter. The Debt Policy is subject to review at least every
five years, or at such earlier time as may be recommended by the Director of Finance.

Budget Stabilization Reserve Policy: In November 2008, the City’s Board of Estimates approved a budget stabilization
reserve policy that established the basis for having a budget stabilization reserve as well as identifying its maintenance
level, scope of coverage, circumstances under which funds shall be drawn down from the reserve, and the requirements to
replenish the reserve when utilized. The policy stipulates that the reserve serves to provide a budget defense to stabilize a
post-adopted budget that has been impacted by an uncorrectable shortfall in revenues and/or an unanticipated and
uncorrectable emergency expense. The reserve is the revenue source of last resort to avoid a budget deficit. Under no
circumstances is the reserve to be used as a revenue source to balance a planning year budget. The policy further
recommends that the reserve shall be maintained on any June 30 at a minimum level of 8% of the value of the general fund
operating budget of the subsequent fiscal year.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Retirement Plans

Professional employees of the Baltimore City Public School System, and the Enoch Pratt Free Library, are members of the
State of Maryland Retirement System to which the City is not required to contribute. The City contributes to four retirement
plans established for all other City employees and elected officials. The City also contributes to the State of Maryland
Retirement System for Sheriff Office employees.

City laws require that contributions to its three funded pension systems be based on actuarial valuations. City contributions
to the Unfunded Police Department Retirement Plan (for eligible employees hired prior to January 1, 1947, all of whom
are now retired) are not actuarially determined, and these benefits are paid from annual appropriations.

Temporary Investment of Cash Balances

The City, through the Department of Finance, pursues an aggressive cash management and investment program to achieve
maximum financial return on available funds. Depending on cash needs, excess funds are invested on a short, intermediate,
or long-term basis at the best obtainable rates. Investments are limited generally to direct or indirect obligations of the U.S.
government and fully collateralized repurchase agreements. The City utilizes the practice of recording investment income
in the period in which it is earned.

Risk Management

The City is self-insured in the area of casualty and property losses, including the uninsured portion of losses to City
buildings and contents, vehicles, watercraft, boilers, machinery, workers’ compensation and employers’ liability,
employees’ health insurance, third party general liability and automobile liability losses. The Office of Risk Management,
within the Department of Finance, administers the fund.

Internal Control

City management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. The
City has established a comprehensive framework of internal control to provide a reasonable basis for asserting that the
financial statements are fairly presented. Because the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits to be derived, the
City’s objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute assurance, that the financial statements are free of any
material misstatements.



ECONOMIC PROFILE AND OUTLOOK

Baltimore City is the historic, business, education, and cultural center of Maryland, located between Washington, D.C. and
New York City along the Interstate 95 corridor. The City was founded in 1729, incorporated in 1797, and became
independent from Baltimore County in 1851. It is the most populous city in Maryland and the 30th most populous city in
the United States.

The City is situated in one of the most populous, wealthiest and best educated population centers in the country. This
provides access to a large and diversified workforce for the city, as well as expanded opportunity for residents. However,
residents face various socio-economic issues and inequities that are rooted in historic policies, such as redlining and
segregation. The City is working to address these realities every day by providing targeted and equitable services to
residents.

Baltimore benefits from a robust inter-city transportation network that includes multiple Interstate highways, the Amtrak
Northeast Regional and Acela corridors, the Baltimore-Washington International Thurgood Marshall Airport, and the
Maryland Area Rail Commuter (MARC) system. In the City, residents and visitors are served by a public transportation
system that features a combination of light-rail, metro-rail, and bus service administered by the Maryland Transit
Administration, which saw over 48 million riders in 2022. Off land, the Port of Baltimore functions as a major import and
export hub, processing over 11 million tons of general cargo in 2022 and serving the in-land population as the closest
seaport for the Midwest region.

The City is home to multiple higher education institutions, such as Johns Hopkins University, University of Maryland
Baltimore, Morgan State University, Coppin State University, and Maryland Institute College of Art. Johns Hopkins and
University of Maryland also extend into the healthcare sector, operating medical systems that serve the greater Baltimore
region alongside Mercy Medical System and LifeBridge Health. This prominent health care and knowledge-related
industry presence provides Baltimore with a strong economic backbone.

Economic Outlook

Baltimore City’s economy is reaching levels of stability following economic growth and recovery. The overall outlook
reflects positive economic growth in labor markets, real estate, and sales activity.

The following key indicators suggest that the City is retaining a healthy economic environment:

e The City’s labor force has increased by 4,580 throughout Fiscal 2023, demonstrating an increase in the City's
economic strength by retaining employed residents.

e In June 2023, the City reached an unemployment rate of 2.3%, the lowest since the Bureau of Labor Statistics
(BLS) began tracking the metric.

e The City's economic activity, as measured by the value of Sales and Use taxes generated in the City, remains
strong. The City's taxable sales for Fiscal 2023 represented 6.1% of the State's total, 0.1% higher than the 6.0%
City's participation during Fiscal 2022.

e  While the City’s household size has declined from 2.53 individuals in 2010 to 2.32 in 2021, the median household
income has grown by 41.1%, from $38,346 in 2010 to $54,124 in 2021.

The City's overall economic outlook remains positive as it benefits from improvements in key sectors such as the labor and
real estate markets; however, the City continues battling the challenges of declining population and its impact on its income
taxable base. Even though the City has not yet experienced reductions of its taxable income, close attention must be given
to this factor for the sustainability of the City's finances.

Jobs and Employment

In May 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the unemployment rate climbed to 11.2%, and the number of employed
City residents dropped to its lowest point in the last five years, 244,800. However, during the following three years, there
has been a gradual upward trend in employed City residents, reaching 271,413 City workers as reported by BLS, and the
City recorded its lowest unemployment rate on record of 2.3% as of June 2023. This rate, which reflects virtually full
employment, signals that most City residents willing to work are employed, and those seeking opportunities may have
more competitive offers.
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Retail Activity and Offices

The Maryland Sales and Use tax is considered a meaningful indicator of local and regional economic activity. In Fiscal
2023, 6.1% of sales generating this income for the State came from transactions occurring in the City, a 0.1% increase over
Fiscal 2022. Growth in this indicator points to the City’s resilience in maintaining levels of economic activity.

The State and the nation have been subject to drastic modifications of consumers' spending habits resulting from the
pandemic, which has led to long-term changes in buying preferences towards online shopping methods. Of total sales
within the City, purchasing habits increased by 3.4% for Utilities, Transportation, and Miscellaneous categories, comparing
year-to-date spending between 2019 and 2023. However, the City saw a decline of 3.5% in consumption of food and
beverages during the same period.

Residential Housing

The real estate market showed stabilization signs during Fiscal 2023 after the extraordinary year of activity experienced in
Fiscal 2022. Favorable housing market conditions that included low interest rates, abundant supply of housing, and more
disposable income led to increased activity levels across the City during Fiscal 2022. However, as interest rates began
rising in the spring of 2022 to deter inflation, the housing market returned to pre-pandemic levels as demand fell.

Even though the number of residential units sold decreased by 2,305, from 9,134 in Fiscal 2022 to 6,829 during Fiscal
2023, this activity level was still higher than the average of 6,309 units sold in 2019 before the pandemic hit. Additionally,
the number of days passed for a listed property to close only rose from 30 days in Fiscal 2022 to 34 days on average in
Fiscal 2023, which indicated that sales occurred 20 days faster than the average 54 days on the market before the pandemic.
More importantly, the average sale price of residential properties was virtually unimpacted, increasing by 0.7% compared
to the prior year, from $250,740 to $252,419 in Fiscal 2023. This is after experiencing an average increase of 9.4% between
Fiscal 2021 and 2022.

Despite the downturn in the housing market, the City still represents a reasonable and low-cost housing alternative for
buyers in the region. This is particularly important as the regional market has grown to include more Washington and
Northern Virginia commuters.

Port of Baltimore

With the expansion of the Panama Canal in 2016 allowing deeper and wider lanes for larger ships to pass through,
Baltimore and other Atlantic coastal ports now receive larger cargo-carriers, often from the Far East, that previously were
limited to the Pacific Coast. Indeed, Baltimore is one of only four Eastern U.S. ports with a 50-foot (15.2 meters) shipping
channel and a 50-foot container berth, allowing it to accommodate some of the largest container ships in the world.

The Port of Baltimore generates nearly $3.3 billion in total personal income and supports 15,300 direct jobs and nearly
140,000 jobs connected to port work. The Port ranks first among the nation’s ports for volume of autos and light trucks,
roll on/roll off heavy farm and construction machinery, and imported gypsum. It ranks 11th among major U.S. ports for
foreign cargo handled and ninth for total foreign cargo value. In 2023, the Port welcomed the largest container ship to visit
Maryland, the Evergreen Ever Max, which can handle 15,432 Twenty-foot Equivalent (TEU) containers.

As of the first quarter of 2023, the Port activity increased by 8% for general cargo and 7% for containers compared to the
same period of the prior year. In addition, roll on/roll off farm and construction machinery experienced an increase of 42%
year-over-year. Other recent successes include the addition of four ultra-large cranes, e-commerce express shipping lines,
receiving diverted ships due to congestion at other port locations, and the new coastal restoration initiative to restore island
habitats in the Chesapeake Bay ecosystem.

On March 26, 2024, Port operations were significantly interrupted due to the collapse of the Franis Scott Key Bridge. The
economic impact of the disruption, the rebuilding activities, federal and state aid are not yet estimable.

Tourism and Travel Industries

The City’s tourism and travel industries are still climbing uphill to reach pre-COVID-19 activity levels. Many activities
have fully rebounded, with some surpassing pre-pandemic levels of activity.
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Baltimore Convention Center (BCC). In Fiscal 2021, the BCC held no events while it served as a COVID-19 field hospital,
testing site, and vaccination facility. The facility continued to operate in this capacity until October 1, 2021. In Fiscal 2022,
the BCC held 81 events, generating $7.2 million in revenues. However, in Fiscal 2023, the Convention Center hosted 99
events, 18 more than the prior year, and generated $9.9 million in revenues. Even though this number is still lower than
the 114 events held by the BCC in Fiscal 2019, this industry is gaining momentum as economic activity continues to
rebound.

Hospitality. Hotel activity was slow to rebound initially in the aftermath of the onset of COVID. The Fiscal 2023 room
demand measured by the occupancy rate averaged 63.8%, just 0.6% higher than the 63.2% of Fiscal 2022; however, the
City increased its room supply by nearly 2,500, indicating that demand fully absorbed this increase. Additionally, the
average daily rate per room of hotels in the City grew to $173.6 in Fiscal 2023, $8.4 more or 5.2% higher than the Fiscal
2022 average of $165.1. As a result, the City is gradually increasing its yield in hotel tax revenue due to the combined
impact of demand and higher prices.

Baltimore Washington International Thurgood Marshall Airport (BWI.) During the calendar year 2019, nearly 27.0 million
passengers flew in or out of BWI airport, ranking it as the 22nd busiest airport in the United States. As a result of COVID-
19, the travel and airline industry experienced a massive disruption, but the industry has rebounded going into calendar
year 2023. As of May 2023, there were over 24.3 million passengers throughout a 12-month period, or a 14.8% increase
during the same period from the prior year. BWI Marshall serves as an integral part of the U.S. Capital Region’s supply
chain, accounting for 56.9% of freight transported in the region during this period.

Port of Baltimore. Since 2009, the Port of Baltimore has had year-round cruising, averaging more than 200,000 passengers
annually through 2019. Following the pause during the COVID-19 pandemic, Baltimore’s passenger counts have
rebounded, with all ships sailing at full capacity. The Port announced that Royal Caribbean, one of the largest companies
in this industry, has recently replaced the Baltimore-based ship with enhanced fleet that will now provide year-round
cruises from Baltimore to the Bahamas, Bermuda, the Caribbean, and New England/Canada which may entice travelers
from nearby states in addition to the Baltimore region. Cruise-related Port activity is estimated to generate about $63
million in business revenue and create 400 jobs.

Commercial Real Estate Development

Segments of the Baltimore City commercial real estate market have been impacted by the on-set of the COVID-19
pandemic, specifically in their occupancy rates. The pandemic has caused many companies to completely shift to working
from home, triggering changes in the market that could cause a decline in commercial real estate development throughout
the City going forward.

This shift is apparent in the sudden uptick in office vacancy rates experienced in the first quarter of 2021. The office space
in the Downtown had a 10.4% vacancy rate during the first quarter of calendar year 2020, increasing to 19.6% by the
second quarter of 2022, which represents the highest office vacancy rate that the City has experienced in recent years. This
rate has fallen to 14.4% in the first quarter of 2023. Yet, with many companies still implementing teleworking and work-
from-home policies, there is some uncertainty around whether the office space vacancy rate will continue to decline.

Unlike the office market, the vacancy rate for retail spaces remained steady throughout the year. As of the first quarter of
calendar year 2023, the Downtown retail vacancy rate was 5.7%, only 0.1 percentage points below the 5.8% of the previous
year and down 0.4 percentage points from the prior quarter’s 6.1%, suggesting that this vacancy rate range is the new
normal for retail spaces.

Although the City’s industrial market has experienced negative net absorption since 2020, the low vacancy rates indicate
strong demand. As of the first quarter of calendar year 2023, the citywide industrial vacancy rate was 6.6%, a slight increase
of 1.0 percentage points over the prior year. In addition, industrial properties have faced significant growth in real estate
market rent per square foot, reaching $8.5 in the first quarter of 2023 from $7.7 for the same period of the prior year.

FINANCIAL ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Ten years into the original Ten-Year Financial Plan, the City has reduced the baseline deficit through Fiscal 2022 from
$745 million to $434 million — by 41.7% or $311 million. Since Fiscal 2013, Baltimore has implemented numerous reforms
aimed at achieving long-term fiscal sustainability. Some of these include lowering the effective property tax rate by 8.8%,
increasing revenue capital (PAYGO) spending first to $50 million and later to $80 million, and streamlining the workforce
by reducing the number of General Fund positions by 6.5%. As a result of strategic reforms, combined pension and OPEB
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unfunded liabilities shrank from $3.2 billion in Fiscal 2011 to $1.7 billion in Fiscal 2022, a reduction of 46.9% or $1.5
billion.

TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN

On February 20, 2013, the City released Change to Grow: A Ten-Year Financial Plan for Baltimore. This was the original
iteration of the City’s Ten-Year Plan, and the first of its kind. The Plan calls for comprehensive reforms to close what was
then a projected $745 million structural budget deficit, increase the City’s tax competitiveness, accelerate infrastructure
investment, and reduce the City’s long-term pension and health care liabilities.

Implementation of the Ten-Year Plan began in Fiscal 2013 with two key initiatives: 20 Cents by 2020 — a program to
reduce the effective property tax rate for owner-occupied properties — and health benefit changes for employees that were
projected to save the City $20 million annually.

In Fiscal 2014, the City implemented Ten-Year Plan initiatives to further reduce the fiscal gap, including pension changes
for current and future employees, a new schedule for firefighters, a revenue package, a State-mandated stormwater fee, a
reduction to the real property tax rate and the discontinuation of retiree pharmacy benefits.

The Fiscal 2015 budget reflected the implementation of more Ten-Year Plan initiatives, including reducing workers’
compensation payments, increasing parking revenues, reducing the size of the City’s workforce and the City’s fleet. In
addition to targeted savings initiatives, the City made several investments; these include increasing the contribution to the
budget stabilization reserve, increasing PAYGO capital funding, increasing general obligation debt authority, and
implementing a new pay schedule for professional employees to help with recruitment and retention.

In the Fiscal 2016 budget, key initiatives included an additional $9 million PAYGO capital contribution, beyond the $8
million baseline, and the elimination of 280 General Fund positions. In Fiscal 2016, the City also negotiated a new
Memorandum of Understanding with 14 non-profit institutions who will contribute a collective $6 million annually for ten
years beginning in Fiscal 2017.

In Fiscal 2017, the City continued to work towards implementing cost-savings initiatives identified under the Ten-Year
Plan. While the initiatives implemented through Fiscal 2016 had a meaningful impact on the original projected shortfall, a
significant structural budget gap remained. To continue addressing this long-term challenge, the Fiscal 2017 adopted
budget contains further cost-saving investments emphasizing blight elimination, street repaving, recreation center
expansion, and information technology upgrades.

In Fiscal 2018 the budget contained additional initiatives to improve the efficiency of government, further reduce the
property tax rate for homeowners, make much-needed infrastructure investments, and reduce the City’s long-term
liabilities. In Fiscal 2018, the City contributed $9 million beyond the $8 million baseline in PAYGO capital funding, plus
$12 million of additional funding for operating and capital projects to comply with the Department of Justice consent
decree for Police Department reforms. The Fiscal 2018 budget also transferred 54 positions out of the General Fund.

The Fiscal 2019 budget reflected baseline costs and unforeseen challenges that grew at a faster pace than projected revenue.
The adopted budget added 162 General Fund positions including 100 sworn Police Department positions. However, cost-
savings relating to personnel were also achieved, as total unfunded liabilities declined. The City also remained committed
to the 20 Cents by 2020 program, further reducing the effective property tax rate by 2.6 cents. This budget dedicated $8.3
million above baseline for a total of $25.3 million in PAYGO capital funding.

During Fiscal 2019, the City insured its strong fiscal footing by competitively awarding a contract to Ernst and Young
(EY) for the Ten-Year Plan refresh, which is expected to provide an assessment of infrastructure requirements, new savings
and revenue options, and a comprehensive look at the City’s overall tax policy. The City and EY have since worked
together designing strategies for further changes to health care benefits, reforms for the Fire and Police pension plans for
new hires, launching an employee wellness program, and building reserves to prepare for the next recession.

In Fiscal 2020, the budget introduced new measures in order to reduce the baseline deficit. By expanding the Taxi Tax to
include ride-sharing services and levying a grocery bag surcharge to incentivize shoppers to bring their own bags, it was
estimated that the City realized $4.0 million in additional revenues within the first year of implementation.

In Fiscal 2021, the City continued efforts to reduce the baseline deficit by downsizing the Police Mounted Unit and the
Police Marine unit to an “on-call” posture. Permanent sworn personnel assigned to these units were re-deployed. In addition
to these measures, the Police Department increased the rate charged for special events and secondary employment to ensure
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that the total charges covered the entire costs of Police officers and sergeants at these events. The initiatives led to an
estimated savings of $3.3 million in the first year of implementation.

In Fiscal 2022, the City introduced a corporate compliance unit to enforce the collection of self-reported taxes such as
parking, hotel, and beverage container taxes along with other revenue sources. One-time recoveries generated an estimated
$14.5 million within the initial years of implementation. Furthermore, the City audited owner-occupied properties receiving
the Targeted Homeowners Tax Credit to ensure the credit was properly granted during Fiscal 2022 and thereafter.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2023 ADOPTED BUDGET

The Fiscal 2023 Board of Estimates Budget Plan reflected the priorities of Mayor Brandon M. Scott. The Plan included a
ground-breaking new investment in City Schools, continued responses to COVID-19, and utilized federal recovery funds
for critical investments to make the City safer, healthier, cleaner, and more equitable. The Plan totaled $4.11 billion,
including $3.32 billion for operating expenses and $792.6 million for capital investment. The General Fund budget totaled
$2.15 billion, a 6.9% increase from the Fiscal 2022 Adopted Budget.

Budget Context

The Fiscal 2023 Adopted Budget Plan was developed in the context of a recovering COVID-19 economy, new State-
mandated education spending, and an infusion of federal recovery aid.

COVID-19 Economy

The City’s General Fund revenue outlook has stabilized, even amid some lingering economic uncertainty from COVID-
19 and the conflict in Ukraine. Property Tax revenues were projected to increase in Fiscal 2023 due to strong residential
market growth despite lost commercial value in the downtown area. Visitor and tourism-related revenues, such as Hotel
Tax, Parking Revenues, and Convention Center income, have already recovered to 74.8% of pre-COVID levels in Fiscal
2022 and continued recovery in Fiscal 2023. Income Tax receipts, which were disrupted during the early stages of the
pandemic, have largely been spared from long-term impact. One area of continuing concern is the impact of inflation,
which has increased the cost to the City for basics such as supplies, materials, and contracts by 4.6%.

Education Spending

In 2020, the Maryland General Assembly passed the Blueprint for Maryland’s Future, more commonly referred to as
Kirwan, which requires increased State and local contributions to school districts. The Governor vetoed the bill, but the
General Assembly overrode the veto in the 2021 session. In the Fiscal 2023, Baltimore City’s total operating support for
Baltimore City Public Schools was $332.8 million. The City anticipated to meet the local contribution requirement for
Fiscal 2023 through a combination of three factors: a recovering local economy, small trims to agency budgets, and new
Medicaid reimbursement in Emergency Medical Services (EMS), which will help offset existing General Fund costs.

Federal Aid

Federal aid provided a lifeline for the City through the first two years of the pandemic. Still, the focus in Fiscal 2023 was
shifting from the direct COVID-19 response to larger strategic investments. Federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and
Economic Security (CARES) Act funding expired in December 2021 and expenses subject to the Federal Emergency
Management Agency (FEMA) reimbursement were no longer budgeted in Fiscal 2022. The City focused on how to spend
best the $641 million of American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds. The first wave of strategic investments from ARPA
began in Fiscal 2022 and continued in Fiscal 2023, with projects focused on homeless services, housing, broadband
infrastructure, violence prevention, and capital improvements, among other areas.

Budget Plan
The Fiscal 2023 Adopted Budget Plan was built around the priority areas of Mayor Scott: Prioritizing Our Youth, Building
Public Safety, Clean and Healthy Communities, Equitable Neighborhood Development, and Responsible Stewardship of

City Resources. Collectively, these investments will begin to rebuild the public’s trust in local government to make progress
on the key issues facing Baltimore.
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Prioritizing Our Youth

The Adopted Budget Plan includes $563.3 million across all funding sources. Key highlights include:

The City will meet its first-year local share requirement for the new Kirwan legislation. The City’s total operating
contribution is $332.8 million. Kirwan is expected to improve student outcomes by expanding early education,
raising standards for teacher pay and training, and adding college and career readiness programs for high school
students.

Total support for Baltimore City Public Schools now exceeds $417.1 million. City funding supports City Schools’
operating costs, the 21st Century School Modernization Fund, teacher pension costs, retiree health benefits, school
health services, and crossing guards.

Baltimore City Recreation & Parks will utilize $41 million of ARPA funds for capital investments in recreation
centers, public pools, trails, playgrounds, and athletic fields and courts.

The Baltimore City Fire Department will roll out the Apprenticeship Maryland program, an internship opportunity
for high school students that will strengthen the career pipeline between local schools and the Department.

Building Public Safety

The Adopted Budget Plan includes $1.10 billion across all funding sources. Key highlights include:

The Mayor’s Office of Neighborhood Safety and Engagement (MONSE) will spend $20.7 million of ARPA funds
on a variety of crime-prevention programs, with a focus on the group violence reduction strategy (GVRS), re-
entry services, victim services, and youth and trauma services. The Baltimore Police Department will also add
nine positions to directly support MONSE’s GVRS work.

The Baltimore City Fire Department has received federal and State approval to enter the Emergency Services
Payment Program (ESPP), which will provide an estimated $40 million in annual reimbursement from Medicaid
for eligible ambulance transports. The funding will support existing EMS costs, as well as enable new EMS
initiatives and Fire Department infrastructure upgrades.

The Police Department will continue its recruitment and retention efforts with the support of new pay increases
and incentives that were negotiated in the latest contract with the Fraternal Order of Police. In Fiscal 2023, $15
million of new funding will support targeted pay increases, plus a variety of pay incentives for education, patrol
work, field training, and hard-to-fill shifts.

The Department of Transportation will roll out new speed cameras on 1-83 to improve safety and reduce accidents
on the highway. First year revenues are estimated at $34.7 million, with proceeds first covering program
administrative costs and remaining revenue dedicated solely to 1-83 improvements.

Clean and Healthy Communities

The Adopted Budget Plan includes $1.2 billion across all funding sources. Key highlights include:

The Baltimore City Health Department will leverage a $26.2 million investment from ARPA to continue the
response to COVID-19, which will help offset the expiring eligibility of other federal fund sources such as CARES
and FEMA. Funds will be used for vaccination efforts, testing, contact tracing, and personal protective equipment.

Fiscal 2023 will mark the first year of a $90 million investment of ARPA and U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development funds to combat homelessness in Baltimore. Funding will be used by the Mayor’s Office of
Homeless Services for rental assistance, case management services, and the addition of permanent supportive
housing options for those experiencing homelessness.
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e The Department of Planning will add a Resilience Planner position to support the new Sustainability Subcabinet.
The position will evaluate options for better preparing the community for extreme heat, flooding, and other
hazards.

Equitable Neighborhood Development
The Adopted Budget Plan includes $138.3 million across all funding sources. Key highlights include:

e The Office of Equity and Civil Rights will add two positions to develop equity training for City agencies and to
support agencies in meeting the requirements of the City’s Equity Assessment Program.

e  The Minority and Women’s Business Opportunity Office will add five positions to strengthen the City’s effort to
spend more contract dollars with Minority and Women-Owned Businesses. The new staff will register additional
vendors and increase compliance efforts on the City’s existing contracts.

e  The Department of Housing and Community Development will utilize a $100 million ARPA award to build new
affordable housing units, address vacant properties, and provide support for low-income renters and homeowners.

Responsible Stewardship of City Resources
The Adopted Budget Plan includes $232.9 million across all funding sources. Key highlights include:

e The Baltimore City Information Technology (BCIT) budget includes $13.7 million for the final phase of the
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) project. New systems for the general ledger and talent acquisition will be
added to complement the human resources and payroll systems that were implemented in Fiscal 2022. These new
integrated systems will reduce manual data entry and improve employees’ access to real-time financial
information.

e BCIT will add five new cyber-security positions to monitor and implement software security patches and to
identify and fix outstanding system vulnerabilities.

e  The City will continue to identify savings from the post-COVID work environment. The Department of General
Services will purchase a new energy management software system, to better track and identify savings
opportunities from buildings that have been partially vacated due to work-from-home policies.

Fiscal Risks

Despite a stabilizing economic environment, the City continued facing some fiscal risks that will require additional
resources soon:

Inflation: The City is experiencing higher prices on purchases of materials, supplies, and contracts because of COVID-
related supply chain disruptions and the conflict in Ukraine. The City is also likely to see growing pressure on wages if
inflationary trends continue.

Reduction in COVID-related Funds: The City received federal aid in the amount of $641.2 million from the American
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA). This source of revenue has allowed the City to make strategic investments for the continued
pandemic response and pandemic recovery. ARPA funds must be obligated by December 31, 2024, and fully spent by
December 31, 2025. Many operating programs receiving ARPA funds included program evaluation that will be used to
help inform decisions about maintain these programs.

Convention Center Hotel: The City’s Convention Center Hotel (Hilton) was financed with $300 million of tax-exempt
bonds in 2006. The repayment of debt was expected to be covered by hotel operational revenue, and Hotel Tax, and
Property Tax generated by the Convention Center Hotel itself. The hotel is still struggling to recover from the impact of
COVID-19, which has resulted in a shortfall in resources required to make debt service payments. Per the original bond
agreement, the City is required to divert up to $7 million of General Fund Hotel Tax revenue to fill the gap if necessary.
The Fiscal 2023 budget includes this full $7 million requirement. This requirement will remain in the budget until the hotel
and convention industry fully recovers, diverting scarce General Fund resources away from other pressing priorities.
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Kirwan Education Funding: Fiscal 2023 was the first year of funding City Schools through updated funding formulas
established by the Kirwan Commission. State and Local share amounts were established by the State of Maryland through
legislation rather than utilizing funding formulas. Based on this allocation, the City’s local share increased by $49.7 million.
The City funded this increase through additional EMS revenue. The City’s local share for schools will continue to grow
over the next ten years.

Police Legal Liability: The City continues to face Gun Trace Task Force (GTTF) litigation. Viable GTTF cases are now
much fewer in number after some cases were settled in 2020 and 2021. However, the remaining cases generally involve
more serious allegations that GTTF misconduct contributed to the plaintiff’s wrongful conviction and, therefore, tend to
carry significant liability risk.
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Certified Public
Accountants &
SBC Business Advisors

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Mayor, City Council, and Board of Estimates
City of Baltimore, Maryland

Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, combining
statement of fiduciary net position — Pension and OPEB Trust funds, and the combining statement of changes in
fiduciary net position — Pension and OPEB Trust funds of the City of Baltimore, Maryland (the City) as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the accompanying financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund
information, combining statement of fiduciary net position — Pension and OPEB Trust Funds, and the combining
statement of changes in fiduciary net position — Pension and OPEB Trust Funds of the City as of June 30, 2023, and
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We did not audit the Employee’ Retirement System, the Elected Officials Retirements System, and the Fire and Police
Employees’ Retirement System. These funds represent 86% of the total assets, 85% of the net position, and 81% of
the additions of the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds. We also did not audit the Baltimore City Public School System
(School System) and Baltimore Hotel Corporation, which are both discreetly presented component units. The financial
statements of Baltimore City Public School System, Baltimore Hotel Corporation and certain of the Pension and OPEB
Trust Funds were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us. Our opinions, insofar as they
relate to the amounts included for the Baltimore City Public School System, Baltimore Hotel Corporation and certain
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds are based on the reports of the other auditors.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for
twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
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Certified Public
Accountants &
SBC Business Advisors
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified
during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis, Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances, and Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and
Actual- Budgetary Basis — General Fund, Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances, and Changes in
Fund Balance — Budget and Actual- Budgetary Basis — Grants Fund, Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of
Net Pension Liability: Employees’ Retirement System Plan, Schedule of Employer Contributions: Employees
Retirement System Plan, Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability: Maryland State
Retirement and Pension System — ERPS, Schedule of Employer Contributions: Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System-ERPS, Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability: Maryland State
Retirement and Pension System — LEOPS, Schedule of Employer Contributions: Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System — LEOPS, Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios: Fire and Police
Employees’ Retirement System - Single Employer Plan, Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and
Related Ratios: Elected Officials’ Retirement System - Single Employer Plan; Schedule of Employer Contributions —
Single Employer Plans, Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios — OPEB Plan; Schedule of
the City’s Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability, Schedule of Employer Contributions — Total OPEB Plan; and
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information on pages 97-104 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual fund financial statements is the responsibility of management and was derived from
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial statements is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises
the introductory and statistical sections, but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express an
opinion or any form of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and
the financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to
describe it in our report.

Adjustments to Discretely Presented Component Unit Financial Statements Audited by Other Auditors

As part of our audit of the City’s 2023 financial statements, we also audited the adjustments described in Note 21 that
were applied to adjust the financial statements of the Baltimore City Public School System (the School System), a
discretely presented component unit of the City, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, including the restatement of
certain 2023 financial statements' beginning balances in the accompanying financial statements In our opinion, such
adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any
procedures to the 2023 financial statements of the School System other than with respect to the adjustments, and
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2023 financial statements of the
School System as a whole.

Owings Mills, Maryland )j ¥
April 12, 2024 B L
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

This section of the City of Baltimore’s (City) Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) presents a narrative
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. We encourage readers
to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter
of transmittal.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the
close of fiscal year 2023 by $4.0 billion (net position). This amount includes $970.7 million (restricted net position) and is
net of an unrestricted deficit of $2.7 billion. During the fiscal year, the City’s total net position decreased by $193.3 million.

As of June 30, 2023, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1.1 billion. At the close
of the fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $320.9 million.

The City’s governmental total long-term obligations increased by $33.7 million, during fiscal year 2023.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires the utilization of dual focus financial
reporting. The purpose of this overview is to provide the reader with an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements
prepared under these reporting requirements.

The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components:

(1) Government-wide financial statements,
(2) Fund financial statements, and
(3) Notes to the basic financial statements.

The report also contains required and other supplementary information including notes to the Required Supplementary
Information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Measurement focus refers to what is measured and reported in a fund’s operating statement while basis of accounting
determines when a transaction or event is recognized in these funds. Under the accrual basis of accounting, most
transactions are recorded when they occur, regardless of when cash is received or disbursed. Under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, revenues and other financial resources are recognized when they become susceptible to accrual; that
is, when they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Expenditures are
recognized when the fund liability is incurred with certain exceptions.

Financial Report Layout and Structure

The total economic resources focus is intended to determine if a fund is better or worse off economically as a result of
events and transactions of the period. This focus utilizes the accrual basis of accounting to record events and transactions
that improve (revenues or gains) or diminish (expenses or losses) a fund’s economic position. It is the focus used by
businesses.

The current financial resources focus is intended to determine if there are more or less resources that can be spent in the
near future as a result of events and transactions of the period. This focus utilizes the modified accrual basis of accounting
to record increases (revenues or other financing sources) or decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in a fund’s
spendable resources. For most state and local governments, this focus is their legally mandated accounting method and
with the incorporation of encumbrances (spending commitments), the one utilized to determine adherence to budgetary
requirements.
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Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances,
in a manner similar to a private-sector business. This section contains the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities.

The Statement of Net Position is the difference between assets plus deferred outflow of resources and liabilities plus
deferred liabilities inflows of resources, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether or not the financial position of the City is improving
or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal
year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless
of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will
only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods, such as, revenues pertaining to uncollected taxes and expenses pertaining
to earned, but unused, vacation and sick leave.

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all, or a
significant portion, of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of
the City include general government, public safety and regulation, conservation of health, social services, education, public
library, recreation and culture, highway and streets, sanitation and waste removal, public service, economic development,
and interest expenses. The business-type activities of the City include water, sewer and stormwater utilities, parking
facilities and several other fees supported activities.

The government-wide financial statements include, not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but also
the legally separate activities of the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation. Summary
financial information for these component units are reported separately from the financial information presented for the
primary government itself. The Baltimore City Public School System prepared its own financial statements, which are also
prepared in conformity with governmental accounting and audited. The Baltimore Hotel Corporation prepared its own
financial statements in conformity with not for profit accounting and audited.



Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements are designed to report information about groupings of related accounts which are used to
maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into the following three categories: governmental funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements, i.e., most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds. These
statements, however, focus on: (1) how cash and other financial assets can readily be converted to available resources and
(2) the balance left at year-end that are available for spending. Such information may be useful in determining what
financial resources are available in the near future to finance the City’s programs. Because the focus of governmental funds
is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for
governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City’s near term financing decisions.
Both the governmental fund Balance Sheet and the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental
activities.

The City maintains several major governmental funds (general, grants revenue, and capital projects). Information is
presented separately in the governmental fund Balance Sheet and in the governmental fund Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for theses major funds. Data from the remaining governmental funds are
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of the non-major governmental funds is
provided in the form of combining statements as presented in supplementary information herein.

Proprietary funds

Proprietary funds are generally used to account for services for which the City charges customers -- either outside
customers, or internal units or departments of the City. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from
non-operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the
fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City’s enterprise and internal service fund are
charges for customer services including water, sewer, stormwater, parking fees, commercial and industrial rents, printing
services, vehicle maintenance fees, telecommunication, central post office fees, energy conservation and building
maintenance. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses. Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as shown in the government-
wide financial statements.

The City maintains the following two types of proprietary funds:

e Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-
wide financial statements. Enterprise funds are used to account for the operation of the City’s business-type
activities and include water, sewer and stormwater, utilities, and parking facilities, all of which are considered to
be major funds of the City, and several other non-major fee supported activities.

o Internal Service funds are used to report activities that provide supplies and service for certain City programs and
activities. The City uses internal service funds to account for its fleet of vehicles, printing and mail services,
telecommunications services, energy conservation and building maintenance. Because these services
predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. The internal service funds are combined
into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the
internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.



Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary funds are used to report net position held in a trust or agency capacity for others. These resources cannot be used
to support the City’s own programs and are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements. The City’s fiduciary
funds are comprised of pension trust, OPEB trust and custodial funds.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report presents certain required supplementary
information such as the general fund budgetary basis financial statement, the Retirement System’s changes in net pension
liability and investment return ratios, and the City’s progress in funding its other postemployment benefits obligation.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Primary Government)

The City’s financial statements were prepared in conformity with the reporting model required by Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) — for State and Local Governments. The report includes prior fiscal year results for the purpose of providing
comparative information for the MD&A.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Net Position-Summary
For fiscal year 2023 and 2022

(BExpressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Current and Other @SSEts ...........ooiuiuiiiiitiiiiiii e $ 2504502 $ 2460671 $ 1,742,757 $ 1,732,785 $ 4,247,259 $ 4,193,456
Capital assets, net...... .. 3,090,230 3,164,486 6,317,940 6,142,476 9,408,170 9,306,962
Total assets ........... 5,594,732 5,625,157 8,060,697 7,875,261 13,655,429 13,500,418
Deferred outflows of resources...... 502,020 457,839 138,654 158,819 640,674 616,658

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources.
Long-term liabilities outstanding.....................oe.

6,096,752 6,082,996 8,199,351 8,034,080 14,296,103 14,117,076
1,577,659 1,547,949 3,235,043 3,270,779 4,812,702 4,818,728

Other liabilities....................... . 4,397,133 3,728,209 487,998 430,828 4,885,131 4,159,037
Total HaBItIES .. .oevuiieitiet ittt et e et 5,974,792 5,276,158 3,723,041 3,701,607 9,697,833 8,977,765

Deferred iINflOws Of TESOUICES ... iitiniiit et ee e et e e ee e ee e ee e ee e e 567,537 940,861 43,905 32,639 611,442 973,500
Total liabilities and deferred inflows ofresources...............c.ccouvvnnnn. 6,542,329 6,217,019 3,766,946 3,734,246 10,309,275 9,951,265

Net position:

Net investment in capital aSSEetS ...........ocouiiiiiiiitiiiiiiiiiiiii e 2,212,781 2,619,065 3,510,817 3,393,693 5,723,598 6,012,758

Restricted........cooeveiiiiiiiuenns 607,148 548,272 363,595 292,386 970,743 840,658

Unrestricted................ (3,265,506) (3,301,360) 557,993 613,755 (2,707,513) (2,687,605)

Total net position . $  (445577) $ (134,023) $ 4432405 $ 4299834 $ 3986828 $ 4,165811

Analysis of Statement of Net Position-Summary

Total assets and deferred outflows increased by $179.0 million in fiscal year 2023. The increase is driven by an increase
in capital assets, net of $101.2 million, an increase of $53.8 million in current and other assets, and an increase in deferred
outflows of $24.0 million. Total liabilities and deferred inflows increased by $358.0 million in fiscal year 2023. This
increase is driven by a decrease in long-term liabilities of $6.0 million, an increase of $726.1 million in other liabilities,
offset by a decrease of $362.1 million in deferred inflows.

As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of the City’s financial position. For the City, assets and
deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $4.0 billion at the close of fiscal
year 2023. The City’s net position includes its investment of $5.7 billion in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, and
equipment); less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided
from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be liquidated for these liabilities. An additional portion of
the City’s net position, $971.0 million, represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be
used. The remaining balance is a deficit in unrestricted net position of $2.7 billion.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Net Position
For the fiscal years 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges fOr SEIVICES +.vvvvvvevrevrerieieeiesie e $ 104068 $ 103576 $ 675606 $ 687637 $ 779674 § 791,213
Operating grants and contributions .................cocerrveennrenn. 603,774 453,220 603,774 453,220
Capital grants and contributions ................ccveevrerveenrennns 39,217 43478 103,471 16,230 142,688 59,708
General revenues:
PLOPEIEY TAXES vt re et erve e 1,056,930 1,034,569 1,056,930 1,034,569
INCOME tAXES ... 455,975 449,876 455,975 449 876
State Shared TEVENUE ..........eeevereeeeereeeieieeecceieeeeeee 205,090 190,226 205,090 190,226
Transfer and recordation tax ............oocovvvvvviviiiiiiiiieeeeeeen, 139,357 182,944 139,357 182,944
Electric and gas taX ............covvvvieiiienieiieeie e 21,636 55,671 21,636 55,671
TelecomMmUNICAtions taX .............covvreervreenireesiieeennenen 30,843 34,713 30,843 34,713
ADMISSION ..., 8,069 7141 8,069 7141
OthET ... 180,404 124,071 180,404 124,071
TOtal TEVENUES ..o 2,845363 2,679,485 779,077 703,867 3,624,440 3,383,352
Expenses:
General GOVEINMENE ..........cvveeeiireeiiireeeiieeeeiiieeeieee e 643,985 680,482 643,985 680,482
Public safety and regulation ................occoevierveeiinieeienenn, 884,812 495,295 884,812 495,295
Conservation of health .................cccooiiiiiii 223,809 102,496 223,809 102,496
SOCTAL SEIVICES +..vvvvvvevvieeire et eiee et 71,198 46,078 71,198 46,078
BAUCAtion ........c.oooiviiieieei e 663,354 415,151 663,354 415,151
PUBLC TIIAIY ..ot 48,600 47 844 48,600 47 844
Recreation and Culture .............ccooeeeveveiieiiiiiiiiiiicies 81,437 57,420 81,437 57,420
Highways and Streets ............ocvvevierieriarieiieieeieieeians 227,609 109,502 227,609 109,502
Sanitation and waste removal ..................oeeeviiiiiiiiiiiinnnns 120,261 96,363 120,261 96,363
PUDLIC SEIVICE ..o 32,060 749 32,060 749
Economic development ..............cccevvieiiiieiieiiiiiieiiens 166,988 133,416 166,988 133,416
TOEETESE vttt ettt 35,000 25,705 35,000 25,705
WAET ..o 226,707 197,622 226,707 197,622
WASEEWALET .......vveeeeeceieceee e 331,684 275,487 331,684 275,487
SEOITWALET ... 20,309 39,556 20,309 39,556
Parking ......oovveevieiiiiiie e 13,092 7,693 13,092 7,693
NONMAJOT PrOPIICLATY ...ttt 12518 22,717 12518 22,717
TOtal EXPEISES ....vvvvvreeveerrerreerre et 3,199,113 2,210,501 604,310 543,075 3,803,423 2,753,576
Increase in net assets before transfer .........cccvvveevvivvveenn, (353,750) 468,984 174,767 160,792 (178,983) 629,776
Transfer:
Transfer in (OUL) .evveveeveeieiieee e 42,196 43,045 (42,196) (43,045)
Change in NEt POSTHON ......vveeveeevieereicei et (311,554) 512,029 132,571 117,747 (178,983) 629,776
Net position - BEZINMING ........eovveverireieeiiieeieie e (134,023)  (646,052) 4,299,834 4182087 4165811  3536,035

Net position - ending ......

$ (445577) $ (134,023) $4432405 $4209834 $3986828 $ 4165811
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Analysis of Changes in Net Position

The overall decrease in the City’s net position amounted to $193.3 million during fiscal year 2023. This change is explained
in the government and business-type activities discussion below.

Expenses and Program Revenues — Governmental Activities (expressed in thousands)

$1,000,000
$900,000
$800,000
$700,000
$600,000
$500,000
$400,000
$300,000
$200,000
$100,000
. = W
i General Public Safety Conservation Social N Public Recreation Highways Sanitation Public Economic
Government Regir;gtion of Health Service Education Library and Culture and Streets aagrzgssatle Service Development Interest
l. Expense $645,377 $895,455 $224,625 $224,625 $663,354 $48,767 $81,668 $227,955 $120,608 $32,150 $167,218 $35,000
[l Program Revenue 154,644 99,626 163,258 45,163 (0] 24371 7,349 64,432 15,491 18,197 154,528 (o]
Revenues By Source — Governmental Activities
Capital Grants and 60 t;:ﬁ,};

Contributions
1.38%

Operating Grants and Property
Contributions Taxes
21.22% 37.15%

Charges for Services

3.66% Income Taxes
State Shared Tax 16.03%
Revenue
7.21% Other Taxes
7.02%
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Governmental Activities

During the current fiscal year, expense related to governmental activities amounted to $3.2 billion; this is more than
revenues by $368.0 million, before transfers in of $42.2 million. Total revenue of $2.8 billion is comprised of program
revenues totaling $747.1 million, which is 26.3% of total revenue. Program revenues are the principal source of funding
for the City’s general government, health, and economic development activities. Other major activities including public
safety and regulation, as well as the highways and streets program, are primarily supported by general revenues. A more
detailed analysis of the governmental activities is discussed in the “Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds” section.

During fiscal year 2023, governmental revenues increased by $165.9 million.

Governmental expenses increased by $1.0 billion during fiscal year 2023. The increase is primarily attributable to increases
in public safety and regulation ($400.2M), conservation of health ($122.1M), education ($248.2M), and highways and
streets ($118.5M) activities.

Expenses and Program Revenues — Business-type Activities (expressed in thousands)

$350,000 1
$300,000 1
$250,000 1
$200,000 1
$150,000 1

$100,000

$50,000 1

Water Wastewater Stormwater Parking Nonmajor

Proprietary
B Expenses $226,707 $331,684 $20,309 $13,092 $12,518
B Charges for Services 232,752 304,453 37,163 60,104 41,134

Business-type Activities

Business-type activities are presented after adjustments to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related
to enterprise funds. Charges for services represent the principal revenue source for the City’s business-type activities.
During the current fiscal year, revenue from business-type activities totaled $779.1 million. Expenses for these activities
totaled $604.3 million, income earned of $174.8 million and net transfer out of $42.2 million which resulted in an increase
in net position of $132.6 million.

Operating revenues decreased by $12.0 million in fiscal year 2023 for business-type activities. Capital assets increased by
$175.5 million in the business-type activities primarily as a result of the utilities funds’ effort to build environmentally
sound facilities.

The City implemented a new Water and Stormwater billing system during fiscal year 2017. Several upgrades to the
software have occurred and process improvements continue to be developed. At year end, the City estimated billings to
account for full year of revenue.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of
resources that are available for spending. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements. In
particular, an unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s net resources available for spending at
the end of the fiscal year. Types of major governmental funds reported by the City include the general fund, grants revenue
fund, and capital projects fund. Data from the remaining governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation as other nonmajor funds.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Comparative Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Gowvernmental Funds
For the Fiscal Years 2023 and 2022
(BExpressed in Thousands)

Variance
2023 2022 Amount

Revenues:

General fund:
PrOPEILY tAXES ..viuiiniiniinieeie e e e e e e e ee e, B 1111172 6 1,021,365 $ 89,807
TNCOME LAXES . oeiei ittt ettt e e 450,067 491,092 (41,025)
OtheT 10CAL = LAXES .. ev v eee ettt e e e e e e e e et 181,121 308,133 (127,012)

Totallocal taxes ............cooiiiiiiiiiiii 1,742,360 1,820,590 (78,230)

Licenses and permits.. 25,610 27,391 (1,781)
Interest, rentals, and other investment income . 64,164 21,808 42,356
Intergovernmental Grants ...........co.oveieiutiitorsienieeeeeeeenie et eeeeenee e eana s, 132,434 159,779 (27,345)
Other .. .. 268,854 257,856 10,998

Total revenues general fund 2,233,422 2,287,424 (54,002)

Other governmental funds:
Grants 1evenue FUNA .. ...t e e e e e 447,021 281,944 165,077
Capital projects fUnd .........o.oiiiiior e e e e 53,613 57,369 (3,756)
Other funds ................ ... 80,691 74,300 6,391

Total revenues other govemmental funds e, 581,325 413,613 167,712

Total revenues all governmental funds ..............oooooiiiiiiiii . 2,814,747 2,701,037 113,710

BExpenditures:

General fund:
General GOVEIMMENT . ...oouuutiit ettt ettt et e ettt e ee et 435,450 433,325 2,125
Public safety and regulation .............ocooeiiiiiiiii e 745,296 867,723 (122,427)
Conservation of health .. ... 58,239 63,706 (5,467)
SOCIAL SEIVICES .. vttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e et e 19,944 5,778 14,166
BAUCAtION .. .oeit e e e e e e 336,714 282,743 53,971
PUDBHC TIDTALY .. oie ittt et et e et et et e et e e e e e 30,946 27,282 3,664
Recreation and CUMLUTE ...ttt e e e e e ee 63,368 50,672 12,696
Highways and StreetS .........c.oiioitiiiitit ettt e ee et ee e et e aeeee e 146,889 147,151 (262)
Sanitation and waste 1emOVal ... ..ottt 109,558 95,638 13,920
Public service . 16,025 29,676 (13,651)
Economic development 53,447 73,146 (19,699)
Debt service . .. 108,315 93,994 14,321

Total expendltures —general fund 2,124,191 2,170,834 (46,643)

Other governmental funds:
Grants revenue TUNA ...t e 475,112 329,217 145,895
Capital projects fund ..ot e 177,426 161,181 16,245
Other funds ............... 57,374 41,074 16,300

Total expendrtures other govemmental ﬁJnds e 709,912 531,472 178,440

Total expenditures all governmental funds ...................ooo L. 2,834,103 2,702,306 131,797

Excess of expenditures OVer ITEVENUE ......e.uetureernieieeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeneeaees (19,356) (1,269) (18,087)

Other financing sources:

TransS ers M .. .c..o. e e 165,758 111,468 54,290

TrANSTEIS OUL . .uutet ettt et et et et et et e e et e e et e e e ee et e eeeaaenae e (123,562) (68,423) (55,139)

Proceeds fromleases e 3,524

Proceeds fromsubscrlptlon 1ssued (SBITA) 7,348

Capital Projects Fund:
Premium on general obligation bonds .............. 7,797 7,797
Face value of funding and refunding general obhgatlon bonds........ 101,710 101,710
Issuance of debt . 17,927 (17,927)

Total other ﬁnancmg sources . 162,575 60,972 90,731

Net changesmﬁJndbalances 143,219 59,703 83,516
Fund balances - beginning...........oooiuiiiitiiiii i 981,603 921,900 59,703

Fund balances - €nding .............oieoiuiininiieie i ee e . $ 1124822 $ 981,603 $ 143,219
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Revenues for governmental functions overall totaled approximately $2.8 billion in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023,
which represents an increase of 4.2% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. Expenditures for governmental functions,
totaling $2.8 billion, increased by approximately 4.8% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. In the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2023, expenditures for governmental functions exceeded revenue by $19.4 million.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. Revenue in the General Fund decreased by $54.0 million as
compared to fiscal year 2022. The total expenditures for the General Fund decreased by $46.6 million, or 2.1%, compared
to fiscal year 2022.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $320.9 million, while total fund
balance was $943.2 million. The fund balance in the City’s General Fund increased by $75.9 million during the fiscal year,
which was caused by a financing use of $33.3 million (net transfer out), proceeds from leases, subscription based
information technology arrangements, general obligation bonds offset by revenue exceeding expenditures by $109.2
million. The Capital Fund has an assigned and restricted fund balance of $78.3 million, an increase of $50.0 million over
prior year. This increase was primarily caused by revenue exceeding expenses by $123.8, offset by a financing source of
$173.4 million (transfer in and general obligation bonds).

The Grants Revenue Fund is used to account for the spending of various Federal, State, and private grants and special
purpose funds. Most of these grants are funded on an expenditure reimbursement basis. Should any portion of the grant’s
receivable be determined uncollectable, the balance may be written off against the General Fund. The Grants Revenue
Fund had no fund balance as of year end. The General Fund transferred $28.7 million to the Grants Revenue Fund, to
absorb the current year grant fund deficit.

Proprietary Funds

The City’s business-type activities prior to allocation of internal service fund activities are comprised of the funds listed
below. The nonmajor funds include the Conduit Fund.

(Expressed in Thousands)

Water, Wastewater and
Stormwater Utility Funds  Parking Facility Fund ~ Nonmajor Other Funds
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

OPETALiNG TEVENUES ... vvvveeveere e e e 9 074,308 § 594293 § 60,204 § 56537 $ 41134 § 36807
OpErating EXPEMSES ... vvvvvvevireeerieeeesirreesirsessirseeessseeenrsesenrses e 521,183 413559 8,278 6,622 12,407 13 445
Operating iNCOME .......evvvee e 53185 180,734 51,826 49,915 28,721 23,362
Non operating revenues (expenses), capital

contribution, and tranSTers ...........cc.oevrierieieiiiceens 69872  (77,345) (47072)  (44,116)  (19520) (9,097)
Change in net POSIION ............oeeeirorrorreerirriiinivieeee. 3 123055 $ 103389 § 4754 § 5799 § 9207 § 14271

As discussed in the Business-type activities section the Utilities fund experienced an operating revenue decrease in fiscal
year 2023. The decrease is attributable to catch up billings made in fiscal year 2022 that were not required in fiscal year
2023.
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General Fund budgetary highlights

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Budgetary Basis - General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Variance with  Variance with
Original Budget Final Budget

Original Final Positive Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative) (Negative)
TOTALTEVEIIUES ... cvve e et $ 2109700 $ 2149388 $ 2230933 $ 121233 $ 81545
BExpenditures and encumbrances:
General GOVEIMIMENL. .......c.uuvivtieeieiiereec sttt s 355,333 361,321 573,994 (218,661) (212,673)
Public safety and regulation...............ooovviiiiininiiii s 825,860 845,060 762,881 62,979 82,179
Conservation of health.................... 55,985 68,285 81,658 (25,673) (13373)
SOCIAL SEIVICES ... vvvie e evvi ettt et et e s 6,748 6,748 742 6,006 6,006
BAUCALION. ... vt eeee et 346,940 346,940 336,678 10,262 10,262
PUBHC DIATY ..o 32,438 32438 31,904 534 534
Recreation and Culture. .............cooeeeevvieeeeieviiiie e 66,841 66,841 63,074 3,767 3,767
Highways and StIEEts. ............eerevmiriiaeiiiriee et 136,727 136,727 189,266 (52,539) (52,539)
Sanitation and waste TemOVaL..........ceeovveee oo 97,489 99,389 116,206 (18,717) (16,817)
PUDHC SEIVICE. . vt ev vttt e 2437 42431 34,098 8,339 8,339
Economic developiment. . .......c...eveeeeirieiereneniiieeee e s 95,174 95,474 66,171 29,003 29,303
Total expenditures and encumbrances...............c.vcveeerereerenns 2,061,972 2,101,660 2,256,672 $ (194,700) $ (155,012)
Bxcess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures
AN ENCUMDIANCES ... evvve v eee e 47,728 47,728 (25,739)
Other Financing uses:
TIANSTEIS Ittt ettt e 15,250 15,250 41,003
TEANSTELS OUL..ovvvvvive ettt ettt st (120,541 (110,541) (113,624)
Total other finaNCING USES........ceeveverirriririirrireere e (95,291) (95,291) (72,621)
Net changes in fund balances..............cooovvicvivirnnnn. (47,563) (47,563) (98,360)
Fund balances ---- beginning . 1,397,471 1,397,471 1,397,471
Fund balances —-- ending............cocoveieeriiireiniiieieiiicee e $ 1349908 $§ 1349908 $ 1299111

The City’s final budget differs from the original budget in that it contains carry-forward appropriations for various
programs and projects, and supplemental appropriations approved after adoption, and during the fiscal year. During fiscal
year 2023, supplemental appropriations totaling $39.7 million were approved for the general fund, all of which were
approved from prior year surplus or from unexpected increases in revenues sources. Actual expenditures for the year were
more than the original budget by $194.7 million and were $155.0 million higher than adjusted appropriations. This amount
was primarily related to the governmental activities: higher than budgeted costs for general government operations
amounted to $212.7 million; lower than budgeted costs for public safety and regulation amounted to $82.2 million; higher
than budgeted costs for conservation of health to $13.4 million; lower than budgeted costs for education amounted to $10.3
million; higher than budgeted costs for highway and streets amounted to $52.6 million; higher than budgeted costs for
sanitation and waste removal amounted to $16.8 million; and lower than budgeted costs for economic development
amounted to $29.3 million.

On a budgetary basis, revenues for fiscal year 2023 totaled $2.2 billion and expenditures and transfers totaled $2.3 billion.

The excess of expenditures and transfers over revenues resulted in a budgetary basis fund balance as of June 30, 2023, of
$1.3 billion, a decrease of $88.4 million in the fund balance.
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Capital Assets

The City’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 2023, amounted to $9.4 billion
(net of accumulated depreciation). Capital assets include land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment,
park facilities, roads, streets, bridges, and library books. The total increase in the City’s net capital assets for the current
fiscal year was increase 1.09% (-2.35% decrease for governmental activities and a 2.86% increase for business-type
activities) as shown in the table below.

Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation
For the Fiscal Years 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Thousands)

CGovernmental activities Business-type activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Land and other .........c.cooeeiiieiiiivieeiieeeeciieeeeee. $ 358442 361,300 3 36920 $ 36920 $ 395362 $ 398220
Building and improvements ..............coocveeeeineiinennnen. 915,297 938,023 3,356,542 3449863 4,271,839 4,387,886
EQUIPINENT + .t 80,770 94,105 149,757 156,534 230,527 250,639
InfrastruCture ......c.veveevvvvieeiesveiie e e e, 1,502,840 1,448,453 2,112,812 2,066,776 3,615,652 3,515,234
Library BOOKS .....uoveeieiieiiee e 6,244 6,885 6,244 6,885
Construction in Progress .........eeuveereeenennreneereeeneenanns 181,307 274,237 661,909 432,383 843,216 706,620
Right-to-use leased ..........vviviiiiniiniiiiei e 37,215 41,478 37,215 41,478
..... 8,115 8,115

... $3090,230 $ 3164486 $ 6,317,940 $ 6,142476 $ 9408170 $ 9,306,962

See Note 5 " Capital Assets” in the Notes to Basic Financial Statements for additional information.

Debt Administration

As of June 30, 2023, the City had total long-term obligations outstanding of $4.0 billion. Of this amount, $547.1 million
was general obligation bonds backed by the full faith and credit of the City, $321.6 million was revenue bonds for
governmental activity at the Convention Center, the Convention Center Hotel, and transportation bonds, and $3.1 billion
was revenue bonds related to commercial business activity. The remainder includes revenue bonds and other obligations
of City business and governmental activities.

During fiscal year 2023, the City sold $78.1 million in revenue bonds.

The ratio of net general obligation bonded debt to taxable valuation and the amount of bonded debt per capita are useful
indicators of the City’s debt position for management, citizens, and investors. A comparison of these indicators follows:

FY 2023 FY 2022
Net general bonded debt (expressed in thousands) .........c.ccocceeiveieiieieiiiiieiieiiieiieeeenn.. $ 547,055 $ 544,759
Ratio of net general bonded debt to net assessed Value ...........ccoeeiiiiiniieiiiiiiiiiiicieie e, 1.21% 1.23%

See note 7 "Long-term Obligations™ in the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements foradditional info rmation.

As of June 30, 2023, the City had $547.1 million in authorized, outstanding property tax-supported general obligation
bonds. There are an additional $402.0 million in bonds that are authorized, but unissued.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates

The fiscal year 2024 budget submitted by the Board of Estimates to the Baltimore City Council proposed total
appropriations of $4,359,079,000 of which $2,218,448,000 were for General Fund operations and Pay-As-You-Go
(PAYGO) capital. The City Council, after deliberations pursuant to Charter requirements and powers, made no reductions
to the total General Fund or other fund appropriations. The property tax rates on real property and personal property
remained at $2.248 and $5.62 per $100 of assessed valuation, respectively. The locally imposed and State mandated income
tax rate was 3.2%. The Ordinance of Estimates was adopted by the City Council and signed by the Mayor on June 20,
2023.
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Fiscal 2024 Budget — Economic Factors
Summary

Economic activity within the City of Baltimore has returned to new-normal levels following the devastating impact of the
COVID-19 Pandemic that began more than three years ago. Many economic indicators, including the unemployment rate
and the Gross Domestic Product (GDP), show signs of recovery, even superseding pre-pandemic signs of a healthy
economy.

In the review of the significant economic, social, and operational events that affected the Fiscal 2023 Budget, the following
are the relevant areas impacting last year and will continue influencing the City's financial future.

Labor Market

The City's labor market has made great strides in recovering from the impact of COVID-19. The hardships imposed by the
pandemic undoubtedly affected service-related industries within the City. However, as the economic activity improved and
demand for workers increased, the City saw a reduction of its unemployment rate from 4.5% in July 2022 to 2.3% as of
June 2023, the lowest City unemployment rate on record. Furthermore, the labor force experienced growth during the fiscal
year as 4,580 individuals were added to the labor market over the course of Fiscal 2023. These factors indicate that the
City's labor market is strengthening.

Residential Real Estate

The real estate market began to stabilize into Fiscal 2023 after an extraordinary year of activity. The average sales price
for residential real estate in the City increased by 0.7% compared to the prior year, from $250,740 to $252,419. The number
of days passed for a listed property to close rose from 30 days in Fiscal 2022 to 34 days on average in Fiscal 2023; however,
this is still 20 days lower than the average 54 days on the market before the pandemic.

Favorable housing market conditions that included low interest rates, an abundant supply of housing, and more disposable
income led to increased activity levels across the City during Fiscal 2022. However, as interest rates rose and demand for
mortgages slowed, the number of units sold decreased by 2,305, from 9,134 in Fiscal 2022 to 6,829 during Fiscal 2023.
This activity level was still higher than the average of 6,309 units sold in 2019 before the pandemic. The impact of the
housing market's success has led to increases in key revenue sources, namely transfer and recordation taxes. Overall, the
City received substantial revenues from these taxes, surpassing $140.2 million for the fiscal year. While not an increase
from the prior year, the City still realized a surplus of $50.1 million from these taxes.

The Department of Finance anticipates the housing market will continue stabilizing in Fiscal 2024
Earnings on Investments

Historically, investment earnings have brought limited revenues to the City's budget. However, as the Federal Reserve
utilizes interest rate as its monetary tool to control inflation, the City's earnings have begun to materialize higher profits
from its short-term cash investment. Initial projections for Fiscal Year 2023 indicated that investment earnings would bring
in an estimated $990,000. Yet the preliminary year-end indicates proceeds from these investments are anticipated to reach
$37.8 million in returns for Fiscal 2023. There is potential that earnings on investments will surpass expectations into the
next fiscal year as the Federal Reserve has announced keeping interest rates at the same levels to continue combating
inflation. This policy may lead to more earnings on investment revenues being generated, but it may continue impacting
real estate transactions.

Tourism and Hospitality
Tourism in the City has been slowly rebounding since the onset of the pandemic. The average occupancy rate increased to
63.8% in June 2023, an increase of 0.9% compared to the previous year. Furthermore, the average daily rate of hotels in

the City grew to $173.6 in June 2023, an increase of $8.6 compared to the prior year. This increase in average daily rates
is likely intertwined with the impact of inflation.
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Request for information

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general
overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have
questions about this report, or need additional financial information, contact the Director of Finance at the following

address:

Room 469, City Hall
100 N. Holliday Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Component Units

Primary Government Baltimore City Baltimore
Governmental Business-type Public School Hotel
Activities Activities Total System Corporation
Assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 917,708 $ 946,389 $ 1,864,097 $ 397,601 $ 3,452
Investments ................... 814,908 814,908 343,931 26,898
Property taxes receivable, net . 45,261 45,261
Service receivable, net .......... 190,139 190,139
Other receivables, net ......... 87,283 15,603 102,886 7,124 3,606
Due from other governments 182,452 645,338 827,790 105,957 3,364
Internal balances ................. 68,621 (68,621)
Due from primary government . 29,277
Inventories, at COSt .....ovvevininieennnnnn 16,660 5,412 22,072 2,346 61
Notes and mortgages receivable, net .. 258,280 8,497 266,777
Other assets ........ 76,340 76,340 366 3,165
Net pension asset . 7,956 7,956
Lease receivable .......oco.ii i 29,033 29,033 6,755
Capital assets being depreciated, net of accumulated depreciation . 2,550,481 5,619,111 8,169,592 1,319,149 154,883
Capital assets not being depreciated 539,749 698,829 1,238,578 242,100
Totalassets ................. 5,594,732 8,060,697 13,655,429 2,454,606 195,429
Deferred outflow of resources:
Deferred amortization on early extinguishment of debt .. 96,926 96,926
Deferred loss on bond refunding ............................ 2,044 7,033 9,077
Deferred outflows related to pension .. 376,563 9,570 386,133 90,108
Deferred outflows related to OPEB .. 123,413 25,125 148,538 41,323
Total deferred outflows of resources ............... 502,020 138,654 640,674 131,431
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 6,096,752 8,199,351 14,296,103 2,586,037 195,429
Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . 462,520 230,754 693,274 254,733 8,190
Accrued interest payable ...................... 12,908 36,450 49,358 4,271
Unearned revenue . 542,699 542,699 14,199 2,062
Notes payable 278,976
Due to other governments ... 36,328
Deposits subject to refund 31,557 31,557 4,068
Estimated claims in progress:
Due within one year ......... 143,819 143,819
Due in more than one year . 274,089 274,089
Revenue bond payable, net:
Due Within ONE YEAT ..ottt e 15,725 106,932 122,657
Due in more than one year . 274,346 3,214,630 3,488,976
Derivative instrument liability .... 10,278 10,278
Long term debt payable:
DUE WItIIN OIC J@AT ...ttt ettt ettt et et et et et et et et et ettt ettt e ae et te e e e e e e aenne 47,398 221 47,619 12,326
Due in MOTe than ONE YEAT .. .ottt ittt ettt et et et et et et et et et et et et ettt e e e e 974,477 2,724 977,201 8,018
Leases:
Due within one year ......... 7,838 7,838
Due in more than one year . 37,962 37,962
Financing purchase:
Due WIthin ONE YEAT ... ittt et et e e e e e et et et et e e e ee e 30,625 136 30,761 2,050
Due in MOTE than ONE Y@AT .. .o..u ittt ettt et ettt e et et e e et e e ee e e e ee et e ee e s 126,635 57 126,692 24,274
Compensated absences:
Due within one year . 43,176 6,092 49,268 7,854
Due in more than one year . 127,641 7,354 134,995 63,549
Landfill closure due in more than one year .. 36,598 36,598
Other liabilities due in more than one year:
Net pension liability ...........cooiiiii 1,742,879 102,954 1,845,833 113,726
Net OPEB liability . 13,659 4,229 17,888 3,061
Other liabilities ... . 1,028,241 230 1,028,471 93,145
Total Habilities ..........ocouiiiiii e 5,974,792 3,723,041 9,697,833 633,263 297,567
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related to pension . 189,743 3,689 193,432 5,171
Deferred inflows related to OPEB ... 298,401 39,408 337,809 159,814
Deferred inflow for service concession arrangement .. 50,360 50,360
Deferred inflow forlease ..................ooooin.. 29,033 29,033 7,046
Deferred inflow related to interest rate swaps ... 808 808
Total deferred inflows of resources .. 567,537 43,905 611,442 172,031
Total liabilities and deferred inflows Of FESOUICES .....iviiiiiiiiie e e ee e ee e e 6,542,329 3,766,946 10,309,275 805,294 297,567
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets . 2,212,781 3,510,817 5,723,598 1,500,065 433,858
Restricted for:
Construction ... 78,287 78,287 101,142
Debt Servic 256,319 363,595 619,914
Sanitation .... . 77,217 77,217
Capital lease . 102,150 102,150
Pension ....... 7,956 7,956
Education and housing .. 72,004 72,004
Recreation and Library ... 13,215 13,215
Unrestricted (deficits) ..o i (3,265,506) 557,993 (2,707,513) 179,536 (535,996)
TOtAl NEE POSTEIOM ...t ettt ettt ettt ottt et e et et et ettt e et e oa et et et e e et e e et e e e e e e esnennennes $ (445577) $ 4,432,405 $ 3,986,828 $ 1,780,743 $ (102,138)

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

(Bxpressed In Thousands)
Net (Expense) Revenues and Changes in Net Position
Program Revenues Primary Govemment Component Units
Operating ~ Capital Grants Baltimore City ~ Baltimore
Charges for ~ Grants and and Govenmental Business-type Public School ~ Hotel
Functions/Programs Expenses Services  Contributions Contributions ~ Activities  Activities Total System  Corporation
Primary Govemment:
Govenmental activities:
General QOVEMMENE ...............vvvveeiieiees, § 6395 § RF5$ 12209 $ (489341) $ (48934)
Public safety and regulation........................ 884,812 16542 83,084 (785,186) (785,186)
Conservation ofhealth ...............cooovveinnnn, 223809 163,258 (60,551) (60,550)
SOCIISEIVICES . .o 71,198 45163 (26,035) (26,035)
Bducation.........ooooo 663,354 (663,354) (663,354)
Publiclibrary ... 48,600 63 24,308 (24,229) (24229
Recreation and culture . ...........cooovvviiiinnnnn, 81,437 K| 50418 1512 (74,088) (74,088)
Highways and streets ...................... 21,609 30,888 7,601 25853 (163177) (163177)
Sanitation and waste removal 120261 15281 20 (104,770) (104,770)
PUBIC SIVICE . ... 32,060 207 15641 2349 (13863) (13863)
Economic development...............ooevviiiinnn. 166,988 8,702 136,383 9443 (12.460) (12.460)
I S 35,000 (35,000) (35,000)
Total governmental activities .............. 3199113 104,068 603,774 39217 (2452,054) (2452,054)
Business-type activities:
WatBr ..o 226,707 23,152 8,108 $ 14,153 14153
WaESTBWRLET ... 331684 304453 101473 4202 14202
SEOMNGLET . 20309 37163 13472 30326 30,326
Parking ... 13092 60,104 (62) 46950 46,950
NONMBJOr Proprietary ..........vvvvvvvvverrinvnnn, 12518 41,134 (19,520) 9,096 9,09%
Total business-type activities ............. 604,310 675,606 103471 174,767 174,167
Total primary GOVEMMENE .........cooeeerrieiiriiiiiiinnn § 3803423 § 79674 § 603774 § 142688 (2452,054) 174767 (2217,281)
Component units:
Baltimore City Public School System................. $ 182292 § 4% 48505 § 34064 $ (1,303,199
Baltimore Hotel Corporation........................ 56,780 56,699 (81
General revenues:
PIOPEIY IS ... 1,056,930 1,056,930
INCOMBEAXES ... 455,975 455975
Transfer and recordation tax ... 139,357 139,357
Electric and gas taX. ...........vvvvvviviiiiininnn, 21,636 21,636
Telecommunications taX. ............ccoovvevviiinniins 30843 30843
AMISSIONTAX. ... 8,069 8,069
Other local taes ..........oveeeiiiee 82,061 82,061
State shared taXreVenUES .........vevvvvvvereeinn, 205,000 205,090
State, federal, and city grants ..........oooviiinnn, 1,435,751
Unrestricted investment income..................oevves 66,839 66,839 21988 218
MISCEIIANGOUS ... ... 31,504 31,504 88,723
THANSTRTS . 42,19 (42,19)
Total general revenues and transfers................... 2,140,500 (42,19) 2,098,304 1,546,462 218
Changes in net position ............ooovvvviveeriinnn, (311,554) 13251 (178,983) 243,263 137
Net position --beginning .............oovviiviiiinin, (134023) 4,299,834 4,165,811 1537480 (102,275
Net position --ending ......oooveveeeeeiiiiiiin § (M5577) § 443405 § 3986828 § 1780743 § (102138)

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023
(Expressed In Thousands)
Capital
Grants Projects Nonmajor
General Fund  Revenue Fund Fund Funds Total
Assets:
Cashand cash eQUIVAIENES . ... ...t $ 268481 $ 420157 $ 24419 § 91069 $ 804,126
INVESEMIBNES . . . ettt e 755,531 46,332 13,045 814,908
Property taxes receivable, Net...........ooiiiriii 45,261 45,261
Other reCeIVADIES, NBE . . ..ot 47,564 5844 33,875 87,283
Due from other QOVEIMMENES . . ...\ttt 104,104 46,328 30,013 2,007 182,452
Due from other fUNAS . .. ... 117,974 115,625 32,192 265,791
Notes and mortgages receivable, Met..........oviieee 258,280 258,280
INVENEOFTES, BE COSE. . .. v vttt 3,998 3,998
(01T R 72,939 72,939
TOtAIBSSBLS . . . v vttt $ 1674132 $ 582110 $ 138800 $ 139,996 $ 2535038
Liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balances (deficits):
Lighilities :
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .............oovi $ 323725 % 49954 $ 50,169 $ 6,264 $ 430,112
Retainages payable . ... ..o 11,207 11,207
Estimated liability for claims inprogress..........ooovieeniiii 143,819 143,819
DUe t0 Other FUNAS . ..o 149,214 29,400 178,614
Deposits subjecttorefund. ... ..o 31,557 31,557
UNAMEA TEVBINUE . ... .ottt et ettt e 10,459 532,240 542,699
Total HaDITIIES. ... v 658,774 582,194 61,376 35,664 1,338,008
Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable Property taxes. .. ... ..o vttt 43,175 43,175
[T 29,033 29,033
Total deferred inflows OF rESOUFCES. . ... .ot 72,208 72,208
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. ...t 730,982 582,194 61,376 35,664 1,410,216
Fund balances:
NONSPENAADIE . . . 6,007 6,007
RESEICIBA . . et 333,536 78,287 85,219 497,042
ASSIONEA . . o 282,695 19,113 301,808
UNaSSIGNEO . ...t 320912 (84) (863) 319,965
Total fund baIANCES ... ... 943,150 (84) 77424 104,332 1,124,822
Total liabilities and fund balanCes ..............ovviviiiiii i $ 1674132 § 582110 $ 138800 $ 139,996
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported inthe funds . .. ....... o oo 3,013,132
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferredinthe funds........... ..o 542,410
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost
of fleet management, energy conservation, mailing, communications,
printing, building maintenance, and risk management to individual funds.
Some of the assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in
governmental activities in the statement of net poSItION . . ... 6,858
Unavailable revenue is not due and payable in the current period and , therefore,
isnotreported inthe fUNAS . . ... ..o o 43,175
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the
current period and, therefore, are not reported inthe funds . ... (5,175,974)
Net position 0f GQOVEINMENTAI ACTIVITIES . . . . ..ottt ettt et e $  (445577)

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances (Deficits)
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

(Bxpressed in Thousands)
Capital
Grants Projects Nonmajor
General Fund  Revenue Fund Fund Funds Total
Revenues:
Taxes-—local. ... $ 1,742,360 $ 37229 $ 1,779,589
State Shared reVENUE . .. ..o 187,042 18,048 205,090
Licenses and permits . .......oovviiiiine 25,610 25,610
Fines and forfeitures ... 35,336 35,336
Interest and other investmentincome.......................... 64,164 $ 461 1,095 65,720
Intergovernmental grants . ............o i 132434 3 324,365 39,217 24,319 520,335
Other grants .....oo e 122,656 122,656
Charges for SEIVICES .. ...t 43122 43122
MisCellaneous . . ....o.oiri i 3,354 13,935 17,289
Total FEVENUES . ..ottt 2,233,422 447,021 53,613 80,691 2,814,747
Bxpenditures:
Current:
General QOVEIMMENt ... ...ttt 435,450 57,671 28,050 521,171
Public safety and regulation ................. ... 745,296 83,770 1,743 830,809
Conservationofhealth ............. ...t 58,239 160,002 218,241
SOCHIAl SBIVICES . vttt 19,944 51,715 246 71,905
BduCation . ... 336,714 6,414 8,172 351,300
Publiclibrary ... 30,946 13,172 44,118
Recreationandculture .............cooi i 63,368 6,316 2,080 71,764
Highways and streets ............ooiiiiiiiiii it 146,889 6,610 153,499
Sanitation and waste removal .. ... 109,558 6 813 110,377
PublicService . ..o 16,025 12,976 29,001
Economic development ... 53,447 76,460 15,507 16,270 161,684
Debt service:
Principal . .. ..o 67,878 67,878
INtErESt . e 40,437 40,437
Capitaloutlay ... 161,919 161,919
Totalexpenditures . ........covvviiii 2,124,191 475,112 177,426 57,374 2,834,103
Excess (deficiency) of revenues under expenditures .............. 109,231 (28,091) (123,813) 23,317 (19,356)
Other financing sources (uses):
Capital contributions . ........oov v
TranSterS N ... 41,003 28,730 96,025 165,758
Transfers Ot . .....ooo i (113,624) (723) (3,690) (5,525) (123,562)
Proceeds from l€ases . . .. ..o e i 3,524 3,524
Proceeds from subscriptions issued (SBITA) ...........ovvvivvnn.. 7,348 7,348
Premiumon general obligationbonds ....................... ... 7,797 7,797
Face value of general obligationbonds ......................... 28,452 73,258 101,710
Total other financing alluses ..............ccocoiviiinnt, (33,297) 28,007 173,390 (5,525) 162,575
Net changes infund balance ............................. 75,934 (84 49,577 17,7192 143,219
Fund balances --beginning ..., 867,216 27,847 86,540 981,603
Fund balances —-ending ... $ 943150 $ (84 $ 77424 $ 104332 $ 1124822

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances (Deficits) of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net changes in fund balance -- total governmental funds .................coeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. Howewer, in the statement of activities
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation

expense. This is the amount by which depreciation exceeded capital outlays in the current year ...........

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not

reported as revenues inthe fUnds .............ooviiiiiiiiniii

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial

resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds ......................oo..

The net effect of the expenses for recording the City's pension liability from employment retirement

plans are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds ..............c..ooooiiini

The net income of some activities of internal service funds is reported with governmental

BCEIVIEIES ...ttt
Changes in net position of governmental aCtIVILIES ..................uuiiiiiiiiniiiiinneiiin e

$ 143,219

(104,780)
30,616
(233,799)

(124,847)

(21,963)

$ (311,554)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Parking Internal
Water Utility Wastewater Stormwater Facilities ~ Nonmajor Service
Fund Utility Fund  Utility Fund Fund Funds Total Funds
Assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents ................ ... ... i, 134199 $ 83215 $ 54054 $ 8,169 279,637 $ 11,432
Accounts receivable, net:
Service billings . ... ... .. 78,173 102,060 8,018 1,888 190,139
Other. .. 679 152 15 395 $ 14,362 15,603 915
Due fromotherfunds ........ .. ... e 1,396
Due fromother governments . . ...... ...t 7,797 9,536 17,333
INVENTONIES . . ... s 3,149 236 2,027 5,412 12,662
Restricted assets:
Cash and cashequivalents .................................... 69,858 76,980 4,211 10,319 161,368
Notes and mortgages receivable . ............................. 2,505 2,505
Total CUMTENt @SSeLS . ... v vttt ettt 293,855 272,179 68,325 23,276 14,362 671,997 26,405
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .................................... 146,341 284,685 49,820 16,939 7,599 505,384 102,150
Due fromothergovernments ................ . ... i, 236,706 348,826 42,473 628,005
Notes and mortgages receivable . . 5,992 5,992
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 1,829,082 3,258,537 259,010 62,006 210,476 5,619,111 77,098
Capital assets not being depreciated . ........... .. ... i 246,728 343,209 58,931 17,254 32,707 698,829
Total noncurrent assets .. .... ..ottt 2,458,857 4,235,257 410,234 102,191 250,782 7,457,321 179,248
Total assets 2,752,712 4,507,436 478,559 125,467 265,144 8,129,318 205,653
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred amortization on early extinguishmentofdebt................... 50,759 43,069 3,098 96,926
Deferred loss on bond refunding . ............. .. ... oo i 7,033 7,033
Deferred outflows related to pension . 4,314 4,127 787 342 9,570
Deferred outflows related to OPEB . . .. ... ..ottt 11,602 10,790 2,096 637 25,125
Total deferred outflows of resources ............................ 66,675 57,986 2,883 10,131 979 138,654
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources . ........... 2,819,387 4,565,422 481,442 135,598 266,123 8,267,972 205,653
Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . ............ ... ... ... . ... 23,370 35,767 1,127 5,048 1,513 66,825 27,864
Accrued interestpayable . ....... ... ... . 18,759 12,043 916 4,732 36,450
Duetootherfunds .......... i e 48,401 48,401 40,172
Compensated abSenCes . .......... ...ttt 2,663 2,687 482 260 6,092 1,188
Other liabilities ........... ... .. ... .. e 230 230
Accounts payable fromrestricted assets . ............... i 52,841 95,326 8,632 100 7,030 163,929
Financed purchase . ........ .ottt s 136 136 24,514
Revenue bonds payable . ........ ... 37,473 61,805 3,074 4,580 106,932
General long-termdebt payable . ....... ... ... ... ... o 221 221
Total current liabilities . ............ ... ... ... ... 135,336 207,764 14,452 14,460 57,204 429,216 93,738
Noncurrent liabilities:
Financed purchase. . . ... ...t 57 57 93,277
Revenue bonds payable,net............... ... ... .. . i 1,376,050 1,662,194 119,037 57,349 3,214,630
Derivative instrument liability . 4,053 6,225 10,278
Compensated abSences .. .......... ... 3,198 3,310 550 296 7,354 1,622
General long-termdebtpayable ............. . ... ... i 2,724 2,724
Net pension liability 46,411 44,397 8,465 3,681 102,954
Net OPEB liability .. ... . 1,621 1,549 295 764 4,229
Total noncurrent liabilities 1,431,333 1,711,507 131,071 63,574 4,741 3,342,226 94,899
Total liabilities . ............ ... ... .. ... oL 1,566,669 1,919,271 145,523 78,034 61,945 3,771,442 188,637
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related pension 1,663 1,591 303 132 3,689
Deferred inflows related OPEB . ... ... ..ottt i 17,934 16,832 2,988 1,654 39,408
Deferred inflows related to interest rate swaps . ................oouuunn.. 808 808
Total deferred inflows of resources ............................. 19,597 18,423 3,291 808 1,786 43,905
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources .......... 1,586,266 1,937,694 148,814 78,842 63,731 3,815,347 188,637
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets . ... 737,873 2,037,187 250,600 27,902 457,255 3,510,817 (35,690)
Restricted for:
DEDt SEIVICE . .. 183,150 153,911 9,595 16,939 363,595
Unrestricted (deficit) . ............ 312,098 436,630 72,433 11,915 (254,863) 578,213 52,706
Totalnet position ........... .. ... ... .. i $ 1233121 $ 2627728 $ 332628 $ 56,756 $ 202,392 4,452,625 $ 17,016
Adjustments to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related
to enterprise funds (20,220)
Net position of business-type activities . .................. ..o .. 4,432,405

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Bxpressed In Thousands)

Enterprise Funds
Parking Internal
Water Utility Wastewater  Stormwater  Facilities  Nonmajor Service
Fund  Utility Fund  Utility Fund ~ Fund Funds Total Funds

Operating revenues:
Charges for $ales and SEIVICES...........uuvvvvvrevrivnsies i $ 128371
Water, Sewer and STOMIWALET SEIVICE ..........vvvvvevererseiesseserorsesiss oo $ 2272 § 34453 § 37163 $ 574368
RENLS AN TEES ..ottt $ 60104 $§ 4114 101,238

Total OPEIALING TEVEMUES ... vvvvvvveververeveiverevrensssiresne s srsinsenes 232,152 304453 3163 60,104 41,134 675,606 128,371

Operating expenses:
Salaries AN WAZES +...vvvvvorirerssirsr s s 45489 55,856 9,786 6,178 117,309 25,183
OFher PEISONNEICOSES ..vvvvvvrreverreresiries e 4616 6,919 1,404 1,035 13974 8,049
Contractual SErvices and OthEr ..........ovv.vvveereeeceeee et 68,953 123136 8219 6,003 3,087 209,458 97,096
Materials and SUPPLES .....cvvvvuvevevovevveriesse e i 3847 ur 51676 4675
MINOT €QUIPMENL ... vvvvvvsvrs v es s 19 3046 3R 1 3519 6,210
DPIECIALION ..o 54,497 86,144 1,037 2215 1979 145,932 16,46

Total OPEIAING EAPENSES ....vvevveveeocrverc s 191,3% 308,948 20839 8218 12407 541,868 157459

OPEIANG MCOME ..vvvvvocrv s 41,35 (449%) 16324 5182 8121 133738 (29,088)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
L0SS 01 S1E OFASSELS ...v.vvvvvvove v (329)
Interest incone .......... 1097 10830 3382 25,169
TLETESE EXDENSE ..vvvvvovrrvvrvveveirrreees (44714) (30,988) (2650)  (A814) (83.166) (5422)

Total NONOPEIALING EXPENSES, NEE ..vvvvvvvrvrevereressrerereseresmrersrssesen (33,757) (20158) 1R (4814 (57,997) (5751)

Income/(loss) before capital contributions (distributions) and transfers ... 759 (24,653) 17056 47012 8,721 5,741 (34839)
Capital contributions (AISTHIDULONS) ...v.vvveveervevisverievirsersessie s eserses 8,108 101473 13412 6 (1952 103471
TIANSTEIS OUE 1. vvvvvvvovs s s (42,19) (42,19)

Changes i NEE POSILION ...ovvvvvvvevevevvrsissss s 15,707 76,820 30528 4,754 9,207 137016 (34.839)
Total net POSItion - DEGIMNING ... vevsssoresesssssesesse s sssos s 127414 2550908 02100 52002 193185 4,315,609 51,8%

Total net poSItion - E1AING. ......e.veveveverernerirees s $ 1233121 § 2627728 § 332628 § 56756 § 202392 445265 § 17016

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service activities related to

CNEIPIISE TS ..o (20220

Net position 0f bUSINESS-tYPE ACHVIES ........vv.vevvvverererirsere s § 4432405

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Proprietary Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balance -- total proprietary funds.. e
The net expense of some activities of internal service funds is reported with busmess-type

P Yo18\ 1411 (-1 RO

Change in net position 0f buSINESS-tYPE ACIVILIES ... ..ueeueeueiieiiee it e e e et et ettt

$

$

137,016

(4,445)

132,571

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Stormwater  Parking
Water Utility Wastewater ~ Utility Facilities ~ Nonmajor

Internal

Fund Utility Fund ~ Fund Fund Funds Total  Service Funds
Cash flows from operating activities:
RECEIPS fTOM CUSTOMEIS . ..\ v\t ettt et et et et $ 207840 $ 301,184 $ 38048 $ 58138 $ 69224 $ 674434 $ 160,104
Payments t0 eMPIOYEES . ... ... (46,998) (55,176) (8,430) (6457)  (117,061) (32,786)
Payments to suppliers ... ... (71,413)  (170,680)  (10,907) (2803)  (6913)  (262,716) (92,979)
Net cash provided by operating activities 89,429 75,328 18,711 55,335 55,854 294,657 34,339
Cash flows fromnoncapital financing activities:
Transfers out (42,916) (42,916)
Net cash (used) by noncapital financing activities (42,916) (42,916)
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Mortgages receivable principal payments ... 2,089 2,089
Proceeds from general obligation bonds ... 126 126
Proceeds fromwater quality 10anS . ..........oooiii 85,410 85,410
Principal paid on revenue bonds . ..o (34,325) (26,815) (1,149 (5,033) (67,322)
Principal paid on State water quality 10anS .............covii (1,085) (25,491) (1,836) (28412)
Principal paid on general long-termdebt............. ... (464) (464)
Interest reCeIVEd . ...t 10,957 10,830 3383 25,170
INEEIESE PRI . ..\ e e (42,564) (37,258) (2,014) (3913) (85,749) (5422)
Acquisition and construction of capital 8Sets . ... ........ovviiiii (90,411)  (113930)  (29,160) (497)  (55,672)  (289,670) (158)
Finance purchases PAYMENTS . ... ...ttt e (128) (128) (1,843)
Capital contributions (distribution) received ... 28,017 113,932 14,067 (195200 136,496
Net cash (used) provided by capital and related financing activities........... (129,411) 6,550 (17,047 (7,354)  (75,192)  (222,454) (7423)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..., (39,982 81,878 1,664 5,065 (19,338) 29,287 26,916
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year..............ocooiiii i 390,379 363002 106421 30,362 26,937 917,101 86,666
Cash and cash equivalents,end of year..............oooiiiiiiii $ 350397 $ 444880 $ 108085 $ 35427 $ 7599 $ 946388 $ 113,582
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating inCOME/(I0SS) . . ...ttt $ 41356 $ (4495 $ 16324 $ 51826 $ 28727 $ 133738 §$ (29,088)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
DePreciation BXDENSE . . . ...\ttt 54,497 86,144 1,037 2,275 1,979 145,932 16,245
Effect of changes in non cash operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivables . ... (24,645) (3268) 885 (1,966) (125)  (29119) (583)
INVENEOTIES . v\ v ettt ettt e 4754 302 (1,534) 3522 (4,446)
Deferred outflows - PENSION ... ... e e 5,003 4421 (646) 286 9,070
Deferred outflows - OPEB . . ... ..o (3545) (3388) 517 (282) (6,698)
[T T 28,215 28,215
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........................oo e 8871 11,841 (465) 3,200 1,141 24,588 15,293
Compensated @DSENCES ... ...ttt e (680) (229) (54) (963) (6N)
Due (from) other funds ... (24,252) (24,252) 36,772
Deferred inflows - Pension ... 1,168 1,136 234 99 2,637
Deferred inflows - OPEB.... ... 3528 3312 642 280 7822
Pension liability - current period 7,987 12,120 3,086 1,001 24,284
OPEB liahility . ...t (8,865) (8,382) (1,315) (559)  (19,121)
Other liabilities . . . . (4,970) (4,970)
Other noncurrent liabilities (28) (28) 147
Total adjuStMeNtS ... ....ve e 48,073 79,823 2,387 3,509 27,127 160,919 63,427
Net cash provided by operating activities ...............oooviriiriiiii $ 89429 $ 75328 $ 18711 § 55335 § 55854 $ 294657 $ 34,339
Noncash activity from capital and related financing activities:
New financed PUICRASES . . ... ..\t e $ 26,009
Acquisition and construction of capital assets financed by debt......................... $§ 15975 $ 35166 $ 6142 $ 57,283
Total noncash activity from capital and related financing activities ............ $ 15975 $§ 35166 $§ 6142 $ $ $ 57283 $ 26,009

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2023
(Expressed In Thousands)

Pension/OPEB
Trust
Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS .. ... .ot $ 114,285
Investments:
SEOCKS .« oot 2,991,444
BONAS i 977,560
R Te L 1 - 669,505
Private equity and hedge fund .. ... 1,262,157
Securities lending collateral .. ... ... . 55,960
Accounts receivable, net:
Forward fOreign CONMIACES ... ..o\ttt e e et e e 14,601
(@1 T T £ 36,755
L0 LT £ 6,122,267
Liabilities:
Obligations under securities lending Program . ..ottt 55,960
Forward fOreign CONTIACES . . ...\ttt e e e e e e 14,601
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ..o 38,498
Pension benefits payable . .. ... 20
Total HAbIlItIeS . . ... o 109,079
Net position:
Net position restricted for PENSIONS .. ... ..ot 5,136,035
Net position restricted For OPEB . . ... .. .t e 877,153
Net position restricted forpension and OPEB . ......... ...ttt e $ 6,013,188

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed In Thousands)

Pension/OPEB
Funds
Total
Additions:
Contributions:
10T $ 302,867
1070 [0 97,749
Total CONIIDULIONS . . .o e e e 400,616
Investment income:
Net (appreciation)/depreciation in fair value of investments . ... 296,305
Securities [ending INCOME, NEL. . ... ..o 406
Interest and diVIdeNd INCOME . ..ottt e e e e e e 126,314
T Al INVESIMENT I0SS o .ttt et e e e 423,025
eSS IMVESTMBNE BXDBMSE « v ot ettt ettt ettt e et e e e e e e e 20,492
Net investment iNCOME/(I0SS). . ..« .o vt 402,533
Total additions (AedUCLIONS). . . ..o vt 803,149
Deductions:
Retirement Denefits ... ... 436,658
Health DN IS . .ot 88,011
DAt DENETIES L .ttt 1,485
ANV BN ES . v vttt ettt ettt e ettt e e e 10,381
L1 T 21,902
TOtal dBUCLIONS . . ..t 558,437
Changes in NELPOSILION ... .. e e e 244,712
Net position restricted for pensions and OPEB - beginning of theyear..............co i, 5,768,476
Net position restricted for pensions and OPEB -end of year ........ ..ot e $ 6,013,188

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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1.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Baltimore (City) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland in 1797 and operates under an
elected Mayor-Council form of government. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
for governmental entities (GAAP), the accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units,
entities, for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally separate
entities, are, in substance, part of the City’s operations. Each discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate
column in the government-wide financial statements (see note below for description) to emphasize that it is legally separate
from the City.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is responsible for elementary and secondary education within the
City’s jurisdiction. The BCPSS receives significant funding from the City and is a financial burden to the City. The City
is also required to pay certain benefits to its employees. However, the BCPSS is legally separate from the City since it has
the authority and responsibility for all its system functions and the Governor of the State of Maryland appoints a majority
of its nine member board. The City, however, approves the BCPSS annual budget. The City adjusted the financial results
of the BCPSS to record the net pension liability attributable to BCPSS employees that participate in the Employees’
Retirement System of the City of Baltimore (ERS) and the net other post employment liability (OPEB) which are detailed
in Note 20. Complete financial statements for BCPSS may be obtained from the Chief Financial Officer, Baltimore City
Public School System, 200 East North Avenue, Baltimore, Maryland 21202.

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) was incorporated on October 14, 2005 as a nonprofit non-stock corporation and
is wholly owned by the City. BHC is financially accountable to the City. The BHC assists the Mayor and City Council of
Baltimore on enhancing the economic development in the City by operating a downtown convention center headquarters
hotel and parking structure. The City has pledged certain site-specific occupancy tax revenue to pay shortfalls in hotel
operating revenues and is responsible for operating deficits.

Complete financial statements for BHC for the year ended December 31, 2023 may be obtained from the Chief Financial
Officer, Baltimore City, 469 City Hall, 100 N. Holliday St., Baltimore, Maryland 21202.

Related Organizations

There are other governmental entities that provide services within the City of Baltimore. While the City is responsible for
appointing the board members of these entities, the City’s accountability for these organizations does not extend beyond
making appointments. The City’s basic financial statements do not reflect the operations of the:

Baltimore City Foundation Live Baltimore Home Center

Lexington Market Healthcare Access Maryland

Visit Baltimore, Inc. Royal Farms Arena — SMG

Baltimore Community Lending Family League of Baltimore City, Inc.
City of Baltimore Development Corporation Hippodrome Foundation

Special Benefits Taxing Districts Community Media of Baltimore City, Inc.

Neighborhood Impact Investment Fund

In addition, the Housing Authority of Baltimore City (HABC) is considered a related organization. The HABC is a separate
legal entity and is governed by a Commission of five citizens with staggered terms appointed by the Mayor. The
Commission establishes the operating policies of the HABC, which was implemented under the direction of an Executive
Director appointed by the Commission. The HABC develops, maintains, and manages low-rent housing and administers
housing assistance payment programs primarily for the citizenry’s benefit and not that of the primary government. These
activities are subsidized by the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and other grantors. Consequently,
the primary government is not able to exert influence over or to impose a burden relationship upon the HABC. This
organization is not financially accountable to the City and maintains its own separate accounting systems.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

(Continued)

B. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Statements. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities display information about the
primary government (the City) and its component units. These statements include the financial activities of the overall
government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of internal
activities. Interfund service provided and used are not eliminated in the process of consolidation. These statements
distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are
financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for the different
business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those
that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function.
Indirect expense allocations that have been made in the funds have been eliminated for the statement of activities. Program
revenues include (a) fees, fines, and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b)
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operations or capital requirements of a particular program.
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.

Net position (the amount by which assets and deferred outflows exceed liabilities and deferred inflows) are reported on the
Statement of Net Position in three components:

* Net investment in capital assets - the total amount of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced
by outstanding balances of bonds and other debt that are related to the acquisition or construction of those assets.

» Restricted - for amounts when constraints placed on the net position are either externally imposed, or are imposed
by constitutional provisions or enabling legislation; and

»  Unrestricted - the total net position which does not fit the two preceding categories.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, generally it is the City’s policy to use restricted assets
first with unrestricted resources utilized as needed.

Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds, including its
fiduciary funds and blended component units. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and
enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated
and reported as nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions associated with the
principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal
values. Non-operating revenues, such as subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or
ancillary activities. Operating expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating
eXpenses.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund. This is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government,
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Grants Revenue Fund. This fund accounts for revenues derived from governmental grants and other revenue sources that
are restricted by law or administrative action to expenditures for specific purposes.
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Capital Projects Fund. The proceeds of general obligation bond issues, State construction loans, governmental and other
grants, and revenues from other sources appropriated for capital improvements, acquisitions and related programs are
accounted for in this fund, except for those accounted for in the proprietary fund types. Although not required to disclose
this fund as a major fund per GASB34, management has opted to disclose the Capital Projects Funds as a major fund due
to its importance in the financial statements.

The City also reports nonmajor governmental funds which are classified as Special Revenue Funds and Permanent Funds.
The City reports the following major and non major enterprise funds:
Water Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s water supply system.

Wastewater Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s sewerage
system.

Stormwater Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s Stormwater
system and infrastructure.

Parking Facilities Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City-owned offstreet
parking facilities.

Although not required to report the Stormwater Utility Fund and the Parking Facilities Fund as major enterprise funds per
GASB 34, management has opted to disclose these funds separately.

Conduit Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s conduit infrastructure.
This fund is non-major fund.

The City reports the following other fund types:

Internal Service Funds. These funds account for mobile equipment, reproduction and printing, municipal post office,
municipal telephone exchange, municipal communications, energy conservation, building maintenance and hardware and
software replacement, which provided goods and services to other departments on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds. These funds account for assets and activities when a government unit is functioning either as a trustee or
an agent of another party, transactions related to assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals,
private organizations and other governments. The fiduciary funds include the following:

Pension Trust Funds. These funds account for the receipt, investment and distribution of retirement contributions made for
the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officials and other City employees.

Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fund. This fund accounts for the receipt, investment and distribution of retiree health
and life insurance benefits.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting

Government-wide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide, proprietary, and
fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and are reported on the
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses recorded at the time liabilities are incurred,
regardless of when the related cash flows take place. On the accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in
the fiscal year for which taxes are levied. Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the fiscal year
in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when
measurable and available. The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the revenues
are collected within 60 days after year-end, except for grant and entitlement revenues which have a 90 day availability
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period. Property taxes and interest are considered to be susceptible to accrual. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and judgments, and
compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have matured. General capital asset
acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under
financed purchases are reported as other financing sources.

Under the terms of the grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a combination of specific
cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred,
there are both restricted and unrestricted net assets available to finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply
cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by general fund
revenues.

C. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND EQUITY
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits, as well as short-term investments with a maturity date within three
months of the date acquired by the City.

Deposits and Investments

The cash balances of substantially all funds are pooled and invested by the City for the purpose of increasing earnings
through investment activities. The pool’s investments are reported at fair value as of June 30, 2023, based on market prices.
The individual funds’ portions of the pool’s fair value are presented as “Cash and Cash Equivalents.” Earnings on the
pooled funds are apportioned and paid or credited to the funds quarterly based on the average daily balance of each
participating fund. The City does not invest any portion of its cash in derivative investments.

Receivables and Payables
All property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.

Mortgage receivables reported in governmental fund and government-wide financial statements, and notes receivable
reported in proprietary fund statements consist of loans that are generally not expected or scheduled to be collected in the
subsequent year.

Unbilled water and wastewater user charges are estimated and accrued at year-end.
Inventories

Inventories are valued at cost using the moving average method. The costs of governmental fund-type inventories are
recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.

Capital Assets

Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost, except for intangible right to use
assets, which are discussed in Note 15. Donated capital assets, donated works of art, and similar items are recorded at
acquisition value. Infrastructure assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001 are reported at estimated historical cost using deflated
replacement cost. Infrastructure assets, such as streets, highways, bridges, sidewalks, street lighting, traffic poles and
signals, and storm sewers are required to be capitalized under GAAP. Capitalization thresholds are: $50,000 for buildings,
improvements and infrastructure; and $10,000 for equipment, with the exception of vehicles which has a $5,000 threshold.
Library books are capitalized as a collection based on total purchases. Donated capital assets, such as works of art, and
capital assets received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value rather than fair value. The cost
of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not
capitalized.
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Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Estimated

Useful

Asset Class Lives
INTraSTIUCTUTE . ... .ottt it e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 25-80
Building iMPIOVEIMEIITS .. ...ttt it e et ettt et et e e et e e et e e e et e e e et e e e e e et e e e e e 20-50
05510 72 5, o T Yo ) <P 5
LY o) o3 SR e LR B e 0 0 (=) o 1 S 5-10

Compensated Absences

The liability for compensated absences reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements consists of
unpaid, accumulated annual sick, vacation, and personal leave balances. The liability has been calculated using the vesting
method, in which leave amounts for both employees who are currently eligible to receive termination payments and other
employees who are expected to become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination are included.
Payments made to terminated employees for accumulated leave are charged as expenditures/expenses, primarily in the
General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Proprietary Funds, when paid.

Estimated Liability for Claims in Process

The liability for claims in process represents estimates for all personal injury, workers’ compensation, unemployment,
property damage, and medical claims as of June 30, 2023. This liability, which includes estimates for known and incurred
but not reported claims, is based upon an actuarial valuation of the City’s claim payment history discounted at a rate of
3.0%, for all claims except medical, for which claims are not discounted.

Property Tax and Property Tax Calendar

The City levies an annual tax for the fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30, on real and personal property located
in the City, due and payable each July 1 (lien date), based on assessed values as of the previous January 1. These assessed
values are established by the State of Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation at various rates of estimated
market value. A discount of 1/2% is allowed for payments made in July. Unpaid property taxes are considered in arrears
on October 1, and penalty and interest of 2% is assessed each month. Real property subject to tax liens is sold at public
auction in May in instances where the taxes have remained delinquent since the preceding October 1.

The City is responsible for the assessment, collection, and apportionment of property taxes. The City levies an annual tax
for the fiscal year ending June 30, due and payable each July 1, based on assessed values as of the previous January 1.

State law requires that all real property be reassessed every three years, and further provides that the amount of any increase
over previous established market values be phased in over a three-year period. To accomplish the triennial assessment
requirement, approximately one-third of all real property is reviewed annually. The City Council, effective with the fiscal
year beginning July 1, 1991, enacted a 104% homestead tax credit program which will protect homeowners from increases
in assessments that are greater than 4% in any one year. The assessed value of real property in Baltimore City for fiscal
year 2023 was $38,040,000,000 which was approximately 88.8% of the estimated market value.

The tax rate in Baltimore City for real property taxes for fiscal year 2023 was $2.25 per $100 of assessed value. Pursuant
to State Law, the personal property tax and tax rate applied to operating property of public utilities is 2.5 times the real
property rate or $5.62 per $100 of assessed value. Current collections were 96.6% of the total tax levy.

As of June 30, 2023, the City had property taxes receivable of $45,261,000, net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts
of $10,954,000.

Gains and Losses on Early Extinguishment of Debt from Refundings

Gains and losses on the early extinguishment of debt from refundings are amortized over the shorter of the life of the new
or old debt.

39



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

Sick, Vacation and Personal Leave

Employees earn one day of sick leave for each completed month of service, and there is no limitation on the number of
sick days that employees can accumulate. A portion of unused sick leave earned annually during each twelve-month base
period may be converted to cash at a maximum of three days, computed on an attendance formula. Upon retirement with
pension benefits, or termination of employment after completion of twenty or more years of service without pension
benefits, employees receive one day’s pay for every four sick days accumulated and unused at the date of separation; under
any other conditions of separation, unused sick leave is forfeited.

Employees earn vacation leave for each completed month of service and can accumulate a maximum of 45 days. Police
officers earn vacation leave for each completed month of service and can accumulate a maximum of 125 days. Vacation
leave balances can either be taken through time off or carried until paid at termination or retirement. Four personal leave
days are granted for usage only on the fiscal year starting July 1%, and expire on June 30" of the same fiscal year.

The City accrues for all salary-related items in the government-wide and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements for which they are liable to make a payment directly and incrementally associated with payments made for
compensated absences on termination or retirement. The City includes its share of social security and Medicare payments
made on behalf of the employees in the accrual for sick, vacation and personal leave pay.

The Baltimore City Public School System’s employees are granted sick, vacation and personal leave in varying amounts
based on length of service and bargaining unit. A limited number of sick, vacation and personal leave days may be carried
forward from year to year and upon retirement with pension benefits or separation of employment with twenty years of
service, employees are paid accumulated sick, vacation and personal leave days at appropriate formula and rates. The
unpaid vested sick, vacation and personal leave days have been reported as vested compensated absences.

Restricted Assets

The proceeds of the Water Utility Fund, Wastewater Utility Fund, Stormwater Utility Fund, Parking Facilities Fund, and
Nonmajor Funds revenue bonds and Federal and State grants, and restricted accounts receivable are restricted for the
purpose of the construction of water, sewer, stormwater, and parking facilities.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until the future period. As of June 30, 2023, the City
recognized unamortized losses on early extinguishments of debt, refunding, pension and OPEB activity, and interest rate
swaps as deferred outflows of resources in the government-wide statement of net position and the proprietary funds
statement of net position.

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. As of June 30, 2023, the City recognized deferred inflows
of resources in the governmental funds for property taxes, income taxes, other prepaid taxes and notes receivables.
Additionally, the City recognized deferred inflows of resources in the government-wide statement of net position for
pension and OPEB.

Fund Balance

The City classifies its fund balance into the following categories:

«  Nonspendable fund balance includes items that cannot be spent. This includes activity that is not in spendable
form such as inventories, prepaid amounts, long-term portions of loans and notes receivable and activities that are
legally or contractually required to remain intact such as principal balance in a permanent fund.

» Restricted fund balance has constraints placed upon the use of the resources either by external creditors, grantors,
contributors or imposed by law through a constitutional provision or enabling legislation.
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« Assigned fund balance includes amounts that are constrained by the City to be used for specific purposes but are
neither restricted nor committed for which the City has a stated intended use as established by the Board of
Estimates. The Board of Estimates has delegated the authority to assign amounts for a specific purpose to the
City’s Director of Finance. These are resources where the constraints/restrictions are less binding than that for
committed funds. For governmental funds, other than the general fund, this is the residual amount within the fund
that is not restricted or committed.

« Unassigned fund balance is the residual amount of the general fund not included in the four categories described
above. The general fund is the only positive unassigned fund balance amount. In other governmental funds, if
expenditures incurred for the specific purpose exceed the amounts restricted, committed or assigned to those
purposes, negative unassigned fund balance may be reported.

The Board of Estimates is required to take formal action before funds can be committed for a specific purpose. Formal
action of the Board of Estimates is also required before committed funds can be rescinded or modified. The City’s general
spending prioritization policy is to consider restricted resources to have been used first, followed by committed, assigned,
and unassigned amounts when expenditures have been incurred for which resources in more than one classification could
be used.

Nonspendable fund balance

Long Term Assets - This portion of fund balance represents those long-term assets that are not available for appropriation
and expenditure.

Inventory - This portion of fund balance represents amounts not available for appropriation or expenditure because the
underlying asset (inventory) is not an available resource for appropriation or expenditure.

Permanent Fund — This portion of fund balance represents amounts for which the City is legally or contractually required
to maintain intact.

Restricted fund balance

Landfill closure and development — This portion of fund balance has been set aside to fund the cost of future landfill
development and closure cost as required by federal regulation.

Debt Service — This portion of the fund balance represents the amounts needed to service future debt payments.

Assigned fund balance

Encumbrances — This portion of fund balance represents approved contracts for which the City has completed the
procurement process and the Board of Estimates has approved the contract.

Requisitions — This portion of fund balance is set aside by the Director of Finance to fund various non-lapsing transactions
which have not completed the procurement process at year end.

Subsequent years’ expenditures - This portion of fund balance represents the amount to finance certain non-recurring policy
initiatives and other expenditures included in the Fiscal year 2023 budget.

Unassigned fund balance

Budget stabilization reserve - The City of Baltimore’s budget stabilization reserve (reserve) was established by resolution
of the Board of Estimates for the purpose of providing a budget defense to stabilize a post-adopted City budget that has
been impacted by an uncorrectable shortfall in budgeted revenues and/or unanticipated and uncorrectable emergency
expenses, for the sole purpose of avoiding a budget deficit. The Board of Estimates in determining to use the reserve would
first need to acknowledge that all reasonable efforts had been made in controlling expenses, and secondly, the City’s
unreserved fund balance had been exhausted. The reserve under no circumstances can be used as a revenue source to
balance a planning year budget. The Board of Estimates determines the amount of annual funding for the reserve. The
resolution requires that reserves be maintained on any June 30th at a minimum level of 8% of the value of the general
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fund’s operating budget of the subsequent year. Whenever funds are drawn from the reserve, a Board of Estimates approved
reserve replenishment plan must be established and must specify a timetable for full restoration of the reserve not to exceed
five years.

Interfund Transactions
The City has three types of transactions among funds:

Statutory transfers - Legally required transfers that are reported when incurred as “Transfers in” by the recipient fund and
as “Transfers out” by the disbursing fund.

Transfers of Expenditures (Reimbursements) - Reimbursement of expenditures made by one fund for another that are
recorded as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures in the reimbursed fund.

Interfund payments - Charges or collections for services rendered by one fund to another that are recorded as revenues of
the recipient fund and as expenditures or expenses of the disbursing fund.

Uses of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

D. NEw GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD PRONOUNCEMENTS

In fiscal year 2023, the City adopted portions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 96,
“Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements.” The objective of this Statement is to provide guidance on
the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITASs) for
government end users (governments).

In fiscal year 2023, the City early adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) “Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections.” The objective of this Statement is to enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for
accounting changes and error corrections to provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable
information. This adoption had no material impact on the fiscal year 2023 statements.

The City will be required to adopt the following GASB pronouncements:

GASB Statement No. 101

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101, “Compensated Absences”. The objective of this Statement is to better
meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for
compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance under a unified
model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. The City is required to adopt GASB No. 101 for its fiscal
year 2025 financial statements.
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Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

A summary reconciliation of the difference between total fund balances as reflected on the governmental funds balance
sheet and the net position for governmental activities as shown on the government-wide statement of net position is
presented on the face of the governmental funds balance sheets. The asset and liability elements which comprise the
reconciliation difference stem from governmental funds using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting, while the government-wide financial statements use the economic resources
measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between net changes in fund balance as reflected on the governmental funds
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances and changes in net position for governmental activities
as shown on the government-wide statement of activities is presented in an accompanying schedule to the governmental
funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The revenues and expense elements which
comprise the reconciliation difference stem from governmental funds using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, while the government-wide financial statements use the economic
resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between total net position as reflected on the proprietary funds statement of
net position and the net position for business-type activities as shown on the government-wide statement of net position is
presented on the face of the proprietary funds statement of net position. The asset element which comprises the
reconciliation difference stems from the allocation of internal service fund balance to the business-type activities on the
government-wide statement of net position.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between net changes in net position as reflected on the proprietary funds
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and changes in net position for business activities as shown
on the government-wide statement of activities is presented on the face of the proprietary funds statement of net position.
The expense element, which comprises the reconciliation difference, stems from the allocation of internal service funds
deficit to the business-type activities on the government-wide statement of activities.
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Explanation of differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-wide statement of net position

(amount expressed in thousands):
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources, and therefore, are not reported in the funds:

CAPIEAL @SSELS ..ttt et e e e ettt e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e oottt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e ettt bttt e e e e e e ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e sttt aaeeeeas $ 6,504,808
Less accumulated depreciation .. 3,491,676)
TORAL e $ 3,013,132
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:
NEE PEISION ASSEE 1ottt etieetteee et e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e ettt bttt e e e e e e e e e e s asaa ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e sstas s bt e e e e e e e e e e e et a sttt s e e e e e e e e e e et nnn b b e e e e eaeaeeeen $ 7,956
Other assets 32,434
2,044
376,563
123,413
542,410
Internal Service funds are used by management to charge the cost of fleet management, mailing, communications, printing energy conservation and building
maintenance to individual funds. Some assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental
activities in the statement of net position 6,858
Deferred revenue is not due and payable in the current period, and therefore, is not reported in the funds . 43,175
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:
Accounts payable ......... . $ 36,126
Accrued interest payable . (12,908)
Long-term bonds ......... . (1,021,875)
Revenue bonds ...... (290,071)
(39,469)
(45,800)
Compensated absences and other (168,007)
EStIMAated ClAIMS I PIOZIESS .. .vvveitiieeteeeeee e ettt e e e e e e e s ettt e e e e e e e s e sttt et e e e e e e e e sttt e e e e e e e e e e e nstb bbb e e e e e e e e e e s e nttnttteeeeeas (274,089)
Landfill CLOSUIE LHADIIIEY ...ttt e ettt e e e e ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e (36,598)
Net pension liability (1,742,879)
Net OPEB liability (13,659)
[0 TS L T PSP UPPTURUPPPPUPRN (1,028,241)
Deferred inflow Of FESOUICES (PEMSION). ... ..uuii e e e et ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e et e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeenes (189,743)
Deferred inflow of resources (service concession arrangement) (50,360)
Deferred inflow of resources (OPEB) 298,401)
TOUAL ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ee et ettt ettt et e e e et et e ettt ee et eeeereeeeeeeenenenas $  (5175974)
Explanation of differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances
and the government-wide statement of activities (amount expressed in thousands):
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities the cost of
those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense:
Capital Outlay .........ooviiiiiiiiiiee e 36,907
Finance purchase and lease (11,111)
DIEPIECIALION ...ttt ettt e e e oottt e o444 e 4o o444t e e e ettt e e e e et aeeeeas (130,576)
TORAL et $ 104,780)
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds:
Service concession agreement 1,119
Interest revenue related to entity-wide debt 14,215
Revenues not received for several months after the fiscal year end are not considered as available revenues in the governmental funds ............ 15,282
TORAL ..o e e b ettt e e et e e e e $ 30,616
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds:
Debt service principal ............coerriuiiiiiiiiieeeniiiiiie e (26,132)
Debt service interest (financed purchase, GO bonds, and accrued interest) . 7,358
Claims liability ..... 7,894
Landfill closure liability . (6,148)
COMPENSAEA ADSEIICES ...t eeeettttttett ettt e e e e e e e e e ettt ettt e 4442 e e e et ettt ettt oo o444 e e e e e et ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e aaaaes 10,795
MiSCEIIANEOUS OLHET THADIIILY ...ttt e ettt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e ettt et e e e e e e e ettt eeeeeas (295,009)
Changes in net OPEB liability, deferred inflow and OUtTIOW. ..........ooiiiiiiiiiii e 51,456
SBITA ... 1,705
TORAL ..o e e e et ettt e e et e e e $ (248,081)

The net effect of the expenses for recording the City's pension liability from employee retirement plans are not reported as
expenditures in the gOVernmental fUINAS ................uiiiiiiii i e $ (124,847)
The net income of some activities of internal service funds is reported with governmental activities:
Internal service funds net expenses attributed to GOVrNMENtal ACHIVIEIES ... ..uuuiiee ettt ittt e e e e ettt ettt e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeees $ (21,963)
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Deposits and Investments

A. SUMMARY OF DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT BALANCES

The following is a reconciliation of the City’s deposit and investment balances as of June 30, 2023 (expressed in
thousands):

Government-wide Fiduciary Funds
Statements of Net Statement of Net

Position Position Total Total
Cash and cash equivalents ...........cccccoeieiieieiiiiieiieiceie e B 1,095,195 $ 114285 $ 1,209,480
TNVESTIMENIES . v ettt et e et e et ettt et e et et et et e e e e ea e ae e e enes 814,908 5,900,666 6,715,574
Restricted cash and cash equivalents ..............oeviiiiiiiiiiiiin 768,902 768,902
0 VPR . 2,679,005 $ 6,014,951 $ 8,693,956

B. CAsH DEPOSITS

As of June 30, 2023, the carrying amount of the City’s general fund disbursement bank account was $272,082,000 and
the respective bank balances totaled $349,975,000. All of the City’s cash deposits are either insured through the Federal
Depository Insurance Corporation or collateralized by securities held in the name of the City, by the City’s agent.

As of June 30, 2023, BCPSS and BHC had demand deposits with carrying values of $37,500,000 and $1,004,000,
respectively.

C. INVESTMENTS

Primary Government

For other than pension funds, BCPSS and BHC, the City is authorized by State Law to invest in direct or indirect
obligations of the United States Government, repurchase agreements that are secured by direct or indirect obligations
of the United States Government, certificate of deposit, commercial paper with highest letter and numerical rating,
mutual funds registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Maryland Local Government Investment
Pool. The City’s investment policy limits the percentage of certain types of securities with the exception of obligations
for which the United States Government has pledged its full faith and credit. For investments held by the City in trust
and/or to secure certain debt obligations, the City complies with the terms of the trust agreements. The City’s Board of
Finance has formally adopted the above policies and reviews and approves all securities transactions.

Investments are reported at fair value, except that investments with maturities of less than one year from purchase date
are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded on national or international exchanges are valued
at the last reported sales price at the current exchange rates. Real estate holdings are valued based on current appraisals.
Leveling disclosures for the investments are included in a table on the following page.
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This primary government’s investments as of June 30, 2023, are presented below. All investments are presented by
investment type, and debt securities are presented by maturity (expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months)

Greater
Investment Type Fair Value Less Than 6 6to 12 Than 12
Debt Securities:
U.S. TICASUTY +.vvvieiireiiieeeeeee e eeee e D 434942 $ 183,025 $ 251,917
U.S. AZENCIES ..uvinrinetieteeeeeteeteet e et e e et e te e e e e 296,496 247,909 48,587
Repurchase agreements ...........covuveieieniiniienieeieennn 95,000 95,000
Money market mutual funds ... 1,403,860 1,403,860
Commercial PAPET ..ottt e 20,261 $ 13,954 6,307

2250559 $ 1929794 $ 13954 $ 306,811

Other investments:

Equity mutual funds ........ccoooiiiiiiiiii e 11,069

2,261,628
Less: cash equivalents ...........ccooeviiiiiiiieii i 1,446,720
Total INVESTMENTS . uvveeeeeeee et eeeee e B 814,908

Investments and Valuation - The City categorizes its investments using the fair value measurements identified in the fair
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs
used to measure the fair value of the asset and gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level I measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Investment Levels

Investment Type Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Debt Securities:

U.S. TI€ASULY ...veeeeeieee e B 434,942 $ 434,942

U.S. AZENCICS ovivitteetieit et ee e et e e et e e et e ee e 296,496 296,496

Repurchase agreements ............ovuveviieiiiiiiinnieinieennn 95,000 95,000

Money market mutual funds ...........cooeeiiiiiiiiii 1,403,860 1,403,860

Commercial PAPEr .....ovuvet e 20,261 20,261

2,250,559 $ 2,250,559

Other investments:

Equity mutual funds ..o 11,069

2,261,628
Less:cash equivalents ...........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeenaens 1,446,720
Total INvestments ...........ccoeeveviiiienieiieiiieiieieeeee. 3 814,908

Level I - Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 - Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities
in less active markets, such as dealer or broker markets; and
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Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers
are unobservable, such as pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques not based on market,
exchange, dealer, or broker-traded transactions.

Interest rate risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the
fair value of investment.

The City limits its interest rate risk in accordance with the City’s Board of Finance policy by maintaining a minimum of
20 percent of the City’s investments in funds in liquid investments to include United States Government securities,
overnight repurchase agreements, and the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool, and by limiting the par value of
the portfolio invested for a period greater than one year at or below $100 million.

The Maryland Local Government Investment Pool is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
as an investment company but maintains a policy to operate in a manner consistent with SEC Rule 2a7 of the Investment
Company Act of 1940.

Credit risk of debt securities—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligation.

The City Board of Finance limits City investments to only the highest rated investments in the categories discussed above.
The City’s rated debt investments as of June 30, 2023, were rated by a nationally recognized statistical rating agency and
are presented below using the Moody’s rating scale (expressed in thousands):

Quality Ratings

Investment Type Fair Value Aaa-AA+ Al1-P1  Not Rated
Debt Securities:

U.S. TICASULY . oeetienieeiteeeeeaeiieeeeiteeeeeeeeeveeeeneeeeeen. B 434,942 $ 434,942

U.S. AGENCIES .oiiiiiiiiiiiiit et ee e ee e ee e ee e ee e aaees 296,496 296,496

Repurchase Agreements .........c.oveieieeeriiiieeiiieeeiieeeannss 95,000 $ 95,000
Money market mutual funds .................ccoeiiii e 1,403,860 1,403,860

Commercial PAPET .. ....eiveete et 20,261 $ 20,261

Total debt securities ...........occevuveiiivuiiiiieeieiieneeee.... $2,250,559 $2,135298 $ 20,261 $ 95,000

Concentration of credit risk—Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s
investment in a single issuer. The City has not adopted a formal policy on the concentration of credit risk.

Retirement Systems

The City’s three Retirement Systems (Systems or System) are authorized by the Baltimore City Code to make investments
in accordance with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the Code. The Board of Trustees of each system accomplishes
the daily management of the investments through an external investment advisor, who acts as a fiduciary for each system,
and through external investment managers. The Board of Trustees for each system invests the assets of the system using
the “prudent person standard”, which allows the Board to consider the probable safety of investments, avoid speculative
investments, and invest as people of prudence, discretion, and intelligence would in a similar situation. The Boards of
Trustees have adopted an investment policy and guidelines for each system to formally document their investment
objectives and responsibilities. Leveling tables as required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) are
available in the separately issued statements for the Systems.
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The invested assets of the retirement systems as of June 30, 2023, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Carrying Value
Elected Fire and Police
Employees' Officials' Employees'
Retirement Retirement Retirement

Investment Type System System System Total
Debt Securities:
U.S. Treasury notes andbonds ........................ $ 20,798 $ 76,147 $ 96,945
U.S. Government agency bonds ....................... 31,020 31,020
Corporate bonds ...........cooivriiiiiiiiiiiiian, 66,963 $ 5,647 88,769 161,379
Commingled fixed income fund ...................... 224,932 255,006 479,938
U.S. Quasi and Foreign Government ................. 53,599 53,599

Total debt securities ....................... 366,292 5,647 450,942 822,881
Other:
Domestic eqUities ......o.vviriiiriiiiriieinenannns 473,565 9,139 393,576 876,280
Mutual funds ... 40,870 120 42,000 82,990
International eqUIties ..........c.evviveriirinninnns.n. 304,302 5,352 416,224 725,878
Defensive equities ........ovvviiriiriiriiiianinnannns, 145,177 3,521 148,698
Dynamic US equity fund.....................ooooeiea. 77,473 77,473
Hedge funds .........cooooiiiiiiiii 185,057 185,057
Commingled equity fund ... 554,096 554,096
Private equity funds .................ooiiiiiinl, 429,184 492,462 921,646
Private energy funds ... 155,454 155,454
Real eState ......c.oovviiniiiiii i 273,959 3,389 307,836 585,184

Total other ..., 1,667,057 21,521 2,624,178 4,312,756

Total investments .......................... 2,033,349 27,168 3,075,120 5,135,637
Less: Cash and cash equivalents ...................... 40,870 120 42,000 82,990
Total net investment .....................cocooiiiin... $ 1992479 $ 27,048 $ 3,033,120 $ 5,052,647

Foreign Currency Risk Exposure — Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect
the fair value of an investment or a deposit.

The Fire and Police Employee’s Retirement System’s Board of Trustees has adopted a policy that the external managers
demonstrate sensitivity to currency risk. The foreign currency exposure of the Fire and Police Employee’s Retirement
System may be hedged back to the U.S. dollar using forward foreign exchange contracts. From 0% to 100% of the foreign
currency exposure of the portfolio may be hedged. Cross-hedging to currencies other than the U.S. dollar may reach 25%
of the total portfolio. Currency speculation is not permitted.

The Employees’ Retirement Systems Board of Trustees has not adopted a formal policy to limit foreign currency risk.
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The foreign currency risk for each system as of June 30, 2023 is presented on the following table (expressed in thousands):

Fire and Police
Employees’ Employees’
Retirement Retirement

Currency System System Total

Furo Currency UNit ......coveviiiieiieie e ie et eee B 50,850 $ 110,068 $ 160,918
Australian Dollar ..o 9,933 1,046 10,979
Brazil Real ........ooooiii i 4,374 2,172 6,546
British Pound Sterling ............coooueiieiiiriiiiieeie e e 79,648 79,648
Canadian DoTIar ...ttt e 13,358 17,025 30,383
Chinese Yuan Renminbi............cooouiiiiiiiiiiiiieieece et e 978 978
DaniSh KIOME .. .nveeie e e e e e e e e 1,237 7,866 9,103
Hong Kong Dollar .........ouviuiiioiiiii e et e e e e 10,565 3,285 13,850
Indonesian RUPIAN ..........iveiiiniiniitint e e e e e 1,049 3,324 4,373
ISTACH SKEKEL. .o oot e e e e e e 1,033 1,033
Japanese YOn .......ouiiiie i e 30,176 35,881 66,057
MEXICAN PESO ..uvuvtiitiit it e e e 1,007 1,662 2,669
New Taiwan Dollar ...........coooviiiiiiiii e 2,193 2,973 5,166
New Zealand Dollar ... e 1,270 1,270
Norwegian KIone ........oo.evuiriiiiiiiiie et 301 301
POLISH ZIOLY . oviiviet et e e et e e 480 527 1,007
Pound Sterling ..........vveiiniitiitir e 33,149 33,149
Russian RUbIe ... e 203 203
Singapore DOMIAr .. ....vvviieie e 4,764 2,808 7,572
South African CommRand ....................oi i 669 669
South KOTean WoOM ...o.oeu et e e e e e 3,921 4,675 8,596
SWedisSh Kromna ...t e 5,295 8,275 13,570
SWISS FTanc .....ovuiirietii e e e e 9,223 23,399 32,622
Thai Baht ..o e 611 1,369 1,980
UAEDITham ...t 724 724
Total Foreigh CUITENCY ....viiuisec e D 186,694 $ 306,672 $ 493,366

Interest rate risk — The Fire and Police Employee’s Retirement System Board of Trustees uses the Option Adjusted
Duration as a measure of interest rate sensitivity for bonds. Duration is a measure of the approximate sensitivity of a bond’s
value to interest rate changes. The Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees’ fixed income interest
rate policy states that the effective duration of a portfolio may not exceed 120% of the effective duration of the underlying
Bloomberg Barclay’s U.S. Aggregate Bond Index.

Both the Employees’ Retirement System and the Elected Officials’ Retirement System have selected the duration method
to disclose the debt securities exposure to changes in interest rates. However, both plans have not adopted a formal policy
to limit interest rate risk.

Credit Risk — The Boards of Trustees of the City’s three retirement systems have not adopted a formal policy to limit credit
risk.
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The credit rating and duration of investments as of June 30, 2023, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Carrying
Asset Type Duration Value AAA thru A BBB thru B CCCthruC Not Rated
Employees' Retirement System:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ...........ccccoeeveieeineieennennss 8.94 $ 20798 $ 20,798
Emerging market bond CIT-Class B ..... 3.82 65,195 11,083 $ 488% $ 5,216
US Quasi and Foreign government ...... 572 53,599 42,577 1,058 $ 9,964
Corporate bonds ..........coeeveeeennennn. 6.38 66,963 31,486 22,034 13,443
Bank loan fund .........ccccooiiiii 0.36 84,660 1,390 71,258 8,008 4,004
MCM Lehman aggregate bond index ...........c.cccoeeiuenenen 6.34 75,077 65,655 9,422
Total debt securities ............coovevviiniinenniinennnn $ 366292 $ 172989 $ 152,668 $ 13224 $ 27411
Elected Officials' Retirement System:
Aggregate bond indexfund .................oooeiiiiiiiiiiin. 6.34 $ 2,697 $ 2,697
US Seniorloan fund ........c.occoeoiiiiiiiii 0.42 2,060 2,060
Core Plus bond fund .........c.ocoevviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee.. 6.06 890 890
Total debt SECUTIties .........c.oveviveeiririeeienienenas $ 5647 $ 5,647
Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ..............cccceeveeieiieeneenns. 7.20 $ 76,147 $ 75,965 $ 182
U.S. Government agency bonds ... 5.56 31,020 31,020
Barclay aggregate indeX .........c.uoueiiuiiiiiiiiiieieieen 6.34 71,856 71,856
NHIT agency mbs trust .... 6.07 23,650 23,650
Corporate bonds ................ 2.49 88,769 32373 $ 44,366 12,030
Emerging market debt fund ..............cooooiiiiiiiin 3.15 64,160 64,160
MOM TIPS ..ottt 6.64 92,805 92,805
Senior floating rate fund .......... 0.09 2,535 2,535
Total debt SECUTities ..............ccoeeiviieiiiii $ 450942 $ 327,669 $ 111,061 $ 12212

The City’s Retirement Systems have entered into a Securities Lending Authorization Agreement with BNY Mellon Bank
(the Custodian) authorizing them to lend its available securities. All individual securities which are readily marketable and
which are not restricted due to an outstanding short option are eligible for loan at the discretion of the custodian bank. The
investment manager may lend securities held in custody of commingled funds if authorized in a manager’s contract with
the Retirement Systems.

Collateral received in exchange for securities loaned is collected in an escrow account for the Retirement Systems’ benefit
for the duration of the loan. At no time do the Retirement Systems lose custody of either the security or the collateral.
Collateral in exchange for the principal lent may be in the form of cash, or securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S.
government, or its agencies or instrumentalities. The minimum levels of collateral are set at 102% of the market value of
domestic securities loaned, including all accrued income, and 105% of the market value of international securities loaned,
including all accrued income. If the market value of the collateral falls below 100% of the loaned securities, additional
collateral is deposited to adjust up to the appropriate minimum level of collateral. All collateral amounts are adjusted to
market daily. The City’s Retirement Systems do not have the right to sell or pledge securities received as collateral without
borrower default.

As of June 30, 2023, the Retirement Systems had no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts they owed
borrowers exceeded the amounts the borrowers owed the Retirement Systems. The market value of securities on loan as
of June 30, 2023, was $134,823,000, and the market value of the collateral received for those securities on loan was
$142,180,000 which included collateral received in cash in the amount of $55,960,000. The Retirement Systems did not
impose any restrictions during the fiscal year on the amount of loans the custodian made on their behalf. The terms of the
Securities Lending Authorization Agreement require that the custodian indemnify the retirement systems against: (1) the
failure to demand adequate and appropriate collateral from a borrower as and when required pursuant hereto; (2) the failure
to comply with the investment guidelines in connection with the investment and reinvestment of cash collateral; (3) the
failure to obtain and perfect a security interest or rights equivalent thereto in and to the collateral; or (4) the failure to make
a reasoned determination of the creditworthiness of any borrower. There were no such failures by any borrowers during
the fiscal year. Moreover, there were no losses during the fiscal year resulting from default of the borrowers or the
custodian.
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Substantially all securities loans can be terminated on demand either by the custodian or by the borrower, although
generally the average term of these loans is one week. Cash collateral is invested in the custodian’s short-term investment
pool. The short-term investment pool guidelines specify that a minimum of 20% of the invested cash collateral is to be
available each business day and the dollar-weighted average maturity of holding must not exceed 90 days.

Other Postemployment Benefits Fund

The City’s Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fund (OPEB Trust Fund) is authorized by the Baltimore City Code to
make investments in accordance with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the code. The Baltimore City Director of
Finance was made Trustee of the Trust and, under a Memorandum of Understanding between the Director of Finance and
the Board of Trustees of the Employees’ Retirement System (Board), the Board is charged with administration of the Trust
and investment of its assets. As part of its responsibility, the Board has adopted investment policies and guidelines, which
formally document its investment objectives and responsibilities.

The investment assets of the OPEB Trust Fund as of June 30, 2023, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months)

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 6 Greater than 12
Cash and cash €qUIVAIENTS ............coveiiiieeeeiiie e $ 31,295 $ 31,295

U.S. Treasury ObHZAtIONS .. ......vuuitiiiiiiitieieieie et e e e e 14,554 $ 14,554
U.S. GOVEINIMENt AZENCIES ... eveevietie et eetie e et ete e e e e et eeae e e e e e eaeeen s 13121 13121
COTPOTate DOMAS ... ettt et et et et 127,004 127,004
SUDLOLAL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt er e 185974 $ 31295 $ 154,679
REALESTALE ..ottt e e e e 84,321

SEOCKS . ettt ettt et 609,019

TOtal INVESTMENES ...evviviiiiiiie e iie et 879,314

Less: cash and cash equivalents .............ccooeoiiiieiireiineii e 31,295

Total NEt INVESTMENTS ....veeivvveeeiie ettt eeee D 848,019

The OPEB Trust Fund categorized their fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset
and given the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 measurements)
and the lowest priority to unobservable imputes (Level 3 measurements).

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active; and model derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable.

Level 3 — Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which significant inputs are unobservable.

Instruments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as practical expedient are
not classified in the fair value hierarchy.

In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the fair value hierarchy, fair value
measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the valuation. The table
on the following page shows the fair value leveling on the investments for the OPEB Trust Fund (amounts expressed in
thousands).

Equity securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. Debt Securities
classified in Level 1 and Level 2 are valued using a bid evaluation, mid evaluation, last trade or official close. Mid
evaluations are when a bid and ask evaluation are both present. Last trade is the most recent trade price of a security at
market close time. Official close is the closing price as defined by the exchange.
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Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for Significant Other Significant
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable
Investment by fair value level Base Amount (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
Debt securities
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ............cooiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiniin $ 14,554 $ 14,554
U.S. Government agency bonds .........c.ooeuvviiniiineieniniieieieneanns 13,121 $ 13,121
Corporate bonds . 26,789 26,789
Total debt securities at falr Value level 54,464 14,554 $ 39,910
Equity securities
DOMESTIC €QUILIES . .etueteet ettt et ettt et e ee e e e ee e e 137,677 137,677
International equities . 24,324 24,324
Total equity securities at falr value level 162,001 $ 162,001
Total investments by fair value level ............c.cooooiiiiiiiiin. 216,465

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

Commingled fixed INCOME ... ..ottt 100,215
DOMESTIC EQUILIES ...ttt ittt et ettt et e et ee e e 143,186
Defensive @QUILIES .. ..evvuitt ittt ee e e e e e 89,033
International qUItIes ............oiiiiitiiiiiii i 150,502
Real estate . 84,321
Private equmes 64,297
Total investments measured at the NAV 631,554
Total net iNVESTMENTS .. viuiiteeitirtiieiiieeeieeiieeisieieieeeseeeeeeneeeeee. B 848,019

The valuation method for investments measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV) per share, or equivalent, is presented in the
table below (expressed in thousands):

Unfunded Redemption
Investment Measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV) Base Annual Commitments Redemption Frequency Notice Period

Commingled fixed income..............ccccvene. $ 100,215 Daily, weekly & monthly 0 - 30 days (€D)]

Domestic eqUItieS .. ..ovvittittitiiiiieiieiie et 143,186 Daily, weekly & monthly 0-30days ()]

International equities.........cooiviiiiiiiiiiiiiii.n. 150,502 Daily, weekly & monthly 0 - 30days 3)

Defensive equities .. ...ooveuee ittt 89,033 Quarterly 0 - 30 days ()]

REALESTALE. ..o 84,321 Quarterly 90-100days  '(5)

Private equmes 64,297 Not eligible N/A '(6)
Total investments measured at the NAV $ 631,554 $

(1) Commingled fixed income investment is in two mutual funds. One seeks to provide a high level of current income, consistent with preservation of
capital by investing at least 80% of its net assets in adjustable-rate senior loans; while the second one actively tracks the performance of an index.

(2) Domestic Equity investments is in funds that seek long-term capital appreciation by investing at least 80% of its net assets, plus any borrowings for
investment purposes, in equity securities of large capitalization companies. Such large cap companies are those with total market capitalizations of $5
billion or more at the time of purchase.

(3) International equity investments are in both managed funds and direct investments. Investment in managed funds are in securities where rigorous
dividend discount analysis is used to identify value in terms of long term flow of income as well as in funds which employs strategies that seeks to
outperform the MSCI World index (half-hedged) while maintaining a similar level of market risk over the long term. The direct investment is focused
on protection in a down market while performing a rigorous fundamental analysis by assessing competitive framework, scrutinizing financials, analyzing
business environment and evaluating management.

(4) Defensive equity investment is in a fund that seek long-term growth of capital. The fund employs a strategy of writing collateralized put options on
the S&P 500 Index. The collateral generally consists of short duration, high quality fixed income positions with a focus on U.S. Treasuries.

(5) Real estate investment is in a core real estate fund. The investment style is based on strategies and tactics that are designed to take advantage of
barrier and rotational market dynamics.

(6) The System's private equity investments are with 9 managers, invested in Diversified, VVenture Capital, Distressed Debt, Buyouts, International and
Special Situations strategies. T hese investments are considered illiquid as redemptions are restricted over the life of the investment.

Interest Rate and Credit Risk—The Board has not adopted a formal policy to limit interest rate and credit risk.

Bonds held by the OPEB Trust Fund have ratings from AA1 to AA2.
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Baltimore City Public School System

The BCPSS, through the office of the Chief Financial Officer, pursues a cash management and investment program to
achieve the maximum financial return on available funds. Depending on the projected cash needs of the BCPSS, excess
funds may be invested on a short, intermediate or long-term basis at the best obtainable rates. Investments are generally in
direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government and are fully collateralized.

The BCPSS is authorized by State law to invest in direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government, repurchase
agreements and related mutual funds. The BCPSS’s investments as of June 30, 2023, are presented below. All investments
are presented by investment type (expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months) Max allowed

per Investment
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 3 3t0 12 Percent Policy
Money market funds .........cccooeeieiiiiie i B 155497 $ 155,497 21.6% 100.0%
COMMETCIAL PAPET ... evvi ettt et 20,972 20,972 2.9% 50
FIXEd MCOMIE ..ottt et 600 600 0.1% 100.0
BEQuity fUnds .....ooeovie e 490 490 0.1% 100.0
U.S. GOVEIrNMENt AZENCIES ......vveerveieereieeeeeieeeriieeeeiieeeeneeeene e seeen e 443,739 148802 $ 294,937 61.6% 100.0
U.S. Treasury 0blAtioNS ........ccoveeeiumeriiineiinniiiie et 98,833 49,839 48,994 13.7% 100.0
Total invested funds ............cccooeeeeen 720131 § 376200 § 343931 100.0%
Less: cash equivalents ..............occeeeveeen. 376,200

Total net investments ........ $ 343931 *

* Cash equivalents excludes $21,401,000 which is not invested.

Investments and Valuation - BCPSS categorizes its investments using the fair value measurements identified in the fair
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs
used to measure the fair value of the asset and gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level | measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level I - Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 - Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities
in less active markets, such as dealer or broker markets; and

Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers
are unobservable, such as pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques not based on market,
exchange, dealer or broker-traded transactions.

Transactions are recorded on the trade date, realized gains and losses are determined using the identified cost method. Any
change in net unrealized gain or loss from the preceding period is reported in the statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position. Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest is recorded on the accrual basis. Following
is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

BCPSS investments are comprised of money market funds, fixed income securities, commercial paper and U.S.
government securities and are valued at their Fair Value (FVs) or amortized cost.

Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets

for those securities. Debt securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing
technique.
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Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices. Commercial
and residential mortgage-backed securities classified in Level 3 are value using discounted cash flow techniques.
Collateralized debt obligations classified in Level 3 are valued using consensus pricing.

City Schools had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2023:

Balance
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 June 30, 2023

Investments by fair value lewvel:
Debt Securities:

BEquity FUNAS ..o e $ 490 $ 490

US Government Obligations ............coiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin $ 443,739 443,739

US Treasury OblZatiOns ........cooiiituiiiiiiie et iiiiiie e eeeeeen 98,833 98,833
Total Debt SECUTILIES .. ..tin ittt e e e e e e e eee s 490 542,572 543,062
Equity Securities:

FiXed INCOMIC .. uuuet et ittt e et e ee e et e ee e aaes 600 600

Commercial Paper ......ooooviiiiii e 20,972 20,972
Total EQUItYy SECUTILIES .. .ouunnietitt ettt ae e ee e et ee e e e ee e ee e aeee 600 20,972 21,572
Total Investment by fair value level ...............cooiiiiiiiiiiieee.  $ 1,090 $ 563,544 564,634
Investments carried at amortized cost:

Deposits (reported as cash and cash equivalents) ........................

Money Market Mutual Funds ...........cooiiiiiii i 155,497
Total Investments at amortized COSt ... ...oouiiiiiii it 155,497
Total INVESTMENTS ..ot e e i $ 720,131

Investment Ratings - Ratings apply to all Money Market funds, Checking, Commercial Paper, and U.S. Government
Agencies (expressed in thousands):

Moody Percent Fair Value S&P Percent Fair Value

AAA L 21.0% $ 150,661

Aaa .. 17.0% $ 125,657

Pl 29 20,972

Notrated ......ooeiivieiiiieecie e 76.2 548,498 30 20,972
100.0% $ 720,131 80.0 573,502

100.0% $ 720,131

Interest Rate Risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the
fair value of investments. The BCPSS limits its interest rate risk in accordance with their policy by maintaining a minimum
of 20% of the BCPSS’s investment in funds in liquid investments which include U.S. Government Securities and Money
Market Mutual Funds.

Credit Risk—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation.

As stated above, the BCPSS limits investments to highly rated investments in the categories discussed above.

Cash and cash equivalents include Money Market deposits and other types of investments.

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) pursues a cash management and investment program to achieve the maximum
financial return on available funds. Investments consist of private debt obligations and money market funds with varying
maturity dates. Certain portions of the investments are used to fund operating activities of the entity and other portions are

used for debt repayment. These investments are stated at market value. Additional disclosures required by GASB 74 are
available in the separately issued BHC financial statements.
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The BHC has no formal policy for limiting risk associated with these investments. The City of Baltimore Department of
Finance directs the selection of investment funds. At year-end, BHC held investments in the amount of $26,898,000
consisting of repurchase agreements with various financial institutions and government money market funds.

Receivables, net

Receivable at year-end of the City’s major individual governmental funds, enterprise funds, and nonmajor and other funds
(including internal service and fiduciary funds) were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Grants Capital Non-major
General Revenue Projects Enterprise and Other
Receivables Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
PIOPEILY tAXES .. cvvvvve vt cvieii et O 45,261 $ 45261
Service billings.................. $ 190,139 190,139
Due from other governments... 104104 $ 46328 $ 30,013 645338 $ 2,007 827,790
Notes and mortgages receivable.. 258,280 8,497 266,777
Other receivable, net.............. 47,564 5,844 1,241 49,154 103,803

Total ..o, 9 455200 $ 46328 $ 35857 § 845215  $ 51161  $ 1433770

Unavailable property taxes include prepaid property taxes. Service billings are reported net of an allowance for doubtful
accounts of $229,095,000. Bad debt expense for fiscal year 2023 was $24,062,000.

Adjustments unrelated to consumption that resulted in reductions to income on Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater Utility
Fund customer accounts were recorded in the Water Utility Fund.

Capital Assets
Capital assets activities for the year ended June 30, 2023, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities Capital Assets:

Balance Balance
Class June 30, 2022 Additions Deductions June 30, 2023
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
0 ' PP $ 248,215 $ 248,215
Other .....ccoviviiiiieinnn. 113,085 $ 2,858 110,227
Construction in progress ... 274,237 $ 55,169 148,099 181,307
Total capital assets, not being depreciated .................ooii 635,537 55,169 150,957 539,749
Capital assets, being depreciated
Building and improvements ... ... ..ottt ittt 2,381,057 16,855 2,397,912
EQUIPIMENT .o e 499,548 6,983 10,645 495,886
INTTASTIUCTUTE ..ottt ittt et e e e et e e e ee e e et e e e e et e e e e e e iee e e s 3,117,721 131,244 3,248,965
5103 s o Y ) <P 35,219 2,191 24,319 13,091
Right-to-use leased building ...........coouiiitiiiiiiit e 49,650 5,113 1,577 53,186
SBITA .. 9,366 9,366
Total capital assets, being depreciated ...............o.cooo 6,083,195 171,752 36,541 6,218,406
Less: accumulated depreciation for:
Building and improvements ........ ..ottt e 1,443,034 39,581 1,482,615
EQUIPIMENT Lo et e 405,443 19,747 10,074 415,116
D = 8y Ued 01 by <SR 1,669,263 76,862 1,746,125
Library DOOKS ......ouiii i e 28,334 2,832 24,319 6,847
Right-to-use leased building ..ottt e 8,172 9,376 1,577 15,971
SBITA .. 1,251 1,251
Total accumulated depreciation ...............co.oiiiiiiiiiiiiii 3,554,246 149,649 35,970 3,667,925
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net ..... 2,528,949 22,103 571 2,550,481
Governmental activities capital assets, Net ...........ccoveviieiiiiiiaiiniiiiinieaeeenen.. 9 3,164,486 $ 77,272 $ 151,528 $ 3,090,230
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Business-type Activities Capital Assets:

Balance
Class June 30, 2022

Additions

Deductions

Balance
June 30, 2023

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Construction in Progress ........oo.eeeueeveneerareieuennens

$ 36,920
432,383

$ 317,590

$

88,064

$ 36,920
661,909

Total capital assets, not being depreciated ............c.ccoieiiiinin. 469,303

317,590

88,064

698,829

Capital assets, being depreciated

4,935,327
306,793

2,441,821

Building and improvements ...

Equipment ...........ccoveeuininen

INfrastructure .........o.ovvvviiiiinien e

1,898
3,806
86,166

4,937,225
310,599
2,527,987

Total capital assets, being depreciated ............coovieiiiiiiiiiiiiinns 7,683,941

91,870

7,775,811

Less: accumulated depreciation for:

Building and improvements ...............c.oiininiin e 1,485,464
150,259
375,045

Equipment .........
Infrastructure ........oooevvieeiiiiieiieeenes

95,219
10,583
40,130

1,580,683
160,842
415,175

Total accumulated depreciation ... s 2,010,768

145,932

2,156,700

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net ....... 5,673,173

(54,062)

5,619,111

Business-type activities capital assets, net ............cccocoeeeereieiiiieieiiiieiiiieeeieee. 3 6,142,476

$ 263,528

$

88,064

$ 6,317,940

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 (expressed in

thousands):

Governmental activities

GENETAl GOVEITIIMEIIT .ottt ittt ettt et ettt et e e e et et et e ee e et e ee e e et et e et ee e ee e te e ee e e e
Public safety and reguUlation ...ttt e e e e ee e
Conservation of health .. ... o e e e e e e e e e
G LT 181 o PN
PUDBHC HDTATY .. conitt ettt e e e e et e e e et e et e e et et et e e
Recreation and PATKS .. ... ..ot e e e ee e
Highways and STIrEELS .. ..ottt ittt ettt et et ettt et e ee e ee e et et ee e e e ae e
Sanitation and Waste TEMOVAL ......... .t e e e et et e e e e e e

Public service ..........

Economic deVEIOPIMENT .. ...... ittt ettt ettt ettt et e e et et et e e eee s
INterNal SEIVICE TUNAS .. outitii ettt ittt et ettt et ee e et ettt e ee e ee e ee e ee st tea e e ee e ee e eas e ee e ae e aeeann e nnes
1017 PP

$ 20,225
6,373
153
14,036
5777
9,655
72,041
1,820
2,562
850
16,257

$ 149,649

Business-type activities:

AT 11
R T o N ) PP
N0} 083100 1) PPN
ParKINg .. oeeoee ettt et e e e e e e et ee e e e
(7033 Ve L1 17
017 PP

$ 54,497
86,144

1,037

2,275

1,979

$ 145,932

As of June 30, 2023, the outstanding commitments relating to capital projects of the City of Baltimore amounted to
approximately $115,473,000 for governmental activities and $204,479,000 for business-type activities.

In July 2018, the City entered into a lease agreement with Maryland Economic Development Corporation (MEDCO) to
lease three parking garages terminating at the earlier of the 50th anniversary of closing or the date on which the MEDCO
Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds Series 2018 bonds (MEDCO Bonds) are fully repaid. The lease requires MEDCO to
operate the three parking garages in a first-class manner and to adopt, operate, and maintain the facilities in accordance
with City operating standards and a long-term capital plan. In exchange, MEDCO made an initial rent payment of
$55,955,000 and annually, MEDCO shall pay to the City of Baltimore rent in the amount of a distributable portion of the
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Surplus Fund, as defined in the trust indenture. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the
arrangement between MEDCO and the City of Baltimore qualifies as a service concession arrangement. In the Statement
of Net Position under governmental activities, $50,360,000 is reflected as a deferred inflow of resources (initial rent
payment of $55,955,000 less $5,595,000 recognized as revenue). The parking garages are continuing to be depreciated and

are reflected in the above governmental activities capital asset table.

Interfund Balances and Activity

A. BALANCE DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Balances due to/from other funds as of June 30, 2023, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Interfund
Fund Receivable Payable
GENETAL .. ..ttt $ 117,974 $ 149,214
L 2B L (o) 0 1< PN 115,625
(@ 103171 03 0] 1101 £~ S P PPN 32,192
NONMAJOT PTOPTICTATY - ...t ittt ettt ettt e et et e et ee et e e e ee et et ee ettt ee e ae et ee e eeanes 48,401
29,400

NONMAJOr GOVEINMENTAL .. ..ottt et et et et e ee e ee e
INEEINAL SEIVICE ..ot e ettt ettt et ettt ee e ee e ee e ee e ee e et
] 7 PO

1,396 40,172
$ 267,187 $ 267,187

The Interfund balances are primarily the result of the City’s policy not to reflect cash deficits in its individual funds.
Also, as of June 30, 2023, certain transactions between funds had not been completed.

TRANSFERS TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Transfers to/from other funds as of June 30, 2023, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Capital Grants Nonmajor Total
Fund CGeneral Projects Revenue Governmental  Parking Transfer To
General ......c.uevuieniiii e $ 3,690 $ 37313 3% 41,003
Grants TEVENUES .....oovuveveneereeeceeneeenneee. & 23,124 $ 723 4,883 28,730
Capital Projects .....ooeveeviereriieieriieiereievennns 90,500 $ 5,525 96,025
Total transfers from..............c.........  $ 113624 $ 3690 $ 723 $ 5525 $ 42196 $ 165,758

Transfers were primarily to the General Fund to provide funds for debt service and to transfer excess revenue from
the Proprietary Funds to the General Fund.

DEFICITS

The following funds had a deficit fund balance/net position as of June 30, 2023, (expressed in thousands):

Internal service funds:
Municipal COMMUIICALION ... .evievvietie e it ervie st erie s et e e e e et te e e e e e sie e s e ersease e s seniee s e eneneeneen D (2,36D)
Reproduction and PIINEING ...........cc.wvuesiieeiietie et eie e et e et et e et s et s e e e et e s e s s ee e e e eas e s (3,623)
MURNICIPAL POSE OFFICE . vevveties it et ettt e et et ettt e e et easer et e e ae e (1,085)
BUilding MAINTENANCE . ...vti ittt ettt et ettt et ettt e et et et et et e e e e e e e ae et (11,257)

Deficits in the above funds are temporary and are not expected to continue. They should be eliminated in the future
periods.
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7. Long-term Obligations

A. LONG-TERM OBLIGATION ACTIVITY

The City does not have a debt limit; however, the Constitution of Maryland requires a three-step procedure for the

creation of debt:

« Act of the General Assembly of Maryland or resolution of the majority of Baltimore City delegates

»  Ordinance of the Mayor and City Council
» Ratification by the voters of Baltimore City

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2023, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

New Debt  Debt Due Within
June 30,2022 Issued  Retired June 30,2023  One Year
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES*
General Obligation Bonds:
HIZRWAYS .ot D 566 $ 26 % 30 $ 63
Health ..o o1 207 714 m
PUBEC SAELY .o 1155 §$ 12 249 918 139
OFf-Street PArKINg ......vecovvvvireeeiriire ettt 1,847 1721 126 51
Recreation and parks ...........co.eooveeiireiie s 28,679 21,061 3,031 46,709 2,520
Public buildings and facilities ..............ccvcveoriiverievrieienie e 124247 (1,728) 8,718 113,801 6,643
SCROOL ..ot s 159544 2249 19316 162477 13,992
Uhan teNEWal ..........eveveriiie et 223267 20,705 25303 218,669 15,859
UNAOCAEEA ... 1,252 876 376 185
Total general obligation bonds .............ccoveeevvrnriiiiniiiiniis 541,478 62,299 59,667 544,110 39,573
Special Obligation Bonds
Special Obligation Bonds ...........cc.vevmieraeiraeie e 334,405 39,285 4,883 368,807 5415
Long-term financing with the Federal Government:
Federal economic development 10ans ..............co.voveeeinireeeininennann 7,995 3411 4,584 2410
Total Governmental ACHIVItIES ........cccovvvvvevieiriviieieiee. $ 883878 $ 101584 $ 67961 $ 917501 $§ 47,398
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIMTIES
General Obligation Bonds:
SEOTTIWALET ... vve et eee et e e ceeeeeneieere e 3 3283 8 126§ 464 $ 2945 § 221
Total Business-Type Activities .........ccoovmvciiiioeiee. $ 32838 126 § 464§ 2945 $ 221
COMPONENT UNIT - BALTIMORE CITY PUBLIC
SCHOOL SYSTEM
Bonds:
SCROOIS .ecvveveer et 9 36,141 $ 15797 $ 2034 $ 123%

*Included in the Statement of Net Position for Governmental Activities is a remaining unamortized premium of $104,374,000
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Fixed Rate General Obligation Bonds
On August 3, 2022, the City issued general obligation bonds, Series 2022-A and 2022-B, in the amounts of $46,425,000

and $16,000,000, respectively, and totaling $62,425,000 for various capital projects. Interest on the bonds is due each
April 15" and October 15" and mature on October 15, 2042.

Special Obligations Bonds

On September 8, 2022, the City issued Subordinate Special Obligation Revenue Bonds (Harbor Point Project), Series 2022,
in the aggregate principal amount of $39,285,000. The proceeds will be used to finance public infrastructure improvements
in the development district. Interest on the bonds is due each June 1st and December 1st and mature on June 1, 2051.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences as of June 30, 2023, totaled $170,817,000 for governmental activities and $13,446,000 for business-
type activities, of which $43,176,000 and $6,092,000, respectively, were due within one year. For the Baltimore City Public
School System, compensated absences and early retirement incentive plan amounts totaled $71,403,000.

Changes in compensated absences during fiscal year 2023, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
Balance, June 30,2022 ...c.oueiee e $ 181,744 $ 14,408 $ 196,152
Leave €arned .. ooonne et e 32,249 5,130 37,379
Leave USEd . .voiniiiti ittt (43,176) (6,092) (49,268)
Balance, June 30, 2023 ... ..o $ 170,817 $ 13446 $ 184,263
Due in one year $ 43,176 $ 6,002 $ 49,268

Parking Facilities Fund Revenue Sharing Agreement

The Parking Facilities Fund entered into two revenues sharing arrangements with the State of Maryland in 2001 and 2003
for the development of two parking garages. In exchange for a $9,000,000 investment from the State, the City agreed to
share 5% interest annually on the investment, payable to the State when the garages began to generate positive cash flow.
In fiscal year 2023, the Parking Facilities Fund reflected $450,000 of interest expense accrued.
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B. DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Debt service requirements on long-term debt as of June 30, 2023, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Long-Term Financing

with Federal Special Obligation

General Obligation Bonds Government Bonds
Interest
Rate Swap

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Net(a) Principal Interest Principal Interest
2024 . ... .. $ 39,573 $ 21,850 $ 2,410 $ 119 $ 5415 $ 17,171
2025 ... ... 41,476 19,951 1,352 58 7,348 16,880
2026 ............ 41,166 18,046 822 14 8,190 16,530
2027 ... 40,872 16,137 8,842 16,145
2028 ............ 40,356 14,291 9,849 15,731
2029-2033 ....... 161,688 48,058 60,588 70,780
2034-2038 ....... 120,672 20,613 83,978 53,496
2039-2043 .. ..... 58,307 4,086 82,572 31,365
2044-2048 . ... ... 61,855 15,339
2049-2052 ....... 40,170 2,865

Totals ...... $ 544,110 $ 163,032 $ $ 4584 $ 191 $ 368,807 $ 256,302

(@) Interest Rate Swap Net payments represent estimated additional interest payable to counterparties for
additional interest resulting from swap agreements. The additional payments were computed using rates as of
June 30, 2023, assuming current interest rates remain the same for the remaining term of the swap. As rates vary,
variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.

Business-type Activities

General Obligation Bonds

Fiscal Year Principal Interest
2024 . $ 222 $ 116
202D . e e 234 105
2026 .. 174 96
2027 . e e 138 90
2028 . 144 84
2029-2083 . .. 812 328
2034-2038 . . . e 973 146
2039-2043 . . . 248 13
Lo = P $ 2945 % 978

A summary of general obligation bonds outstanding and bond anticipation notes outstanding, and bonds authorized but
unissued (expressed in thousands) as of June 30, 2023, are as follows:

Authorized
Outstanding But Unissued
Purpose Due Dates Interest Rates Amount Amount
Fire, police, and public ProteCtion ..............ooiuiuiituteiee ittt ee et e ae e 2018t0 2035 1.0%to50% $ 918 $ 6
OFF-STIEEt PATKINE ...\ v ittt e e et e e e et e e et e et e e et et e e e e 2018 t0 2026  1.0% to 5.0% 126 345
ReCTeation and PATKS .. ... .uieiittiet et ie ettt ae e e et et et et e 2018 to 2035 1.0% to 6.0% 46,629 5,440
Public buildings and fACIIEIES .. ......c.uuuit it ettt e 2018 to 2035 1.0% to 5.0% 113,800 148,534
SCROOIS .ttt e e e e e e e e e e 2018 to 2035 1.0% to 5.8% 162,477 103,805
Urban renewal and deVEIOPIMENT .. .....uviiiiiniet et et ettt ettt e e e e e 2018 to 2035 1.0% to 6.0% 218,669 119,314
HIZRWAYS ..ottt ettt et et e 201810 2026 1.0% to 5.0% 318 22
Finance ... 20,000
Health .... 2018 to 2032 1.0% to 6.0% 714 4,071
SEOTITIWALET « -+ e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 2018 to 2026 1.0% to 5.5% 2,945
UNAIOCALE . o. ettt ettt et et et et ettt ettt et et et et e e e 2018 to 2026  1.0% to 5.0% 459
TOLALS oottt e e $ 547,055 $ 401,537
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Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) Bonds

BCPSS has issued the City Schools Qualified School Construction Bonds Series 2009 (the Series 2009 Construction
Bonds) in the amount of $50,800,000, maturing through the year ending June 30, 2025. The net proceeds of Series 2009
Construction Bonds were used to fund various capital improvements to existing schools within BCPSS.

As BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are to be drawn from the Series 2009
Construction Bonds escrow account to fund capital expenditures. The interest rates on the bonds include a Tax Credit rate
of 5.90% and an interest rate of 1.25%, and interest is payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15, and December
15 of each year. Principal sinking fund payment started on December 15, 2014. As of June 30, 2023, the outstanding
balance of the Series 2009 Construction Bonds is $8,300,000.

In January 2011, BCPSS issued the City Schools Qualified School Construction Bonds Series 2011 in the amount of
$60,825,000, maturing through the year ending June 30, 2026. The net proceeds of the Series 2011 Bonds were used to
fund various capital improvements to existing schools within BCPSS.

As BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are drawn from the Series 2011 Bonds
escrow account to fund capital expenditures. The interest rates on the Bonds is 5.69% and interest is payable semi-annually
on June 15 and December 15 of each year. As of June 30, 2023, the outstanding balance on the Series 2011 Bonds is
$12,000,000.

Future minimum bond payments are as follows at fiscal year ending June 30, 2023 (expressed in thousands):

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2024 .o e B 12,326 4,097 $ 16,423
2025 e e e e e e 5,990 3,674 9,664
2026 ..t e e e 2,028 1,731 3,759
TOLALS vttt et e e e e, B 20,344 6 9502 $ 29,846
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8. Revenue Bonds
Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Revenue Bonds

The City has issued revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used to provide funds for capital improvements to Water,
Wastewater and Stormwater facilities. Assets with a carrying value of $346,656,000 as of June 30, 2023, and revenues of
the Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater Funds are pledged as collateral for the bonds. Bonds outstanding as of June 30,
2023 consist of (expressed in thousands):

Water Utility Wastewater Stormwater
Fund Utility Fund Utility Fund

Serial bonds series, 2003-B maturing in annual installments from $71,081 to $73,094 through February 1, 2031,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ................ $ 544
Serial bonds series, 2004-A maturing in annual installments from$211 118to $218 042through February 1,2032,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ................ 1,908
Serial bonds series, 2004-C maturing in annual installments from$904 000 to $907 000 through February 1,2024,

with interest rate at 0.25%, payable semiannually ................ $ 907
Serial bonds series, 2005-A maturing in annual installments from$104 000 to $1 102,000 through February 1,2024,

with interest rate at 0.25%, payable semiannually ..... 104
Serial bonds series, 2006-A maturing in annual installments from $495,000 to $1,548,000 through February 1, 2025,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ................. 2,043
Serial bonds series, 2006-B maturing in annual installments from$185 000 to $361 000 through February 1, 2026,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ................ 905
Serial bonds series, 2007-A maturing in annual installments from$75 198 to $78 574through February 1, 2035,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ................ 854
Serial bonds series, 2007-A maturing in annual installments from$1 704,000 to $2 174,000 through February 1, 2026,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ................ 6,046
Serial bonds series, 2007-B maturing in annual installments from$156 000 to $161 000 through February 1, 2027,

with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ................ 641
Serial bonds series 2009 maturing in annual installments from$102 451to $124 415 through June 15, 2024,

with interest at 4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. $ 124
Serial bonds series, 2009-A maturing in annual installments of$426 167 through February 1, 2029,

with an interest rate at 0.00% ................. 2,557
Serial bonds series, 2009-B maturing in annual installments of$91 149 through February 1, 2030,

with an interest rate at 0.00% .................. 555
Serial bonds series, 2009-B maturing in annual installments of$586 172 from February 1, 2019through February 1,2043,

with an interest rate at 0.00% .... 11,723
Serial bonds series, 2009-E maturing in annual installments of $157,842 through February 1, 2032,

with an interest rate at 0.00% .................. 1,421
Serial bonds series, 2011-B maturing in annual installments of$140 980 to $172 023 through February 1,2043,

with interest rates of 1.00% ................ 3,135
Serial bonds series, 2011-B maturing in annual installments of$178 688 to $203 363 through February 1,2033,

with interest rates of 1.00% .. 1,945
Serial bonds series 2012 maturing in annual installments from$207 900 to $256 850 through October 1, 2027,

with interest rates of 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 1,223
Serial bonds series, 2013-A maturing in annual installments of $1,634,802 to $1 798,836 through February 1,2034,

with interest rate at 0.80%, payable semiannually .. 13,252
Serial bonds series, 2013-A maturing in annual installments of $2,910,000 to $3,055,000 through July 1, 2023,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 3,055
Serial bonds series, 2013-B maturing in annual installments of $3,690,000 to $3 880,000 through July 1,2033,

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 3,880
Serial bonds series, 2013-C maturing in annual installments of $1,570,000 to $2 540,000 through JuIy 1,2032,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 20,985
Serial bonds series, 2013-C maturing in annual installments of $2,765,000 to $2 900,000 through JuIy 1, 2023,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 2,900
Serial bonds series, 2013-D maturing in annual installments from $2,980,000 to $6 420,000 through JuIy 1, 2023,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ... 6,420
Serial bonds series, 2013-E maturing in annual installments of $2,225,000 to $3,030,000 through July 1, 2026,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 11,100
Serial bonds series, 2014-A maturing in annual installments of $2,144,262 to $2 464,774 through February 1, 2035,

with interest rates at 1.00% payable semiannually .. 24,371
Serial bonds series, 2014-A maturing in annual installments of$2 110,000 to $3785 000 through JuIy 1, 2034,

with interest rates from2.00% to 5.00% payable SemIaNTUAILY ............oeirtirtirs it ettt e 35,235
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Water Utility
Fund

Wastewater
Utility Fund

Stormwater

Utility Fund

Termbond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2037 ........cceoriiiiiiesneeeiiiiie e 12,535
Termbond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2039 . 9,430
Termbond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2044 . 28,040
Serial bonds series, 2014-B maturing in annual installments of $1,160,000 to $4,825,000 through July 1, 2034,

with interest rates of 5.00% payable semiannually .. 26,845
Termbond series 2014-B with interest at 5.00%, payable sem]annually,due Ju]yl 2037 .. 7,065
Serial bonds series, 2014-C maturing in annual installments of $830,000 to $3,905 OOOthrough July 1,2034

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00% payable semiannually .. 25,325
Termbond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semtannually,due July 1,2039 .. 6,225
Serial bonds series, 2014-C maturing in annual installments of $1,630,000 to $3,350, OOOthrough July 1,2034

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ..

Termbond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semtannually, due July 1,2039 ..

Termbond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2044 ..
Serial bonds series, 2014-D maturing in annual installments of $4,060,000 to $10,835,000 through July 1,2034

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. e
Serial bonds series, 2014-E maturing in annual installments of$175000t0 $3 935 OOOthrough July 1,2032

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ..
Serial bonds series, 2015-A maturing in annual installments of $990000to $1 122,000 fromthrough February 1, 2035,

with interest rates of 0.90%, payable semiannually... .
Serial bonds series, 2015-B maturing in annual installments of$3 396,653 to $3 920, 216through February 1, 2037,

with interest rates of 0.90%, payable semiannually ..
Serial bonds series, 2016-A maturing in annual installments of $753 999 to $903 935through February 1, 2047 through

with interest rates of 0.70%, payable semiannually .. RO
Serial bonds series 2016 maturing in annual installments from $447 055 to $662 235through Apnl 1, 2031,

with interest rates 0f 2.75% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ..
Serial bonds series 2017-A maturing in annual installments from $3,070,000 to $6,080,000 through July 1, 2036,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 63,185
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semlannually,due Julyl 2041 . 35,270
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2046 .. 45,010
Serial bonds series 2017-B maturing in annual installments from $1,250,000 to $1,680,000 through July 1, 2028,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 8,945
Serial bonds series 2017-C maturing in annual installments from $820000to $2 825,000 through July 1, 2038,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 22,840
Serial bonds series 2017-D maturing in annual installments from $170000t0 $5 800,000 through July 1, 2035,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 37,600
Serial bonds series 2017-E maturing in annual installments from $2 474,024 to $3 092,422 through Feb 1, 2050,

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually .. 76,028
Serial bonds series 2017-A maturing in annual installments from $1 895,000 to $6 415,000 through JuIy 1, 2036,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually .. RO,
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1,2041.
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2046 .. .
Serial bonds series 2017-B maturing in annual installments from $750,000 to $10,500,000 through July 1, 2036,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ..

Termbond series 2017-B with interest at 5.00%, payable semtannually, due July 1,2039 ..
Serial bonds series 2017-C maturing in annual installments from $795,000 to $6,835,000 through JuIy 1, 2036,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ..
Serial bonds series 2017-D maturing in annual installments from $139 520 to $175 375through Feb 1, 2040,

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually .. .
Serial bonds series 2018-A maturing in annual installments from$4 613,248 to $5 812,490 through Feb 1, 2051,

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually .. U
Serial bonds series 2018 maturing in annual installments from $280 7720 $513 317through Apnl 1, 2034,

with interest rates of 3.5% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ..
Serial bonds series 2018-C maturing in annual installments from $521 314 to $606 526through Feb 1, 2040,

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually .. -
Serial bonds series 2018-D maturing in annual installments from$4 329,075to $9 862,630 through July 1, 2053,

with interest rates of 2.88%, payable semiannually .. .
Serial bonds series 2019-A maturing in annual installments from $2 470,000 to $8 310,000 through JuIy 1, 2050,

with interest rates 0f4.00% to 5.00%, payable Semiannually ............cc.oieiiiirt i 68,920
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Water Utility Wastewater Stormwater
Fund Utility Fund Utility Fund

Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2044 .. $ 31,615

38,465

Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2049 ..
Serial bonds series 2019-A maturing in annual installments from $1,685,000 to $3,755,000 through July 1, 2039,

with interest rates 0f 4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. $ 46,130
21,150
26,255

Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable scmlannually, due July 1,2044 ..

Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2049 ..
Serial bonds series 2019-A maturing in annual installments from $760,000 to $1,710,000 through July 1, 2029,

with interest rates of 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. $ 21,040

9,635

11,965

Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1,2044 ..

Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2049 ...
Serial bonds series 2019-B maturing in annual installments from $165,000 to $3,465,000 through July 1, 2038,

with interest rates of 3.00% to 4.00%, payable semiannually .. 14,890
Termbond series 2019-B with interest at 4.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1,2033 .. 995
Serial bonds series 2019-B maturing in annual installments from $38,013 to $41, 583through Feb 1, 2040,

with interest rates of 0.50%, payable semiannually ..
Serial bonds series 2019-B maturing in annual installments from $298 079 to $344466through Feb 1, 2050,

with interest rates of 0.50%, payable semiannually .. 8,723
Serial bonds series 2019-C maturing in annual installments from $110 000 to $2 855,000 through July 1, 2038,

with interest rates of 3.00% to 4.00%, payable semiannually ..

679

9,200
765

Termbond series 2019-C with interest at 4.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1,2034 .
Serial bonds series 2019-C maturing in annual installments from $415,000 to $461,790 through Febr 1, 2040,

with interest rates of 0.50%, payable semiannually .. 7,546
Serial bonds series 2020-A maturing in annual installments from $2 990,000 to $13 995,000 through July 1, 2034,

with interest rates of 0.373% to 2.225%, payable semiannually .. 133,115
83,275
Termbond series 2020-A with interest at 2.864%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2043 .. 32,015
‘Serial bonds series 2020-A maturing in annual installments from $1,790,000 to $4,190,000 through July 1, 2040,

with interest rates 0f 4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ..

Termbond series 2020-A with interest at 2.814%, payable semlannually, due July 1,2040 ..

52,690
23,605
29,290

Termbond series 2020-A with interest at 4.00%, payable scmlannually, due July 1,2045

Termbond series 2020-A with interest at 5.00, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2050
Serial bonds series 2020-B maturing in annual installments from $4,465,000 to $15,720,000 through July 1,2034,

with interest rates of 0.393% to 2.225%, payable semiannually .. 165,245
Termbond series 2020-B with interest at 2.814%, payable semlannually, due July 1,2040 .. 91,345
40,420

Termbond series 2020-B with interest at 2.864%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2043 ..
Serial bonds series 2021-A maturing in annual installments from $1,000 to $2,954,518 through February 1, 2051,

with interest rates of 0.40%, payable semiannually .. 78,427
Serial bonds series 2021-A maturing in annual installments from $1 000 to $2 199, 631through February 1, 2052,

with interest rates of 0.40%, payable semiannually .. 60,356
Serial bonds series 2021-A maturing in annual installments from $300 148 to $336 987through February 1, 2051,

with interest rates of 0.40%, payable semiannually .. 8,945
Serial bonds series 2021-B maturing in annual installments from $865 243to $1 640,819 through July 1, 2060,

with interest rates of 0.40%, payable semiannually .. 42,461
Serial bonds series 2021-C maturing in annual installments from $917 887 to $991 294through February 1, 2041,

with interest rates of 0.40%, payable semiannually .. 17,252
Serial bonds series 2021-C maturing in annual installments from$4 815,100 to $8 334,749 through July 1, 2056,

with interest rates of 1.91%, payable semiannually .. 192,610
Serial bonds series 2021-E maturing in annual installments from $1 000 to $183 148through February 1,2042,

with interest rates of 0.40%, payable semiannually ..
Serial bonds series 2021-G maturing in annual installments from$4 019,269 to $6 957,198 through July 1, 2056,

with interest rates of 1.91%, payable semiannually .. 160,775
Serial bonds series 2022A maturing in annual installments from $371 000 to $478 OOOthrough July 1, 2026,

with interest rates of 0.00%, payable semiannually .. 2,085
Serial bonds series 2022A maturing in annual installments from $1 035,000 to $5 390,000 through .]uly 1, 2052,

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...............cocoiiiiiiiiiiiiii 85,410

3,358

1,306,073 1,633,221 115,582
Unamortized DONA PIOIMIUINIS ... ...uetiiteti ettt ettt ettt ettt et e ee e ee e ea e ea e ee et ettt e st ee e e er e e 107,450 90,778 6,529

$ 1413523 $ 1723999 $ 122111
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Fixed Rate Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Revenue Bonds
On September 13, 2022, the City issued Wastewater Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2022-A. in the amounts of

$85,410,000. The proceeds will be used to finance various capital projects. Interest on the bonds is due July 1st and
January 1st, and mature July 1, 2052.

Variable Rate Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds

The City has issued revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used to finance construction of parking facilities and
refinance existing debt of the Parking Facilities Fund. Assets with a carrying value of $16,939,000 as of June 30, 2023,
and revenues of the Parking Facilities Fund are pledged as collateral for the bonds. Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2023,
consist of (expressed in thousands):

Variable rate demand bonds series 2008, payable monthly, due July 1, 2032 .. $ 55810
Parking Refunding Series 2018 (refunded 2005, 2010), payable seml-annually, due July 1,2035.. 6,675
TORAE L. et e e e et ettt et e e ea et et et ea et ettt et e e e een s $ 62485

* Included in the Parking Fund Statement of Net Position is an unamortized portion of bond discount of $556,000.

The City had $55,810,000 of Series 2008 refunding taxable variable rate demand revenue bonds outstanding as of June 30,
2023. The Series 2008 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at any time, at a redemption price of 100% of the
principal amount plus interest accrued to the redemption date. The Series 2008 Bonds annual principal amounts starting
on July 1, 2023 through July 1, 2032 range from $3,640,000 to $7,965,000.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarketing Agent on a weekly basis. Initially, the
Remarketing Agent will use a “Dutch Auction” to set the weekly rate that will be used to remarket the bonds. Under the
terms of the indenture, the City at its options may change the bond rate to a monthly or long-term rate at any time until
maturity upon notification of the bondholders.

In conjunction with the bonds, TD Bank, N.A. issued an irrevocable letter of credit with a current value in the amount of
$56,979,717 in favor of the City and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company as Tender Agent. The agreement expires
November 30, 2027. The existing Agreement permits the fiscal agent to draw certain amounts to pay the principal portion
and related accrued interest on the bonds tendered for purchase and not remarketed. The interest rate on draws made under
this agreement is a defined base rate plus, up to an additional 2.00% depending on the terms of the draw. The City is
required to pay the letter of credit fee throughout the effectiveness of the Agreement equal to 0.22% per annum of the
average daily amount of the available commitment. During fiscal year 2023, the City made no draws under the letter of
credit and there were no amounts drawn against the letter of credit outstanding at June 30, 2023.

County Transportation Revenue Bonds

The City has entered into agreements with the State of Maryland to borrow County Transportation Revenue Bonds with
$76,200,000 outstanding. The proceeds from these bonds will be used to fund certain highway improvements and
stormwater projects throughout the City. These bonds are secured by a pledge of the City’s share of the highway user
revenues.

Convention Center Hotel Revenue Bonds
The City issued Convention Center Hotel Revenue Bonds in the amount of $300,940,000. The proceeds of these bonds
were used to finance the acquisition, demolition, construction and equipping of a convention center hotel in the City. The

bonds are secured by pledges of revenues from the operation of the hotel, certain City hotel taxes and limited guarantees
from the hotel operator.
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Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2023, consist of (expressed in thousands):

Serial bond series 2017, maturing in installments from $2,500,000 to $10,775,000 through

September 2036, with interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.00% payable semiannually .................ccoceeiiennn.. $ 104,880
Termbonds series 2017 with interest at 5.00% due September 1, 2039 .. ...t 35,655
Termbonds series 2017 with interest at 5.00% due September 1, 2042 ......o.oiniitiiiiinii e 41,280
Termbonds series 2017 with interest at 5.00% due September 1, 2046 .. .......c.oiuiiiiiinii et ee e 74,455

TOLALS e e e e e e e e $ 256,270

* Include in the Baltimore Hotel Corporation Statement of Net Position is an unamortized premiun of $22,811,000

Changes in revenue bond obligations for the year ending June 30, 2023, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Due within One

June 30,2022  New Debt Issues  Debt Retired  June 30, 2023 Year
Governmental Activities*
Convention Center Hotel ...............c.ooveveveiienrenneen $ 259,755 $ 3485 $ 2562710 $ 4,050
Transportation ...........ccueeeeeiiiniieiiiiin st 69,298 4,006 65,292 11,675
Total Governmental Activities ..............c..coeevvveeinnen. $ 329,053 $ 7491 % 321562 % 15,725
Business - Type Activities**
WALET .o, S 1,341,507 $ 3H434 $ 1306073 3 37473
WaSTEWALET ... ivi et 1610247  $ 78,056 55,082 1,633,221 61,805
SEOIMWALET ...ttt 118,567 2,985 115,582 1,874
Parking Facilities ............c.uovveeivieieeeiiiieeeeiiie e 67,540 5,055 62,485 4,580
Total Business-Type Activities .....c..cccoevvveeee.. $ 3137861 $ 78056 $ 98556 $ 3117361 $ 105,732

* Included in the Statement of Net Position for Governmental Activities is a remaining unamortized portion of bond change to discount of $31,491,000.
** Included in the Statement of Net Position for Business-Type Activities is a remaining unamortized portion of bond premium of $204,201,000.

Principal maturities and interest of revenue bonds, shown at gross, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Transportation Revenue

Hotel Revenue Bonds Bonds

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal Interest
2024 .o $ 4050 $ 12,712 $ 10474 $ 2,406
2025 e 4,560 12,498 6,570 1,948
2026 e 5,040 12,257 2,239 1,661
202 et e 5,510 11,993 7,126 1,393
2028 6,010 11,705 7,383 1,137
20392033 L 39,600 53,091 28,128 2,604
2034-2038 .t 51,420 41,698 3,372 59
2039-2043 Lo 65,625 27,137
2044-2048 ... 74,455 8,328

TOtALS ettt e e e e e e as $ 256,270 $ 191,419 $ 65,292 $ 11,208
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Business-type Activities

Water Utility Wastewater Utility Stormwater Utility Parking Facilities
Swap Swap
Interest Interest

Fiscal Year Principal Interest  Rate Net(a) Principal Interest Principal  Interest Principal Interest  Rate Net(a)
2024 .o $ 37473 $ 39401 $ (2699 $ 59455 $ 46677 $ 2461 $ 2748 $ 4580 $ 2898 $ 477
2025...... 38,914 39,213 (2,699) 59,476 42,919 2,433 2,863 4,725 2,675 444
2026...... 39,966 38,829 (2,699) 59,454 42,012 2,497 2,930 5,280 2,426 408
2027 ...... 41,277 37,868 (2,699) 58,741 40,659 3,443 2,844 5420 2,167 368
2028 U 47,249 36,603 (2,699) 64,134 38,946 3,479 2,747 5,680 1,896 327
2029-2033 ....... e 250,957 167,704 (13,248) 343,662 164,935 15,745 12,281 36,180 4,185 714
2034-2038 ...ooerei 282,901 121,708 (10,455) 311,424 114,787 16,134 9,791 620 40
20392043 ..o 266,910 75,130 (4,435) 251,190 72,362 17,808 7,557
20442048 ..o 202,858 34,780 174,826 39,398 20,438 4,851
2049-2053 ..ooeiiiiee 104,676 9,820 172,492 17,468 13,628 1,770
2054-2058 ... 40,141 1,866 78,367 15,038 7,470 819
20592063 ...cooveiiiiin 4,831 139

Totals ..........eooo... $ 1353322 $ 602,922 $ (41633) $ 1633221 $ 635201 $ 110367 $ 51340 $ 62485 $ 16287 $ 2738

(a) Interest Rate Swap Net payments represent estimated payments for additional interest resulting from swap agreements to counterparties. The additional payments were computed
using rates as of June 30, 2023, assuming current interest rates remain the same for their term. As rates vary, variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.

. Pledged Revenue
The Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Funds

The Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Funds have pledged future customer revenue to repay $1,353,322,000,
$1,633,221,000, and $110,367,000 of revenue bond debt, respectively. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to
build and improve various aspects of the City’s Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility systems. The bonds are payable
solely from the revenues of the Water and Wastewater Utility Funds and are payable through 2054. Payments for the
Stormwater Utility Fund’s bonds have been made with General Funds and subsequently reimbursed from Stormwater
Utility Fund revenues. Annual principal and interest payments on these revenue bonds are expected to require 50.0% of
pledged revenues. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the revenue bonds for the Water, Wastewater and
Stormwater Utility Funds are $1,914,611,000, $2,268,422,000, and $161,707,000, respectively. Principal and interest paid
for the current year and pledged revenue for the Water Utility Fund were $74,667,000 and $95,853,000, respectively.
Principal and interest paid for the current year and pledged revenue for the Wastewater Utility Fund were $93,887,000 and
$81,649,000, respectively. Principal and interest paid for the current year and pledged revenues for the Stormwater Utility
Fund were $5,348,000 and $17,361,000, respectively.

The Parking Facility Fund

The Parking Facility Fund has pledged future revenue from parking fees and fines to repay $62,485,000 of revenue bond
debt. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to construct various garages throughout the City. The bonds are payable
solely from the pledged revenue and are payable through 2040. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to
require 16.4% of pledged revenue. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these revenue bonds is $81,510,000.
For the current year, principal and interest payments and current pledged revenues were $8,882,000 and $54,101,000,
respectively.

Tax Increment Revenue Pledges

The City has pledged a portion of future property tax revenues to repay $368,807,000 in incremental property taxes bonds
issued to finance various development projects. The pledged revenue is limited to the incremental taxes on the projects
financed by the bond. Should the incremental taxes fail to generate sufficient revenue to pay the required principal and
interest, the City has established special taxing districts to generate additional taxes sufficient to pay principal and interest
on the bonds. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these bonds is $625,110,000. For the current year,
principal and interest payments and current pledged revenues were $21,796,000 and $26,122,000, respectively.

67



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The City has pledged a portion of its hotel occupancy tax as security for revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used
to refinance the construction of the City’s Convention Center Headquarters Hotel. The City’s hotel occupancy tax is one
of several pledged revenue sources the City used to issue $268,755,000 Convention Center Hotel Refunding Bonds.
Following the net operating income and the property tax increment for the Hotel, the site-specific occupancy tax is pledged
to pay principal and interest payments on the bonds. If these sources are insufficient, a portion of the citywide occupancy
tax is also pledged up to 25% of maximum annual debt service. The Hotel opened August 22, 2008. Total principal and
interest remaining to be paid on these bonds is $447,689,250. For the current year, principal and interest payments were
$16,385,625.

10. Prior-Year Defeasance of Debt

Primary Government

In prior years, the City defeased certain revenue bonds and other obligations by placing the proceeds of new debt issues in
an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets
and the liability for the defeased debt are not included in the City’s financial statements. As of June 30, 2023, $427,495,000
of debt outstanding is considered defeased.

11. Interest Rate Swaps

Objectives of the swaps. The City has entered into swaps for three reasons: first, the majority of its swaps have been used
to create synthetic fixed rate financing (by issuing floating-rate bonds and swapping them to fixed) as a way to provide
lower-cost fixed rate financing to meet the City’s capital needs. Second, the City has used swaps from fixed to floating to
help the City manage its balance sheet for an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate exposure. And, third, the City has
used basis swaps to amend the floating rate on certain of its existing synthetic fixed rate swaps in order to provide a better
hedge on the underlying floating rate bonds.

Terms, fair value and credit risk. The terms, fair values and credit rating of the outstanding swaps as of June 30, 2023,
were as follows. The notional amounts of the swaps match the principal amount of the associated debt. The City’s swap
agreements contain scheduled reductions to outstanding notional amounts that are designed to track the scheduled or
anticipated reductions in the associated “bonds payable” category.

Hedged Derivative Instruments

At June 30, 2023, the City had deferred liabilities for various hedged derivative instruments with the total fair values of
these instruments in the amounts $807,714 business-type activities, respectively. The notional amounts for these hedged
derivative instruments at June 30, 2023, was $55,300,000, for business-type activities, respectively. During fiscal year
2023, the fair values of these instruments decreased by $3,180,701, for business-type activities. All hedges are cash flow
hedges.

The following schedule provides a detailed analysis of derivative instruments held as of June 30, 2023:
MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF BALTIMORE
SWAP PROFILE as of June 30, 2023

Effective Termination Interest Rate Interest Rate Notional Counterparty
Outstanding Bonds Date Date Paid by City Received Amount Fair Value Credit Rating

Hedged Derivative Instruments - Business-type Activities

Parking Rewenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps

2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/1/2032 6.098% 1M LIBOR $ 52,800,000 $ 766,777 A+/A2
2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/1/2025 5.915% 1M LIBOR 2,500,000 40,937 A+/A2
Total Parking Facilities Fund 55,300,000 807,714
Total Business-type Activities $ 55,300,000 $ 807,714
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Credit risk — As of June 30, 2023, the City is not exposed to credit risk on any of the outstanding swaps because the swaps
have negative fair value. All fair values were calculated using the mark-to-market or par value method. However, should
interest rates change and the fair values of the swaps become positive, the City would be exposed to credit risk in the
amount of the derivatives’ fair value. The swap agreements contain varying collateral agreements with counterparties. In
general, these agreements require full collateralization of the fair value of the swap should the counterparty’s credit rating
fall below Baa as issued by Moody’s or BBB as issued by Standard and Poor’s. Collateral on all swaps may be in the form
of cash or U.S. government securities held by the City. The City’s two swaps are held with a counterparty rated A+/A2.

Basis risk — The City’s variable rate bonds consisted of only remarketed variable rate demand bonds (VRDBs). The City
has adhered to the ISDA 2020 IBOR Fallbacks Protocol. For those swaps associated with the VRDBS, the City receives a
floating rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) after LIBOR ceased to be representative after June
30, 2023. For one of the swaps, the City will receive a percent of SOFR or a percent of SOFR plus a basis point spread,
each rate was chosen to closely approximate the City’s tax-exempt variable rate bond payments. Because these swaps are
SOFR-based, there is an additional degree of basis risk. The City receives the SOFR rate, which approximates the City’s
taxable variable rate bond payments. As of June 30, 2023, LIBOR for the prior 52-weeks ranged from 1.71% to 5.17%,
whereas the City’s taxable market ranged from 1.57% to 5.08%.

Interest rate risk - For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate and receives fixed rate payments, the City is
exposed to interest rate risk. As floating rates increase, the City’s expected savings could decrease. The City would,
however, benefit from offsetting increases in its earnings on short-term investments, whose return would be expected to
go up in a higher interest rate environment.

Investment Derivative Instruments

The fair value balance and notional amounts of derivative instruments outstanding are classified by type, and the changes
in fair value of such derivative instruments for the year ended June 30, 2023, are as follows:

Investment Derivative Instruments

Changes in Fair Value Fair Value at June 30, 2023
Classification Amount Classification Amount Notional
Business-Type Activities
Water Utility Fund
Floating t0 FIOating .........c.couiiiiiiiiiiniiininiiiieiininnen Investment Revenue  $ (1,032,660) Debt $ (4053137) $  (71,455,000)

Credit Risk — At June 30, 2023, the government is not exposed to credit risk on the interest rate swaps, because they are in
a negative fair value or liability position. However, if interest rates change and the fair values become positive, the City
would have exposure to credit risk. The counter party rating for the Water Utility Fund was AA-/Aa2. The change in the
fair value of investment swaps in the amount of a loss of $1,032,660 is netted and reported within the investment revenue
classification.

Interest rate risk - For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate, the City is exposed to interest rate risk. As
floating rates increase, the City’s expected savings could decrease. The City would, however, benefit from offsetting
increases in its earnings on short-term investments, whose return would be expected to go up in a higher interest rate
environment.

Fiduciary Fund Types

Forward Currency Contracts

The City’s Retirement Systems entered into forward currency contracts to manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates on portfolio holdings. They also entered into forward exchange contracts to settle future
obligations. A forward exchange contract is a commitment to purchase (payable) or sell (receivable) a foreign currency at
a future date at a negotiated forward rate. Risk associated with such contracts includes movement in the value of a foreign
currency relative to the U.S. dollar. Unrealized gains or losses on forward currency contracts are the difference between
the contract and the closing market value of such contract and is included in the statement of changes in fiduciary net
position as net appreciation/depreciation in the fair value of investments.
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The table below summarizes the market value of foreign currency contracts as of June 30, 2023.

Forward Foreign ~ Forward Foreign Forward Foreign Forward Foreign Unrealized Net

Contracts Cost Contracts Cost Contracts Fair Contracts Fair Gain/(Loss)
Currency Receivable (a) Payable (b) Value Receivable (c) Value Payable (d) (c-a) + (b-d)
Brazilian Real ......cccoooeiveeviniiiiiiiiiieeeeen $ 194 $ 1,984 $ 194 $ 1965 $ 19
Canadian Dollar ............c.ocuvionineineieriis 6,405 6,405 6,405 6,427 (22)
Danish Krone ........ocooveeviieiieiieiiiiieiieieeens 64,165 64,165 64,165 64,513 (348)
Euro Currency Unit ........ccvveieiieeneeereieriei 6,625,157 6,516,090 6,626,036 6,532,194 (15,225)
Hong Kong Dollar .........c.cc.ooeeericiininnnn. 41 41 41 41 -
Japanese Yen ........cceeeiveeiiineeiinniiienneennn 257,605 257,605 257,605 257,597 8
Pound Sterling ...........ocovcvivriieieeeereiiiii 2,081,377 2,035,504 2,081,630 2,106,894 (71,137)
Singapore DOllar ..........uovevveineenrieiiiiii 66,253 66,253 66,260 66,253 7
SWISS FIANC ..ovvoveeee oot 949,761 949,761 949,761 949,896 (135)
U.S. DOMAT .ot 4,547,510 4,568,628 4,547,510 4,547,510 21,118
TOtAL vt D 14,600,258 $ 14,466,436 $ 14,601,397 $ 14533290 $ (65,715)

Pension Plans

All City employees, other than the professional employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library and the Baltimore City Public
School System (BCPSS), who are members of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systems to which the City and
the BCPSS make no contributions, are covered under one of the following Public Employees Retirement Systems (PERS)
or the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System:

The City contributes to two single-employer defined benefit pension plans, the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement
System (F&P Plan), established July 1, 1962 and the Elected Officials’ Retirement System (EOS Plan), established
December 5, 1983. The City also contributes to two cost-sharing multiple employers defined benefit plan, the Employees’
Retirement System (ERS Plan), established January 1, 1926 and the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (the
State System). The F&P Plan, the EOS Plan, and the ERS Plan (the City Plans) are each managed by a Board of Trustees
in accordance with Article 22 of the Baltimore City Code. Plan benefits provisions may be amended only by the City
Council. The City Plans are considered part of the City’s reporting entity and their financial statements are included in the
City’s basic financial statements as pension trust funds. The City Plans and the State System issue separate financial
statements which may be obtained from the following websites:

For Employees’ Retirement System and Elected Officials’ Retirement System: www.bcers.org
For Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System: www.bcfpers.org
For the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System: www.sra.state.md.us

The financial statements for the City Plans and the State System are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Employer and member contributions are recognized in the period that the contributions are due. Employer contributions
are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and
refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with terms of the Plan.

A. PLAN DESCRIPTIONS-SINGLE EMPLOYER PLANS

Fire & Police Employees’ Retirement System

The F&P Plan covers all uniformed personnel of the Baltimore City Fire and Police Departments. The F&P Plan is included
in the City’s financial report as a pension trust fund.
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As of June 30, 2022, the measurement date, the F&P membership consisted of:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits .........c.ccooeeviiiiiiiiininnnnn.n 6,425
ACHIVE Plan MEMDETS . ....ueuutitttt it ettt e e ettt e e et e et ee e ee e e ae e 3,648

o] 7: 1 R 10,073

The F&P Plan provides normal service retirement benefits, as well as death and disability benefits. Membership in the
F&P Plan is mandatory upon employment. The F&P Retirement System does not have a vested benefit plan; however,
members have vested rights to their contributions and interest.

F&P members were required to contribute 10% of their regular compensation through payroll deduction. The employer
contributions are determined through an actuarial valuation. According to plan provisions, contribution requirements of
the plan members and the City are established and may be amended by the Mayor and City Council. The valuation method
is stipulated in the plan provisions. An expense load of 1.5% is included in the annual employer contribution requirement
to cover administrative costs.

Members are eligible for a normal service retirement if they acquire 25 or more service credit years with at least 15 years
of services credit as an F&P contributing member regardless of age, or if the member is age 55 and acquires 15 or more
years of service credit as an F&P contributing member. Normal service retirement benefits are calculated at 2.5% of the
average final compensation for the first 20 years plus 2% of the average final compensation for each year over 20 years of
service. Members are eligible for early service retirement which is a reduced retirement benefit. To be eligible for early
retirement, members must acquire 20 years of service credit with at least 10 years of service credit as an F&P contributing
member regardless of age or attain age 50 with at least 10 years of service credit as an F&P contributing member.

Members are also eligible for a deferred retirement option program, DROP and DROP 2. Members with more than 20
years of service on or before December 31, 2009 can elect to participate in DROP at any time. A member’s DROP
participation period can be for one to three years. If a member retires during the DROP participation period, the benefit
shall equal:

1. The retirement benefit that would have been paid had the member retired at the time he/she began his/her
DROP participation, plus

2. A lump sum equal to the member’s DROP account. This equals the accumulation of the annuity
payments the member would have received had the member retired, plus the member contributions paid
during the members DROP participation period, plus interest at 8.25%.

Members with more than 20 years of service on or after January 1, 2010 can elect to participate in DROP 2. On July 1,
2010, this requirement was changed to members with more than 25 years of service for non-grandfathered members. A
member’s DROP 2 participation period can be for one to three years. If a member retires during the DROP participation
period, the benefit shall equal:

1. The retirement benefit that would have been paid had the member retired at the time the member began
his/her DROP 2 participation, plus

2. A lump sum equal to the member’s DROP 2 account. This equals the accumulation of the annuity
payments the member would have received had the member retired, plus the member contributions paid
during the members DROP 2 participation period, plus interest at 5.50% for grandfathered members and
3.0% for non-grandfathered participants.

Post-retirement benefit increases are provided to retirees and beneficiaries based on age, type of retirement and having
received benefits for two or more years as of each June 30 eligibility determination date.
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Elected Officials’ Retirement System

The EOS Plan covers the Mayor, the Comptroller, and the President and all members of the City Council. The EOS Plan
is included in the City’s financial report as a pension trust fund.

As of June 30, 2022, the measurement date, the EOS Plan membership consisted of:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits ...........ccooeeviiviiiiiininnnn.n 31
Active plan MEMDETS .. ...oo.uiit e 17

o] 7: 1 48

The EOS Plan provides retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and the reduction of benefits is precluded
by the City Code. Membership in the EOS Plan is mandatory upon taking the oath of office, unless the elected official is
already a member of the Employees’ Retirement System of the City of Baltimore.

EOS plan members were required to contribute 5% of their regular contribution through payroll deduction. The City’s
annual employer contribution is determined through an actuarial valuation. Baltimore City Code grants the authority to
establish and amend the contributions of the active plan members to the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore.
Administrative costs of the EOS Plan are paid from investment earnings.

Members are eligible to retire after the earlier of acquiring at least 16 years of service credit or attaining age 50 with at

least 12 years of service credit. A member shall be entitled to receive a maximum service retirement allowance which shall
consist of:

1. Anannuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of accumulated contributions at the time of retirement,

2. A pension, in addition to the annuity, which together shall be equal to 2.5% of the current annual earnable
compensation applicable to the office multiplied by the number of years of membership credit.

Post-retirement benefit increases are indexed to future increases in the compensation for the position held by the elected
official prior to retirement.

B. PLAN DESCRIPTIONS-MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PLANS

Employees Retirement System

ERS is a cost sharing multiple plan that covers City employees and the Baltimore City Public School System employees
with the exception of those required to join the Maryland State Retirement System, or the two other Baltimore City
retirement systems, the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System and the Elected Officials’ Retirement System. The

ERS Plan is included in the City’s financial report as a pension trust fund.

As of June 30, 2022, the measurement date, the ERS Plan membership consisted of:

ACIVE Plan MEIMDETS ......euueititti et et et et e e ettt et et e et et e et ee e ee e 7,725
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits ..............ccoooeiiiiiiinnn. 9,207
Inactive plan members eligible to but not yet receiving benefits ........................ 1,089

[ 1) RPN 18,021

The ERS Plan provides service retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits. Only the Mayor and City Council
may amend the ERS Plan Provisions. The reduction of benefits is precluded by the City Code.

The ERS Plan is divided into three Classes: A, C and D for amendment of membership and benefit changes of the ERS
Plan Provisions.
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Class “A” has 6 members. The “A” contributory class consists of all members hired prior to July 1, 1979 who did not elect
to transfer to Class C, the non-contributory class. Membership was mandatory on the member’s second anniversary of
employment. However, the member could voluntarily enroll within the first two years of employment.

Class “C” is composed of 4,784 members of the ERS membership and consists of all employees hired on or after July 1,
1979 who automatically become members on the first anniversary of employment, and all members hired prior to July 1,
1979 who elected to transfer from the Class “A” contributory class.

Effective July 1, 2013, Ordinance 13-144 was enacted by the Mayor and City Council introducing contributions for active
ERS Plan non-contributory members and eliminating the post retirement variable benefit increase. The Ordinance provides
that effective July 1, 2013, members will contribute 1% of pay, to continue each year at 1% increments provided that 2%
compensation is received for each year of contribution until employee contribution reach 5% of compensation.

The ERS defined benefit class “C” was closed to new members on June 30, 2014 to establish the City of Baltimore’s
Retirement Saving Plan (RSP). The RSP consist of a 401a contributory non-hybrid and a hybrid contributory defined
benefit “D” Plan. The RSP is not a separate plan, but is a separate class of the existing ERS plan, if the employee choses
to belong to the hybrid defined benefit “D” plan. The waiting period of entry for the contributory non-hybrid plan is 180
days. The hybrid contributory defined benefit plan waiting period is one year. Employees hired as of July 1, 2014 have 150
days of employment to select between the two plans. Employees who do not select a plan after 150 days of employment
will automatically default into the hybrid contributory defined benefit “D” plan. Class “D” has 2,941 members. The
mandatory contribution to each of the plan’s is 5%. Members have an option in both plans to contribute to the City of
Baltimore’s 457 Deferred Compensation plan and will receive a 50% match on the first two percent of their contributions.

The contributions required by the ERS Plan provisions for each membership class are as follows:

Membership classes Percentage of compensation
A 4.0%
C 5.0%
D 5.0%

Members of Classes A and B are eligible to retire at age 60 with 5 years of service or 30 years of membership service,
regardless of age. Members of Classes C and D are eligible to retire at age 65 with 5 years of service or 30 years of service,
regardless of age. Early retirement is allowed at age 55 with 5 years of service payable at age 65 or reduced for payment
before age 65. Benefits for service retirement are paid as follows:

Classes A and B — The sum of:

1. An annuity of the actuarial equivalent of a members accumulated contributions; and,

2. A pension, which together with the annuity shall equal 1.935% (Class A) or 1.785% (Class B) of
average final compensation times years of service.

Class C:
A pension of (1) 1.6% of average final compensation times years of service up to 30 years, plus (2) .25% of
average final compensation in excess of covered compensation, times years of service up to 30 years, plus
(3) 1.85% of average final compensation, times years of service in excess of 30 years.

Class D:

A pension of 1.00% of average final compensation, times years of service. If the member retires at or after
age 62 with at least 20 years of service the member receives an enhanced benefit of 1.10% of average final
compensation times years of service.
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Maryland State Retirement and Pension System

Certain City employees are covered by the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System, primarily employees of the
Sheriff’s Office. The State system is comprised of the Teachers’ Retirement and Pension Systems, Employees’ Retirement
and Pension System (ERPS), and Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System (LEOPS). The City employees currently
participate in the Employees’ Retirement and Pension System, and the Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System, with
the majority participating in the LEOPS Plan. The State System was established by the State Personnel and Pension Article
of the Annotated Code of Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits to State employees, teachers,
police, judges, legislators, and employees of participating governmental units. The State Plans are administered by the
State Retirement Agency. Responsibility for the System’s administration and operation is vested in a 15- member Board
of Trustees.

Membership in the LEOPS is a condition of employment of the Baltimore City Sheriff’s Department. LEOPS consists of
two separate components a retirement plan (closed to new members January 1, 2005) and a pension plan. Members
contribute either 5%, 6% or 7% of annual earnable compensation, depending on whether the member elected to receive
limited or unlimited COLA’s or whether the member is subject to pension or retirement plan provisions. The City’s total
required contributions during the year ended June 30, 2023 was $3,227,000.

LEOPS members are eligible for full service retirement allowances upon attaining age 50 or upon accumulating 25 years
of eligibility service. For members subject to retirement plan provisions, full service retirement allowances equal 2.3% of
average final compensation (AFC) for the first 30 years of creditable service, plus 1.0% of AFC for each additional year.
For members subject to the pension system provisions who became members of LEOPS on or before June 30, 2011, full
service pension allowances equal 2.0% of AFC for the three highest consecutive years as an employee. For members
subject to pension system provisions on or after July 1, 2011, full service pension allowances equal 2.0% of AFC for the
five highest consecutive years as an employee. LEOPS members are not eligible for early service retirement allowances,
but are eligible for disability and death benefits if certain conditions are met.

LEOPS members are eligible to participate in a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP). To participate, the LEOPS
members must have at least 25 years of creditable service, but less than 30 years. Depending on the entry date of the
member into DROP, the retirement allowance is placed into an account earning either 6% or 4% interest.

As of June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $30,217,000 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of
the State System. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportionate of the net pension
liability was based on actual employer contributions billed to participating government units for the year ending June 30,
2022. The contributions were increased to adjust for differences between actuarial determined contributions and actual
contributions by the State of Maryland. As of June 30, 2023, the City’s proportionate share was .1510%.

C. NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)

The measurement date for the City Plans and the State System is June 30, 2022. Measurements are based on the fair value
of assets as of June 30, 2022. The following schedules are the net pension liability (NPL) or the net pension asset (NPA)
and the sensitivity of the NPL or NPA to the discount rate. Contributions made after the measurement date of the net
pension liability but before the end of the reporting period will reduce the net pension liability in the subsequent fiscal
year, rather then the current fiscal year. The General Fund contributions have been used in the current and prior years to
liquidate pension liabilities.
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The component of the net pension liability (asset) of the City Plans is as follows:
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fire and Police Employees'  Elected Officials' Employees
Retirement System Retirement System  Retirement System
Total pension Hability ............c.ueoereieraemieeiieeiee ettt D 4281613 $ 18781 $ 2,128,245
Less: plan fiduciary et POSTHON .. ....c.vuvierivereiiie et ce ettt 2,978,488 26,737 1,615,754
Net pension Hability (BSSEL) ........vvevevevveeeoriees et ees et D 1303125 $ (7,956) $ 512,491
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability (asset) ..............cc..c.ccceennn. 69.0% 142.4% 75.9%

The actuarial assumptions and the current year contributions for the City Plans are:
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Fire and Police Employees' Elected Officials' Retirement
Retirement System System Employees' Retirement System
Contributions TEQUITEd ...........covviveeeeeriesieeee ettt D 161,379 $ $ 98,640
% of Contribution made .. 100.00% N/A 100.00%
Covered payroll ..... 318,060 399,293
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return:
Pre-retirement ... 7.25% 6.75% 7.00%
Post retirement ...... - 7.25% 6.75% 6.50%
Projected salary NCIeases ...........cc.ucuuverreenrieiiiiiiineveeneeeee 2.75% 2.5% 1.50%
Includes inflation rate at ...........coooeveieiiiiiiiiiee e 2.75% 2.5% 1.50%
Cost-of-living adjustment ... 2.75% 2.5% 15-2.0%
MOTality ..oooeviiiiiiiiciieice i RP-2014 Blue Collar RP 2000 Health Mortality RP 2000 Health Mortality
Mortality Table using the with projections using 50% with projections using 50%
RPEC_2014 Model of Scale AA projected 15 of Scale AA projected 15
years with a 2 year set years with a 2 year set
forward for males and females forward for males and females
Last Experience Study Covered .......oovoiiiiiiiiiiiiiisiiieiicaeiens July 1,2015- June 30,2018 July 1, 2010 - June 30, 2014 July 1, 2014 - June 30, 2018

The actuarial assumptions and the current year contributions for the State System are:

(Expressed in Thousands)
Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System
ContrIbULIONS MATE ..ttt et ettt ettt ettt ee e et se e et e sn e st e e e see e reenn D 3,227
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return: 6.80%
Projected SAlary MCTEASES ........ccvvvivriveeeeeeitier e ee et e et ere s eeeee e ene e e 221000 10 9.25%, inCluding inflation
INFIAHON TALE ... oottt ettt sttt se st en e en e e e 22050 GENEIA, 2.75% Wage
MOTEAIIEY v vvv vttt ettt ev e eresr st seesn e seeen e seees e, PUDIC SECEOT 2010 Mortality Tables
with generational mortality
projections using scale MP-2018,
calibrated to MSRPS experience
Last Experience Study COVEIEd ...........oviviiuiiiieiieieeieriiriiiiiiiieeeeeeeeereevsiiis e e enaeneeresvvseniein e eeneeneene 2014 - 2018

D. EXPECTED RETURNS, DISCOUNT RATE AND DEFERRED INFLOWS/OUTFLOWS

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments for the City Plans and the State System was determined
using a building block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates (expected returns, net of pension
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce
the long-term expected rate or return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation.
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Best estimates of arithmetic real rate of return for each major asset class included in the City Plans’ target asset allocation
are summarized in the following table:
Long-Term BExpected Real Rate of Return/Target Allocation

Fire and Police Employees’ Elected Officials' Employees'
Asset Class Retirement System Retirement System Retirement System
ULS. @QUILIES . eeeienieiet ettt et e 4.76%/23.5% 7.20%/34% 6.9%/22.0%
International €qUILIES .........cvueeiniiiintie et eee e 6.81%/23.5% 6.90%/21% 7.2%/15.0%
Private @qUILIES ... .ouiiuiit ittt et 9.74%/11.0% 11.2%/15.0%
Fixed INCOME ...ttt e e e e e e 1.27%/12.0% 4.10%/22% 4.1%/22.0%
REALESTALE .. evete i et ettt e 4.87%/11.0% 6.6%/10% 6.6%/13.0%
Hedge funds .....coeeieieniii e 2.59%/5.0%
Energy MLP .. ...t 7.03%/5.0%
Private €NETZY . oouveutit et et ee et et e e et e e e e e 5.68%/5.0%
CaSh coe e e -0.35%/2.0%
Defensive EQUILIES ....vvteerienieieeee e eee e e e et e ee e 6.20%/13% 6.2%/7.0%
RiSK Premia ........oo.oieiiiiiii i 6.8%/6.0%

The F&P Plan - The projection of the cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions and employer contributions will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code and the written
contribution policy. Based on these assumptions, the Fire and Police Plan retirement contribution was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments for current members until the last payment for the current covered
population is made as of the June 30, 2022 measurement date. The discount rate used to determine the total pension liability
as of June 30, 2022 is 7.25%.

The EOS Plan - The projection of the cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code. Employer contributions were assumed to be made in
accordance with the contributions policy in effect for July 1, 2016 actuarial valuation. As of June 30, 2022, the plan is fully
funded and the amortization of the surplus is greater than the normal costs resulting in a required contribution amount of
zero. The discount rate as of June 30, 2022, 6.75%, is the assumed long-term expected rate of return on EQOS investments.

The ERS Plan - The projection of the cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code. Expected member contributions for FYE 2018 were 5%
of pay remaining at 5% of pay for FYE 2020 will continue to remain annually at 5% of compensation thereafter. Employer
contributions were assumed to be made in accordance with the contribution policy in effect for the July 1, 2016 actuarial
valuation. Based on these assumptions, the ERS Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments for current members until the last payment for the current covered population is made
as of the June 30, 2018 measurement date. The discount rate as of June 30, 2022 is 7.00% for active and terminated vested
participants and 6.50% for in-pay participants. The assumed long-term expected rate of return on ERS investments is
7.00%.

The major asset classes included in the State System’s target asset allocation and returns are summarized in the following
table:

Maryland State Retirement

Asset Class and Pension System

PUDHC ©QUILY ettt et e et e ettt et et e e e e e e e et et e e ee e e e et et a e 6.0%/34%
Private @QUILIES ..ottt ee e et e et e et ettt e ee e ee e ee e ee e ettt e ae e et et e e n e e s 8.4%/16%
L T TS 1 )< 1.2/21%
Credit OPPOTEUNILY .. out ettt et ee et ettt ee e et e ee e e e et ee e e e e ee e ee e eneeeees 4.9%/8%
D ST I T St 5.2%/15%
PN LY o) (R T (= 4 by o N 3.5%/6.0%
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The State System -The projection of cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference
between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
The discount rate as of June 30, 2022, 6.80%, is the expected long-term rate of return on State System investments.

The sensitivity of the net pension liability (asset) presents the net pension liability (asset) of the City Plans and the State
System calculated using the current discount rates as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 - percentage-point lower or 1- percentage-point higher than the current rate.

Sensitivity of the pension liability (asset) to changes in the discount rate:

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate

1% Increase

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System 5.95% 6.95% 7.95%
Net pension liability ... i 8 1822833 $ 1303125 $ 910,717
Plan fiduciary net p0s1t10n asa percentage of total pension 11ab111ty e 62.3% 69.6% 77.0%

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate

1% Increase

Elected Officials' Retirement System 5.75% 6.75% 7.75%

Net pension (aSSet) .....oovrververernennn. v $ (6,073) $ (7.956) $ (9,553)
Plan fiduciary net p051t10n as a percentage of total pension (asset) e 129.4% 142.4% 155.6%
(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
6.00% Active Part.  7.00% Active Part.  8.00% Active Part.
Employees' Retirement System (City of Baltimore Portion) 5.50% Retired Part.  6.50% Retired Part.  7.50% Retired Part.
Net pension liability .. i 3 742186 $ 512491 $ 317,544
Plan fiduciary net posmon as a percentage of total pension llablllty 68.5% 75.9% 83.6%

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System 6.40% 7.40%

1% Increase
8.40%

$

15,082
3,073

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Total City Plans and State (exclude Baltimore City Public School Portion) 1% Decrease Current Discount Rate

1% Increase

Net pension lability ..............coccooviiiiieeieiiiiiiiieeeeiiiieieeeeieieeee B 2,609975 $ 1,845,833

$

1,246,416

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate
6.00% Active Part.  7.00% Active Part.

1% Increase

8.00% Active Part.

Employees' Retirement System (Baltimore City Public Schools Portion) 5.50% Retired Part.  6.50% Retired Part.  7.50% Retired Part.
Net pension liability ... e $ 164,697 $ 137271 $ 70,466
Plan fiduciary net posmon asa percentage of total pension 11ab111ty e 68.5% 75.9% 83.6%
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Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows- The reported deferred outflows/inflows of resources associated with the City
Plans and the State System is as follows:
( Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ..................ooiiiiiii.... $ 154,192
Differences between actual and expected eXperience ............oooeeeeiiiiiiiiniien..u 3,387 $ 19,187
ASSUMPLION ChaNGE ... e e 39,900
Differences between actual and projected earnings .............c.oooiiiiiiiineeiiaiinnn... 131,843

L0 | $ 329,322 $ 19,187

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Elected Officials' Retirement System Resources Resources
ASSUMPLION CHANGZE ...\ttt et et e et e e e e e e ee e eeeaeanas $ 836
Differences between actual and projected earnings .............coceviiiiiiiieennnnnnnn.. 1,469

TOAL e $ 2305 $

( Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Maryland State Retirement and Pension System Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ..................ooiiiiii.... $ 3,227
ASSUMPLON CRANEE ...\ttt e e 2,484 $ 1,126
Differences between actual and projected earnings ............c.c.ooviiiiiiiiieeeiinnnnn... 62

e | $ 5773 % 1,126

( Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Employees' Retirement System (City of Baltimore Portion) Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ................ccoiiiiiiii... $ 17,205

Differences between actual and expected eXperience ...........ooevvveieiiiiiennnean.. 3,370 $ 18,369

Change in proportionate Share ...............ooiiiiiiiiii i 1,094 2,628

Differences between actual and projected earnings ..............c..cooeiiiiiiiiiii. ... 27,064 152,122
TOtAl ... $ 48,733 $ 173,119

( Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Total City Plans and State (exclude Baltimore City Public School Portion) Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ...............cooiiiiiiii.... $ 174,624

Differences between actual and expected eXperience ............ooeeeeeeeeeiiiinnnee.. 6,757 $ 37,556

Change in proportionate Share ............ ... 1,094 2,628

ASSUMPLION ChaNGE .. .... ..o e 43,220 1,126

Differences between actual and projected earnings ............c.c.ooviiiiiiiieeiiiiinn... 160,438 152,122
e | $ 386,133 $ 193,432

( Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Employees' Retirement System (Baltimore City Public Schools Portion) Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ................ccoiiiiiiii... $ 80,726
Differences between actual and expected eXperience ...........c.oeevveveiiiieennnneann. 748 % 4,076
Change in proportionate Share ...............oooiiiiiiiii e 2,628 1,095
Differences between actual and projected earnings .............ooceviiiiiiiiiiininneann.. 6,006

TOCAL .o $ 90,108 $ 5171
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A summary of the net deferred outflows/(inflows) of resources to be recognized in pension expense in future years for the
City Plans and the State System is presented below:

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Employees'
Retirement System
Fire and Police Employees' Retirement  (Baltimore City
Employees' Retirement  Elected Officials' System (City of Public Schools
Pension expense amounts for years ended June 30: System Retirement System  Baltimore Portion) Portion)
2024 1o $ 43953 $ 625 § 3621 $ 804
2025 1o 31,800 458 (5852) (1299)
2006 .. (17,306) m (22.486) (4989)
2027 1o 97,49 1,051 36,783 8,162
TOt] ..o $ 155943 $ 2305 $ 12066 $ 2678
(Expressed in Thousands)
Maryland State
Retirement and
Pension expense amounts for years ended June 30: Pension System
2024 e $ 1,036
0 et b ettt 127
2026 .. 260
2T et 3)
TOMAL ..o, $ 1420

In addition to the amounts disclosed above $3,227,000 in deferred outflows of resources related to contribution subsequent
to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023.

E. PENSION EXPENSE AND CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)
Pension expense (income) includes charges in the net pension liability (asset), projected earnings on pension plan

investments, and the amortization of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources for the current period.
The components of pension expense for the City Plans are as follow:

(Expressed in Thousands)

Employees' Retirement System
Fire and Police Employees'  Elected Officials' - Enployees' Retirement System Total City Plans~~ (Battimore City Public Schools
Retirement System ~ Retirement System ~ (City of Baltimore Portion)  (City of Baktimore Portion) Portion)
Pension expense (MCOME) ... 1390 § 3§ 5188 $ 180524 § 10028
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The schedule of the changes in net pension liability (asset) and related ratios for the City Plans for the year ended
June 30, 2023 is as follows:

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Fire and Police Employees’ Elected Officials' Retirement

Retirement System System

Total pension liability

Interest (included interest 0N SEIVICE COSE) ..viviiuinirintietiieiet et e e $ 288,798 $ 1,220

Service CoSt ...ovvniiienninnnn. 73,380 292

Changes of benefits terms .

Changes in assuUmMpPtionsS.........c.ooeveeeriuenininieenens 22,540

Differences between expected and actual experience..............ccoeeeviiiiiiniiiiniininnn (13,223) 259

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contribution...............ccccoeveiiienininen. (279,639) (1,512)
Net change in total pension Hability ...........coooouiiiitiiiiiii e 91,856 259
Total pension liability - DEZINNING .......ueniiniitiit e e e 4,189,757 18,522
Total pension liability - ending ........ocouiiiiiiii e $ 4,281,613 $ 18,781
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net INVESTMENT IICOMIE ...t ev ittt et ettt et et et ettt et et ettt st e e e $ (257,704) $ (2,944)

Contributions - @MPIOYET. . ... .euueit et ettt et et ee et e 161,380

Contributions - Member ............coeeiiiiiiiiiiiieiicee e . 30,735 76

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contribution ............coooviveviirininnnn. (279,639) (1,512)

AdMINISIratiVe EXPEIISE ... v ettt ettt ettt et ettt et ettt et e et ettt ettt (5,115) (35)
Net change in plan fiduciary net pOSION. . .....ooiuin ittt (350,343) (4,415)
Plan fiduciary net position - begiNNing ..............coouiiiiiiiiiiiiii 3,328,831 31,152
Plan fiduciary net position - ending ...........oieitiieiin i e 2,978,488 26,737
Net pension liability (asset) - €ndiNg .........oeuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiinie e D 1,303,125 $ (7,956)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability .......................... 69.56% 142.4%
COVETEd PAYTOIL. ..ottt et et et ettt ettt et P 318,060 $ 1,544
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll ............coooieeinens 409.71% -515.3%

F. ALLOCATION OF PLANS

ERS balances have been allocated between the government activities, business-type activities (Enterprise funds), and
discretely presented component units as follows:

(Expressed in Thousands)
Component
Employee Retirement System e Enterprise FUndg------------------------- Unit
Employees' Nonmajor
Retirement ~ Governmental Proprietary  Baltimore City
System Activities Water Wastewater Stormwater Fund Public Schools
Net pension liability (asset), end of year ........cooooovvvsiiiiiv. 3 626216 $ 409536 $ 46411 $ 4397 $ 8465 $ 3681 $ 113,726
The total of all retirement plan balances for City (City Plans and State Plans) are shown below:
(Expressed in Thousands)
City Plans and State of Maryland
Employees'
Fireand Police  Elected Retirement  Maryland State
Employees' Officials' ~ System(City ~ Retirement Primary
Retirement  Retirement  of Baltimore System Government
System System Portion (LEOP/ERPS) Total
Net pension liability (asset), end 0f VEar ..............oc.oovvvvvvovonoeeiciiirniirorae. 9 1303125 § (7956 § 512491 § 0207 $ 1837877
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G. THE MARYLAND STATE RETIREMENT AND PENSION SYSTEMS — BCPSS

The BCPSS employees, who are not covered under the City’s ERS, are members of the Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System.

Under Maryland law, the Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is not required to make any contributions to the
State Systems. City Schools and covered members are required by State statute to contribute to the System. Members of
the Teachers’ Pension System are required to contribute 7% annually. Members of the Teachers’ Retirement System are
required to contribute 5-7% annually, depending on the retirement option selected. The contribution requirements of the
System members, as well as the State and participating governmental employers are established and may be amended by
City Schools of Trustees for the System. Contributions are deducted from participant’s salary and wage payments and are
remitted to the State on a regular, periodic basis.

The State of Maryland pays, on behalf of the BCPSS, the employer’s share of retirement and pension costs to the State
Systems for teachers and related positions. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the State paid $59.2 million in such
costs. This amount has been recorded by the BCPSS as both revenue and expenditure in the General Fund in the
accompanying Statement of Activities. The Special Funding arrangement between BCPSS and the State is disclosed in the
BCPSS’s financial statements.

The State also makes contributions on behalf of the Enoch Pratt Free Library employees. The State’s contribution for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, was $2,489,000. This amount has also been recognized as both revenue and expenditure
in the accompanying Statement of Activities.

H. DEFERRED COMPENSATION

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section
457. The plan, available to all employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The deferred
compensation is not available to employees or other beneficiaries until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable
emergency.

The City has no administrative involvement and does not perform the investing function. The City has no fiduciary
accountability for the plan and, accordingly, the plan assets and related liabilities to plan participants are not included in
the basic financial statements.

13.Other Postemployment Benefits
A. PLAN DESCRIPTION

The City of Baltimore provides other postemployment benefits (OPEB) to all qualified City and BCPSS employees. The
Plan is a contributory cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit plan. The benefit and contribution provisions of the
Plan are established and may be amended by the City. The Plan provides postemployment healthcare and prescription drug
benefits to retirees and their beneficiaries. Retirees may choose from two health plan options and four levels of coverage.

The following schedule outlines the eligibility requirements to participants in the Plan by employee group:

Post Retirement Medical Benefit Eligibility Requirement*

Employee Group Requirement
Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systems ...............c.ccocoueeeeoe. [Fhired before January 1, 1980: Age 60 or 30 years of service
Ifhired on or after January 1, 1980: Based on age at retirement and years of service
Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System..............ccccooevvevvneene IFhired before July 1, 2003; Age 50 with al least 10 years of service or 20 years of service
Ifhired after July 1, 2003: Age 55 with al least 15 years of service or 25 years of service
Employees' Retirement System & Elected Officials' Retirement System...... If hired before July 1, 1979: Age 60 with at least 5 years of service or any age with 30 years of service

If hired after July 1, 1979: Age 55 with at least 5 years of service or any age with 30 years of service

*Allemployees are eligible for disability benefits depending on years of service and reasons for disability.
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In order to effectively manage the Plan, the City established an OPEB Trust Fund. All retiree and City contributions are
deposited into the Trust Fund and all retiree related health and life insurance benefits are paid from the Trust Fund. The
City also contracted with the Board of Trustees of the Employees’ Retirement System to act as investment manager for the
Trust Fund. BNY Mellon Bank Asset Saving is the Trust Fund’s asset custodian. The Plan does not issue standalone
financial statements; however, the OPEB Trust Fund is included in the City’s financial statement as a fiduciary fund.

The number of participants in the Plan as of July 1, 2022 per actuary report was as follows:
Number of Participants

Baltimore
City Public
City School Total
ACHIVE CIMPIOYEES .ottt ittt et ettt et e e e e 17,952 3,072 21,024
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits ...................... 11,306 1,934 13,240
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits ..............ccoeeeeeie. . 930 159 1,089
J o] 721 TP 30,188 5,165 35,353

B. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE OPEB TRUST FUND

Basis of Accounting - The financial statements for the OPEB Trust Fund are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions are
recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

Method Used to Value Investments - Plan investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on national and
international exchanges are valued at the last reported sale price at the current exchange rates.

C. FINANCIAL RESULTS

The OPEB Trust Fund does not issue a stand-alone financial report and is not separately audited. Instead, the financial
results are published as part of the City’s annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR). The financial results for the year
ended June 30, 2023, are presented below:

OPEB Trust Funds
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
June 30, 2023
(Expressed In Thousands)

OPEB Trust Fund

Assets:
Cashand cashequivalents ............ ... i $ 31,295

Investments:
SEOCKS v vt 673,192
BONAS . 174,827

OB @SS Bt .o vttt ittt 1,244
TOtal @SSELS .. v ettt e 880,558

Liabilities:

Accounts payable . ... 3,405
Total liabilities ............ o 3,405

Net position:

Net position restricted forOPEB .. ....... ... .o i $ 877,153
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OPEB Trust Funds
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed In Thousands)

OPEB Trust Fund
Additions:
Contributions:
EMPIOY T . $ 54,095
EMpIOYee . .o 43,437
Total contributions ... 97,532
Investment income:
Net appreciation in fair value of investments ...................... 44,832
Interest and dividend income ............. ... L 15,897
Total investment income .................ccoviiiin... 60,729
Less: iNVeStMENt EXPENSE . . ...t 4,448
Net investmentincome....................... 56,281
Totaladditions ...t 153,813
Deductions:
Health benefits ... 88,011
Total deductions .........ooviiii 88,011
Changes in Net poSItion . ..........oovii i 65,802
Net position restricted for OPEB - beginning oftheyear......................... 811,351
Net position restricted for OPEB-end oftheyear............................... $ 877,153

D. FUNDING POLICY

The City’s policy is to fund benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis plus make additional contributions comprising the federal
retiree drug subsidy payments and an additional annual appropriation. Retirees are required to contribute at various rates
ranging from approximately $147 to $2,992 on a monthly basis, depending on the health plan and level of coverage elected
and whether Medicare supplemental coverage is present. In addition, retirees contribute 20% toward the prescription plan
coverage. Administrative costs of the Plan are covered by the City. The General Fund contributions have been used in the
current and prior years to liquidate pension liabilities.

E. ACTUARIAL METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS

Data was obtained from an actuarial valuation prepared by an independent actuary made as of July 1, 2018, using census
data and recent health care costs information which was provided by the City.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the
employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical
pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

The actuarial method used is the Entry-Age Normal (EAN). Under the EAN cost method, the actuary develops a “normal
cost” that can be expected to fund projected benefits at retirement for a new entrant into the plan. The normal cost of
benefits are calculated as a level percentage of covered payroll. The unfunded actuarial liability is being amortized over 30
years on a level dollar basis.

The discount rate is based on the rate of return expected to be earned by the assets used to pay to benefits if the plan is
appropriately funded. The liability discount rate is based on the actuary’s review of the current and historical commitment
the City has shown to fully fund the plan, and our determination that current assets plus future contributions will be
sufficient to cover all future benefit payments. The plan will not incur a “depletion point”. The discount rate used is 7.00%.
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Assets are valued at fair value. Past service costs are calculated using the level dollar method with a closed amortization
period of 30 years. The valuation also assumes a 5.10% healthcare trend for fiscal year 2022, reduced by decrements to a
rate of 4.14% in 2076. Salary increases were not considered as OPEB benefits and OPEB benefits are not based on pay.

Inflation ..............

Salary increases, including wage inflation .................

Discount rate

Prior measurement date ...............cc.eviviennn..

Measurement date .............

Long-termexpected asset return for current
measurementdate .............. ...
Health care costtrends .........cccovvvviiiiiiiiiniineieeinen,

2.70%
2.75%-3.50%

7.00%
7.00%

7.00%
Actual increase from 2022-2023,
followed by 6.50% decreasing to
an ultimate rate of 4.14% by 2076

F. NET OPEB LIABILITY (NOL) AND DISCOUNT RATE

The City accounts for OPEB benefits on a full accrual basis and the net OPEB liability is reflected in the City’s financial

statements.

The measurement date for OPEB liability is June 30, 2023, and the valuation date is as of June 30, 2022. The Total OPEB
Liability (TOL), the Plan Fiduciary Net Position (i.e. fair value of the Plan assets), and the NOL as of June 30, 2023, is as

follows:
(Expressed in Thousands)
BCPSS
City Portion  Portion Total

Total OPEB Hability .. ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e et e ettt et ee ettt ee e et ttiie e ee e B 766,874 $ 131,228 $ 898,102
Less: plan fiduciary Net POSIHION .. ...ttt e e et e e e e e e e e et e 748,986 128,167 877,153
Net OPEB HabIlIty .. ..con ottt et et e et e e e et e e e e e e e et et e e e et e ee et e e e e ee e P 17,888 $ 3,061 $ 20,949

97.7% 97.7% 97.7%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability ..o

Changes in the discount and healthcare trend rate affect the measurement of the TOL. Because the trend rates do not affect
the measurement of assets, the percentage change in the NOL can be very significant for a relatively small change in the
trend rates. The table below show the sensitivity of the NOL to the discount rate and trend.

(BExpressed in Thousands)

Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decrease
Health Care Cost Trend Rates (8.00%0) (7.00%0) (6.00%0)
126 AECIEASE .t it ittt it ettt i e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et $ (89,686)
Current ........iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiioa. $ (80,243) 20,949 $ 143,504
BT o W = W < S 158,384
(Expressed in Thousands)
Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decrease
Health Care Cost Trend Rates (City Portion) (8.00%0) (7.00%) (6.00%0)
120 AECTEASE . ittt i it e e e e e et e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e et e et $ (76,586)
Current ... $ (68,522) 17,889 $ 122,543
LI 5 X < T= T < 135,249
(Expressed in Thousands)
Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decrease
Health Care Cost Trend Rates (BCPSS Portion) (8.00%0) (7.00%6) (6.00%0)
s LS T = W= < T $ (13,100)
CUTITENT . .e it iee i ee e $  (11,721) 3,060 $ 20,961
23,135

126 INCTease ........covunnaenanaaa.
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G. DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS

The reported deferred outflows/inflows of resources associated with the plan are as follows:

( Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of

Deferred Inflows of

OPEB Resources Resources
Differences between actual and expected eXperience .........cc.ocouveeeieiiiieeeennnnnn. $ 287,865
Change in assumptions or other inputs.. 75,521 140,396
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments... 44,978

e PP 120,499 $ 428,261

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of

Deferred Inflows of

OPEB (City of Baltimore Portion) Resources Resources
Differences between actual and expected €Xperience ...........oeeeeiinennnnnnnn. $ 221,524
Change in assumptions or other inputs.. 41,383 115,672
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments... 38,059
Change in proportionate Share ..........oo.utiiiitiiiii e 69,097 614
e 2 PP PP 148,539 $ 337,810

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of

Deferred Inflows of

OPEB (Baltimore City Public School Portion) Resources Resources

Differences between actual and expected eXperience .........c.eevueeieeeenieieeeennnnnn. $ 66,341

Change in assumptions or other inputs.. . 34,137 24,723

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments... 6,920

Change in proportionate SHAare ...........oouitiiiiititi i ee e 266 68,750
e PP PPPPTPN 41,323 $ 159,814

The net deferred outflows/inflows of resources to be recognized in OPEB expense in future years is presented below:

(Expressed in Thousands)

Baltimore City Public

Net deferred outflows and inflows for years ended June 30: City Portion Schools Portion Total
D024 ..o $ (51,970) $ (32,535) $ (84,505)
2025 e (67,163) (42,047) (109,210)
2026 ..o (43,073) (26,965) (70,038)
2027 e (19,049) (11,926) (30,975)
D028 (8,015) (5,018) (13,033)
TOAL ..o $ (189,270) $ (118,491) $ (307,761)

H. OPEB EXPENSE

The OPEB expense includes charges in the net OPEB liability and projected earnings on plan investment and is presented

as follows:
(Expressed in Thousands)
Baltimore City Public
City Portion School Portion Total

Service Cost .. e D 20520 $ 3511 $ 24,031
Interest on total OPEB l1ab1hty .. N 55,805 9,548 65,353
Difference between expected and actual experience in the total OPEB hablhty (91,445) (15,647) (107,092
Changes of Assumptions or Other Inputs .. 12,019 2,057 14,076
Projected earnings on plan investments .. - (48,776) (8,346) (57,122)
Net difference between expected and actual experience in the total OPEB hablhty ...... 13,170 2,254 15,424
OPEB expense June 30, 2023........ov.vvooieeie et D (38,707) $ (6,623) $ (45,330)
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I. COMPONENT ALLOCATION

OPEB balances have been allocated between the governmental activities, the business-type activities (Enterprise Funds),
and the discretely presented component unit as follows:

(Expressed in Thousands)

Component
-------------------------- R L — Unit

Governmental Nonmajor  Baltimore City Public

Total OPEB  Activities ~ Water Wastewater Stormwater Proprietary Fund Schools
Net OPEB Liability, Beginning of Year .........c.ccoocoocr $ 120149 § 79245 $10485 § 9931 § 1611 § 1323 § 17554
OPEBEXDEISE .. (45,330) (2882) (4697)  (43%) (557) (229 (6623)
Ermployer Contributions ...............cevrereormsnrecrins (54,0%) (36912) (418 (4000) (162) (33%3) (7903)
Deferred Outflows/(INfOws) ..vvov.vevvvvccves i 25 152 18 16 3 3 3
Net OPEB Liability, End of Year .........o.ooovovvovvovr .. $§ 0049 § 13659 $1624 § 1509 § 2% § 64 $ 3061

Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts: theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and
omissions; injuries to employees; civil rights violations; and natural disasters. The City’s risk financing techniques include
a combination of risk retention through self-insurance and risk transfer through the purchase of commercial insurance. The
risk management program services all claims for risk of loss, including general liability, property and casualty, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, automobile physical damage and bodily injury, and sundry other risks. The
City has included the accounting for violations of a person’s civil rights. The civil rights liability is recorded within the
General Fund. Commercial insurance coverage is provided for each property damage claim in excess of $500,000 with a
cap of $550,000,000. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three years. The City
also provides medical insurance coverage for all employees and retirees. Employees are required to pay a percentage of
the annual cost of the medical plans and the remaining costs are paid by the internal service program.

All funds of the City and the Baltimore City Public School System participate and make payments to the risk management
program based on actuarial estimates and historical cost information of the amounts needed to pay prior and current year
claims. As of June 30, 2023, the City has determined that the range of potential claims liability for the program to be
between $417,908,000 and $570,841,000. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported
(IBNR). This liability, which has been discounted at 3.0% as of June 30, 2023 does not include the effects of inflation,
incremental or other allocated or unallocated claim adjustment expenses, salvage, or subrogation, as such factors are not
considered material.

Changes in the Risk Management Program claims liability in fiscal years 2023 and 2022 were (amounts expressed in
thousands):

2023 2022
Unpaid claims, beZINNING ........coovvniiiiiiiiiieiie et ie e ie e B 372,164 $ 402,539
ClaimS INCUITEA ...ttt et et et et et ettt et et et et e et e e e e e ee s ee s eeaee s aenae e be e ae s be e e e aennes 373,351 238,731
CIAIMS PAIA oot (327,607)  (269,106)
Unpaid claims, ending ......o.ooeueeiiiiiieiitei et ie et eeeeieeeneneieeeeeeeeeeeee. 9 417,908 $ 372,164

The City estimates that $143,819,000 of the estimated claims liability is due within one year.
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15. Leases

Primary Government

Lessor-Lease

The City has entered into various lease agreements as lessor to lease buildings and office space. Leases have terms of 1 to
30 years. The City has included all leases except those for which call for nominal lease payments. As the interest rate
implicit in these leases are not readily determinable, the City utilizes its incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease

payments.

As of June 30, 2023, future minimum lease payments for leases where the City is the lessor are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands):

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2024 . s $ 517 $ 1,233 $ 1,750
202 s 541 1,209 1,750
2026 .. e 566 1,184 1,750
2027 s 592 1,158 1,750
2028 e e 619 1,131 1,750
2029-2033 ..o e 3,553 5,197 8,750
2034-2038 ..o e 4,453 4,299 8,752
2039-2043 . e 5,581 3,167 8,748
20442048 ..o e 6,996 1,754 8,750
2049-2052 ..o e 5,615 1,386 7,001
Total. ..o $ 29,033 $ 21,718 $ 50,751

Lessee-Lease

The City has entered into various lease agreement as lessee primarily for office space. Leases have initial term for 1 to 15
years with an average length of 4 years, and contains one or more renewals at the City’s option, most commonly for 5-year
periods and others at one or three-years. The City has generally included these renewal periods in the lease term when it is
reasonably certain that the City will exercise the renewal option. The City leases generally do not include termination
options for either party to the lease or restrictive financial or other covenants. Certain real estate leases require additional
payments for common area maintenance, real estate taxes, and insurance, which are expensed as incurred as variable lease
payments. For office space leases that include variable payments, those include payments for the City’s proportionate share
of the building’s property taxes, insurance, and common area maintenance. The City’s lease arrangements do not contain
any material residual value guarantees. As the interest rate implicit in the City’s leases is not readily determinable, the City
utilizes its incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease payments.

On July 20, 2022, The City entered a 60-month lease as Lessee for the use of 901 Newkirk St. - Building Space. An initial
lease liability was recorded in the amount of $1,834,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the lease liability is $1,530,000.
The City is required to make monthly fixed payments of $30,000. The lease has an interest rate of 2.3660%. The value of
the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 of $1,834,000 with accumulated amortization of $345,000 is included with
Buildings on the Lease Class activities table found below. The City has 1 extension option(s), each for 60 months.

On September 1, 2022, The City entered a 60-month lease as Lessee for the use of 33 S. Gay St. - Office Space. An initial
lease liability was recorded in the amount of $1,690,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the lease liability is $1,447,000.
The City is required to make monthly fixed payments of $27,000. The lease has an interest rate of 2.3657%. The value of
the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023 of $1,690,000 with accumulated amortization of $282,000 is included with
Buildings on the Lease Class activities table found below. The City has 1 extension option(s), each for 60 months.
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As of June 30, 2023, future minimum lease payments for leases where the City is the lessee are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands):

As of Fiscal Year-end
Asset Class Lease Asset Value Accumulated Amortization
Building.. $ 53186 $ 15970
Total LEASES .........ovoveesoreeec e $ 53186 $ 15,970
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total
2024 e $ 7,838 $ 1,508 $ 9,346 $ $ $
2025 e 5,438 1,252 6,690
2026 . e 5,264 1,053 6,317
1270 2 4,357 862 5,219
2028 . 3,759 686 4,445
2029-2033 ... ......... 11,329 1,560 12,889
2034-2038 .... 1,264 156 1,420
2039-2032 .... 6,544 13 6,557
2044-2048 .... 4 1 5
2049-2052 ..o 3 3
Total. ... ... $ 45800 $ 7,091 $ 52,891 $ $ $
Governmental
Activities
Balance, JUNE 30,2022 ..o e e e ettt ettt D 42,844
LLeASE PAYITIEIILS ...t iit ettt ettt e et et et et et et et e e et et e et et e et ea et eetee et a e s et R sttt st s et (6,868)
NEW LEASES .. ettt et et e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e ettt ettt et et et et eat et et et ete s et et et eneenennene 3,524
Balance, JUNE 30,2023 .. ... e ettt enenannaen $ 39,500
Due in one year $ 7,838

Lessee — Finance purchase

The City entered into two lease agreements with Banc of America Public Capital Corp. to purchase motor vehicles and
heavy equipment for the Department of General Services. The City is required to make semi-annual payments. One
agreement was with a 5-year term and an interest rate of 4.493%, and the other agreement was a 10-year term and an
interest rate of 4.6212%. The semiannual payments for these agreements are $642,000 and $1,060,000 respectively. The
City also entered into a lease agreement with Banc of America Public Capital Corp. for helicopters. This agreement was a
10-year term and an interest rate of 2.41%, and semi-annual payments of $1,020,000. As of June 30, 2023, the total finance
purchase liability is $157,453,000.

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2023, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Business-type Activities

Governmental Enterprise Internal Service

Fiscal Year Fund Fund Fund Total
2024 Lo $ 7357 % 142 3 27932 $ 35431
202 e 5,928 57 24,223 30,208
2026 .. 5,967 21,020 26,987
2027 . 4,649 18,209 22,858
2028 ......... 3,525 13,114 16,639
2029-2033 .. 17,295 26,252 43,547
2034-2038 291 291
Total minimum lease payments. . 45,012 199 130,750 175,961
Less: computed interest..............c.eevnn... (5,543) (6) (12,959) (18,508)
Present value mMinimum [€8S€ PAYIMENS .. ...« ... teetttitititii s aaeeeteeiiiiiesaaaaeereiiiiiaaaaaaas $ 39,469 $ 193 $ 117,791 $ 157,453

88



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

Business-type Activities

Governmental Enterprise Internal Service
Activities Fund Fund Total
Balance, June 30,2022 ......ccuuiiineii e $ 46,130 $ 320 $ 117,541  $ 163,991
Lease PAYMENLS ... ...vuireiniiit ettt e et ee e e e e (6,661) (127) (25,759) (32,547)
NEW LSS . uv vttt ittt e 26,009 26,009
Balance, June 30, 2023 ...t $ 39,469 $ 193 $ 117,791 $ 157,453
Due in one year $ 6,111 $ 136 $ 24515 $ 30,762

The following is a schedule of leased property under leases by major class as of June 30, 2023 (expressed in thousands):

Business-type Activities

Governmental -
. Internal Service
. Activities .
Classes of Right of Use Assets Enterprise Fund Fund Total
BUIIAINES ..ottt eeee D 193,620 $ 193,620
BQUIPINENIE. + ..o ev e ettt et 270,740 $ 3187 $ 236,592 510,519
TOAL ..t D 464,360 $ 3187 $ 236592 $ 704,139

Amortization of assets recorded under financed purchases is included in depreciation expense.
Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS)
Lessee

BCPSS has entered into a 30 year lease with the Baltimore Design School for rental space in October of 2011. During the
year which ended June 30, 2023, rent and lease expenditures equaled $1.7 million made from the General Fund. An interest
rate of 4% was applied. BCPSS has entered into a 15 year lease with St. Marks Evangelical Lutheran Church of Baltimore
City for parking spaces in June of 2012. During the year which ended June 30, 2023, rent and lease expenditures equaled
$40,000 made from the General Fund. An interest rate of 4% was applied. BCPSS has entered into a 5 year lease with The
Shrine of the Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Congregation, Inc for rental space in October of 2010. During the year which
ended June 30, 2023, rent and lease expenditures equaled $209,000 made from the General Fund. An interest rate of 4%
was applied. BCPSS has entered into a 3 years lease with Marco Technologies LLC to provide office equipment and a 3
year vehicle lease with Enterprise Fleet Management for Fiscal Year 2021. During the year which ended June 30, 2023,
rent and lease expenditures equaled $1.3 million. An interest rate of 4% was applied. BCPSS has entered into a 6 years
lease with Transformation Center for rental space. During the year which ended June 30, 2023, rent and lease expenditure
equaled $110,000 made from the General Fund. An interest rate of 4% was applied.

Future minimum lease payments under lease agreements as of June 30, 2023, are as follow (expressed in thousands):
Total Lease Payable

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2024 e $ 2,050 $ 1,001 $ 3,051
202 e 1,808 929 2,737
2026 e e 1,147 871 2,018
2027 e e 1,046 827 1,873
2028 e e e 1,050 786 1,836
2029-2033 .. 5,188 3,323 8,511
2034-2038 .. e 6,321 2,179 8,500
2039-2043 .. 7,714 782 8,496
$ 26,324 $ 10,698 $ 37,022
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Right-to-use assets through outstanding leased are shown below, by underlying asset class, as of June 30, 2023 (expressed
in thousands):

Classes of Property

7080250 '<) 3 Ut 7,534
X7 RSP RTUNUNPRUPRTPR 34,142
Lessor

BCPSS, acting as lessor, leases telecom under long-term, non-cancelable lease agreements, at an interest rate of 4%. The
leases expire at various dates thought 2043 and provide renewal options ranging from three months to six years. During
the year ended June 30, 2023, BCPSS recognized $592,000 and $157,000, in lease revenue and interest revenue,
respectively, pursuant to these contracts. BCPSS, acting as lessor, lease charter school under long-term, non-cancelable
lease agreements, at an interest rate of 4%. The leases expire at various dates through 2026 and provide renewal option
from three months to six years. During the year ended June 30, 2023, BCPSS recognized $1.2 million and $117,000, in
lease revenue and interest revenue, respectively, pursuant to these contracts.

Future minimum lease payments under lease agreements as of June 30, 2023, are as follow (expressed in thousands):

Total Lease Receivable

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2024 . e e $ 1,704 $ 207 $ 1,911
202 e e 1,774 137 1,911
2026 .. s 730 108 838
202 7 e e e e 349 94 443
1200 < S 368 80 448
2029-2033 . s 945 261 1,206
2034-2038 .. e 862 82 944
20389-2043 .. e 22 22
$ 6,754 $ 969 7,723

A leases receivable of $6.8 million and deferred inflow of $7.0 million are presented in the BCPSS Statements.
16. Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA)

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the financial statements include the adoption of GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-
Based Information Technology Arrangements. The primary objective of this statement is to enhance the relevance and
consistency of information about governments' subscription activities. This statement establishes a single model for
subscription accounting based on the principle that subscriptions are financings of the right to use an underlying asset.
Under this Statement, an organization is required to recognize a subscription liability and an intangible right-to-use
subscription asset. For additional information, refer to the disclosures below.

On July 20, 2022, The City entered into a 36-month subscription for the use of Accela Civic Platform. An initial
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $473,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability
is $312,000. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $161,000. The subscription has an interest rate of
2.1843%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023, of $473,000 with accumulated amortization of $149,000
is included as SBITA in the table below.

On November 01, 2022, The City entered into a 36-month subscription for the use of Citibot Platform. An initial
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $238,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability
is $166,000. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $72,000. The subscription has an interest rate of
3.2380%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023, of $301,000 with accumulated amortization of $67,000
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is included with Software on the Subscription Class activities table found below. The City had a termination period of 1
month as of the subscription commencement.

On December 14, 2022, The City entered into a 84 month subscription for the use of Motorola - IP System. An initial
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $6,071,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability
is $5,115,000. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $956,000. The subscription has an interest rate of
3.3647%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023, of $6,071,000 with accumulated amortization of $475,000
is included as SBITA in the table below.

On January 01, 2023, The City entered into a 36-month subscription for the use of Siteimprove - SaaS. An initial
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $27,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability is
$17,000. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $9,000. The subscription has an interest rate of 2.6560%.
The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023, of $27,000 with accumulated amortization of $4,000 is included as
SBITA in the table below.

On January 01, 2023, The City entered into a 36-month subscription for the use of Siteimprove Platform. An initial
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $22,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability is
$14,000. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $8,000. The subscription has an interest rate of 2.6560%.
The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023, of $29,000 with accumulated amortization of $5,000 is included as
SBITA in the table below.

On April 05, 2023, The City entered into a 36-month subscription for the use of CrimePad - Multi Tenant. An initial
subscription liability was recorded in the amount of $224,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability
is $147,000. The City is required to make annual fixed payments of $76,000. The subscription has an interest rate of
2.3633%. The value of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023, of $224,000 with accumulated amortization of $18,000
is included as SBITA in the table below.

On May 02, 2023, The City entered into a 20-month subscription for the use of Unite Us Platform. An initial subscription
liability was recorded in the amount of $225,000. As of June 30, 2023, the value of the subscription liability is $0. The
City is required to make annual fixed payments of $225,000. The subscription has an interest rate of 2.4700%. The value
of the right to use asset as of June 30, 2023, of $225,000 with accumulated amortization of $22,000 is included as SBITA
in the table below.

As of Fiscal Year-end

Asset Class Subscription Asset Value Accumulated Amortization
SBITA .. ettt $ 9,366 $ 1,251
Total SubsSCriptions ......c.eeeeiieeeeiiieeiiennns $ 9,366 $ 1,251

Governmental Activities

Fiscal Year Principal Payments Interest Payment Total Payment
2024 .o ettt $ 1,190 $ 203 $ 1,393
2025 1,227 166 1,393
2026 924 128 1,052
2027 954 98 1,052
2028 .. ettt 986 66 1,052
2029-2030 .. ettt 1,019 34 1,053
$ 6,300 $ 695 $ 6,995

Governmental

Activities

Balance, June 30, 2022 .. ...t e e s
Lease Payments .. ...t e e

NEW LAS S ottt ittt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 6,300
Balance, JUNE 30, 2023 .. ... .. i e e e et e e e e e eeeeeeeeee——————aaeeeaeaeaa—————aaaeaaaaaanaaaaaaaaaeaaaaannnes 6,300
Due in one year 1,190
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17.Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

State and federal laws and regulations require that the City place a final cover on its landfill site and perform certain
maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site for a minimum of thirty years after closure. In addition to
operating expenses related to current activities of the landfill site, an expense provision and related liability are being
recognized based on the future closure and postclosure care costs that will be incurred near or after the date the landfill no
longer accepts waste. The recognition of these landfill closure and postclosure care costs is based on the amount of the
landfill used during the year. The estimated liability for landfill closure and postclosure care costs is $30,598,000 as of
June 30, 2023, which is based on 85.95% usage (filled capacity) of the landfill. This is a increase in the liability of
$6,148,000, and a increase in the usage of 2%, since June 30, 2022. It is estimated that an additional $5,981,000 will be
recognized as closure and postclosure care expenses between the date of the balance sheet and the date the landfill is
expected to be filled to capacity (the year 2031). The estimated total current cost of the landfill closure and postclosure
care, $42,579,000, is based on the amount that would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to close,
monitor, and maintain the landfill were acquired as of June 30, 2023. However, the actual cost of closure and postclosure
care may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in the landfill laws and regulations. The City does
not expect to pay any closure and postclosure care costs during fiscal year 2023.

Governmental
Activities
Balance June 30, 2022 ...ttt e B 30,450
INCrease N ESTIMALE .. ......ittittit sttt ettt ee s ee ettt et e ee e ee ettt e ee e ee e an e ee e ae s ee e e 6,148
Balance June 30, 2023 .. ...t e s B 36,598

)T 1o o T -

In addition, the City is required by State and Federal laws and regulations to make annual contributions to finance closure
and postclosure care. The City is in compliance with these requirements, and as of June 30, 2023, cash and cash equivalents
of $36,105,000 were held in the City’s General Fund. In addition, the General Fund’s fund balance was appropriately
reserved. It is anticipated that future inflation costs will be financed from earnings on investments held by the City. The
remaining portion of anticipated future inflation costs (including inadequate earnings on investments, if any) and additional
costs that might arise from changes in closure and postclosure requirements (due to changes in technology or more rigorous
environmental regulations, for example) may need to be covered by charges to future landfill users, taxpayers, or both.

18. Notes and Mortgages Receivable
Notes and mortgages receivable as of June 30, 2023, consist of the following:

A. The General Fund has notes receivable of $256,817,000 net of a $1,000,000 allowance for losses. A note receivable
from the Baltimore Hotel Corporation for $256,270,000 bears interest at rates ranging from 3% to 5% and mature over
30 years. A portion of this note receivable totaling $252,220,000 is scheduled to be collected in 2024 through 2046.
The other portion of the notes receivable unrelated to the Baltimore Hotel Corporation is for notes totaling $602,000
net of a $1,000,000 allowance for losses. These notes bear interest rates ranging from 1.0% to 12.0% over 30 years.

B. The Parking Facilities Fund has mortgages receivable of $8,497,000 collateralized by real property. These notes bear

interest at rates ranging from 6.1% to 6.9% and mature over 30 years. A portion of this note receivable totaling
$5,292,000 is scheduled to be collected in 2023 through 2036.
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The composition of the fund balances of the governmental funds for fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, are as follows
(amounts expressed in thousands):

Grants Capital Governmental
General* Revenue Projects ~ Other Funds Funds
Fund Balances
Nonspendable:
Reserved for OtheTr @SSELS .. .. vn ettt e e e e e e e e $ 6,007 $ 6,007
Restricted:
General GOVEIMIMIENT .. ...viu ettt et et et et et et et et et te et e e e e e een $ 46,472 46,472
BAUCAION . eit ittt et et e et e e et e e e e 25,532 25,532
Highways and SIS .........euuiuiit ittt et ettt e et
Sanitation and waste TemMOVAl .. .........ooiiuitit ittt 77,217 77,217
51 o Y <) T ot 256,319 256,319
Public Ibrary ..........oooiiii 2,749 2,749
Recreation and culture .. 10,466 10,466
Total TeSTIICLEd ..ottt ettt e e e et e e e e e 333,536 85,219 418,755
Assigned to:
General GOVEIMMENT .. .....iuttit it ettt e et e et e e e 148,046 $ 78,287 16,202 242,535
Public safety and regulation . 32,868 32,868
Conservation of health ............. .. e 42,694 42,694
SOCIAL SEIVICES . ontiet ittt et e et e e e e e et e e e e et e e e e e e e ee e 3,507 3,507
BEAUCAION ..ttt e et et e e e et 2,633 2,633
PUbLC TIDTATY oot e e e e e 2,444 2,444
Recreation and culture ... 7,167 7,167
Highways and Streets .........ooueiu ittt e 26,585 26,585
Sanitation and Waste TEMOVAL .. ........ooiiuitit ettt ee e e 14,898 14,898
PUDHC SEIVICE .. ontitt ettt ettt et e et e e e e et e e e ettt e e et ee e ee e 2,259 2,259
Economic development .........o.uiuiiiii ettt 2,227 278 2,505
Totalassigned™® ™ ... ... 282,695 78,287 19,113 380,095
Unassigned 320912 $ (84) (863) 319,965
Total fUNd DALANCES .. ..e ottt e e e e e e e e $ 943150 $ 84) $ 77424 $ 104332 $ 1,124,822

* General fund unassigned fund balance includes $167,278,000 for the budget stabilization reserve.
** The assigned fund balance include encumbrances as follows: General Fund $180,965,000, Capital Projects $115,473,000, and Other Funds $191,320,000

Commitments and Contingencies

The City is party to legal proceedings which normally occur in governmental operations. The City provides for the
estimated losses on certain outstanding claims as discussed in Note 14. The City has determined, in consultation with
outside counsel that certain claims are in too early of a stage to make a reasonable assessment of the City’s liability. The
City vigorously contests such claims as a matter of policy and will fully assert all available remedies, including the
$400,000 ceiling per individual claim. It is the opinion of City management, in consultation with outside legal counsel,
that any additional liability for remaining litigation will not be material to the City’s financial position or results of
operations.

The City has received Federal and State grants. Entitlement to grant resources is generally conditioned upon compliance
with terms and conditions of the grant agreements and applicable Federal and State regulations, including the expenditure
of the resources for eligible purposes. Substantially all grants are subject to financial and compliance audits in accordance
with grantors’ requirements. Any disallowances as a result of these audits become a liability of the City. As of June 30,
2023, the City estimates that no material liabilities will result from such audits.

The Northeast Maryland Waste Disposal Authority Act was enacted by the Maryland General Assembly to assist in the
provision of waste disposal facilities for the Northeast Maryland area, including the facilities for the disposal of wastewater
treatment residue. The City agreed to perform the obligations of the Authority. The current agreement, approved in March
2008, provided that the Authority and Mayor and City Council of Baltimore “the City” entered into a service agreement,
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through June 30, 2013, with Veolia Water North America-Central, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which now
owns and operates the facility. The agreement has now been extended through June 30, 2023. The agreement allows the
Wastewater Utility to deliver up to approximately 2,167 wet tons of sewerage sludge per month and to pay a tipping fee
comparable to alternative methods of sludge disposal currently being used by the Wastewater Utility. The debt service on
variable rate bonds has been satisfied and is no longer a component of the tipping fee. The Wastewater Utility’s current
tipping fee expense per wet ton for delivering sewerage sludge was $106.49 and $51.85 up to the guaranteed and excess
tonnage amounts, respectively. Payments under the agreement in fiscal year 2023 were $2.9 million. The maximum
commitment by the City is 26,004 wet tons per year.

The Wastewater Utility also has an agreement with Synagro-Baltimore, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Synagro
Technologies for processing biosolids at the City’s Back River and Patapsco Wastewater Treatment Plants. Under the
agreements, the Wastewater Utility delivers approximately 3,000 dry tons of biosolids per year at each facility and pays
base and service tipping fees. The debt service on the bonds is a component of the tipping fees. The base tipping fee at the
Patapsco Wastewater Treatment Plant terminated in fiscal year 2017 with the completion of debt service payment. The
average service tipping fees were $463.52 and $424.65 per ton for the Back River and Patapsco Wastewater Treatment
Plants, respectively. Payments under the agreements in fiscal year 2023 were $31.8 million. The agreements extend to
2025 for the Back River and 2027 for the Patapsco Wastewater Treatment Plants.

In 2002, the City entered into a Consent Decree to rehabilitate its sanitary sewer system and address sanitary sewer
overflows (SSOs). The 2002 Consent Decree expired on January 1, 2016. On October 6, 2017, the U.S. District Court
approved a Modified Consent Decree (MCD). The Modified Consent Decree supersedes the 2002 Consent Decree and
provides a revised schedule to address SSOs through a hybrid level of protection. The Modified Consent Decree is one of
many that the U.S. Department of Justice has negotiated with major cities with aging sewer infrastructure. These efforts
are ambitious, and the costs are estimated at $2.0 billion (as of October 1, 2021), which is comprised of the following
components: $1.5 billion in costs and encumbrances incurred throught October1, 2021 and $540 million in projected costs
for completion of Phase I and Il projects throught December 31, 2030 (capital only).

The MCD is composed of two (2) phases. Phase | provides environmental benefits and constructs the Headworks Project
at the Back River Wastewater Treatment Plant. Phase | is mostly complete. After the completion of the Headworks project
in January 2021, the sewer system experienced a 67% reduction in volume of SSOs as compared to the year prior. Phase
11 projects will build on the Phase | performance results and achieve the MCD mandated Levels of Protection against SSOs
through additional system rehabilitation and increases hydraulic capacity. The City will continue to address sewage
building backups and sanitary discharges of unknown origin (SDUOs), while performing proactive maintenance
throughout the sanitary sewer system. Collectively, the MCD extends the deadline to address SSOs to December 31, 2030.
A close-out report is due by July 31, 2033.

During the course of normal business activity there are billing disputes with other governmental entities. The City has
recorded adequate reserves for these disputed amounts.

21. Adjustments for Discretely Presented Component Units

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, the BCPSS did not record its proportionate share of the pension liability and
related amounts related to its participation in the City’s cost sharing retirement plan. The BCPSS also did not record its
proportionate share of net OPEB liability and related amounts related to its participation in the City’s other post-
employment benefits (OPEB). For June 30, 2023, the City made adjustments to the BCPSS financials statements to correct
the BCPSS’s financial statements. As such, the City has included the BCPSS’s financials, after adjustments, in the
accompanying financials statements. The auditors for the City have audited the adjustments made to the BCPSS financial
statements as listed below. The adjustments to the BCPSS financial statements were to include the BCPSS proportionate
share of the net pension liability for those employees in the Employees’ Retirement System of the City of Baltimore (ERS)
and the BCPSS proportionate share of the net OPEB liability for employees eligible for other postemployment benefits as
of June 30, 2023 and related deferred outflows, deferred inflows and expense.
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The adjustments recorded are listed below:
(Expressed in Thousands)

Adjustments for recordation Adjustments for recordation Restated per City's

As reported by BCPSS of Net Pension Liability of Net OPEB Liability Financial Statements
Deferred OUIOWS ..o $ 90,108 $ 433 $ 131431
Net pension Hability ..........eevveveemverervensireisieiseneas 113,726 113,726
Net OPEB liability ... 3,061 3,061
Deferred inflows ... 5171 159,814 164,985
EXDEIISES ..vvcov e e $ 1,389,263 (71,538) (14,526) 1,303,199
Net position, as restated, June 30,2023 ......c.cc.cccovrnnnen, 1,931,083 (28,788) (121,552) 1,780,743

22.Tax Abatement

As of June 30, 2023, the City approves Tax Abatements and Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) for the purpose of
encouraging economic development and to provide better residential housing for the disabled and senior citizens:

e The economic development program provides PILOTSs to businesses, landowners and developers to substitute
payment for annual real estate taxes with negotiated payment called PILOTSs for a specific period of time. PILOTs
are granted on qualifying projects which would not otherwise be undertaken without the City’s support. The
program is administered under the authority of the Property Tax Article of the State Annotated Code Title 7
Property Taxes Subtitle 5 Exemptions. Abatements are obtained by application to the Baltimore Development
Corporation (BDC) with final approval by the City’s Board of Estimates.

e The disabled and senior residential housing program provides PILOTs to developers and not-for profit
organizations who provide housing for disabled and senior citizens to replace their annual real estate taxes with a
negotiated payment for a specific period of time. PILOTSs are granted on qualifying projects which would not
otherwise be undertaken without the City’s support. The program is administered under the authority of the
Property Tax Article of the State Annotated Code Title 7 Property Taxes Subtitle 5 Exemptions. Abatements are

obtain by application directly to the City’s Department of Housing. Final approval rests with the City’s Board of
Estimates.

Additionally, the State of Maryland makes PILOT payments to the City for various port facilities that are operated by the
State. The amount below reflects the amount of tax revenues that were reduced in the current fiscal year.

(Expressed in Thousands)

Amount of

Tax Abatement Program Taxes Abated
Economic development

MaArket BaSEd NOUSINE .. ...untitt ettt et ettt et e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,793,771

BuUsiness deVEIOPIMENT ..ottt ettt et et e et ee e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e 13,021,690

L 2 T PP 348,635
DN 203 (e F21 0] IS 4 o B3 10 ¥ 11,482,053
State of Maryland POrt AUTROTILY .. ... ...ttt et ettt et et e et et ettt et e e e et ettt ae e ee e 3,770,194
0T 2 $ 30,416,343

23. Subsequent Events

On September 6, 2023, the City entered into two Master Lease Purchase Agreements with Banc of America Public Capital
Corp. totaling $39,943,700 to purchase motor vehicles and heavy equipment for the Department of General Services. One
Agreement was for $15,154,700 with a 5-year term and an interest rate of 4.6605%. The other agreement was for
$19,789,000 with a 10-year term and an interest rate of 4.6857%.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances,
and Changes in Fund Balances — Budget and Actual — Budgetary Basis(1), (2), (3)
General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(BExpressed in Thousands)

Variance with

Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget  Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes - local. ... ... $1,693,300 $1,696,088 $1,742,360 $ 46,272
State Shared FEVENUEC. . ... ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et s 169,997 169,997 187,042 17,045
Licenses and permitS.................... 31,932 31,932 25,610 (6,322)
Fines and forfeitures... 38,124 38,124 35,336 (2,788)
Interest and other investment income........... PR e .. 19,338 56,238 64,164 7,926
Intergovernmental Srants ...........o.. oottt ittt 104,816 104,816 129,945 25,129
Other grants.............. 2 2 (&)
Charges for services 49,454 49,454 43,122 (6,332)
Miscellaneous........... 2,737 2,737 3,354 40,385
TOtAl FEVEIMUES . . ot ii it ittt et e ettt et e et et ee e 2,109,700 2,149,388 2,230,933 121,313
Expenditures and encumbrances:
Baltimore City Public School System........ 332,777 332,777 327,662 5,115
Board of Liquor License Commissioners.... 2,686 2,986 2,761 225
City COUNCIL ...ttt et 9,101 9,101 8,684 417
Civil Service COmMMUS SION . ...t n it et et et e et e et e e e e et e e e et e e e eee e e 12,443 12,443 12,952 (509)
Comptroller........... 9,598 9,598 8,256 1,342
Courts......... .. 21,501 21,901 22,195 (294)
Department Of FINANCE .. ... o..uit ittt et ettt e e e ee e 31,930 31,930 113,770 (81,840)
Department of Fire. . ... ..o 243,736 262,636 167,157 95,479
Department of General Services.... 17,208 17,208 13,363 3,845
Department of Health................. 55,985 68,285 81,658 (13,373)
Department of Housing and Community Development...............c..coooo.. 92,986 93,286 67,695 25,591
Department of Law. . e e e e e e ettt eaeeeea e, 14,045 15,945 17,462 (1,517)
Department ofbegls lative Reference.. .. 1,845 1,845 1,020 825
Department of Municipal and Zoning Appeals 642 642 412 230
Department of Planning............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii .. 4,340 4,340 11,484 (7,144)
Department Of POLICE. . ... .ooouuit it et et e e et e 552,364 552,364 561,096 (8,732)
Department of Public Works............. 124,563 126,463 148,073 (21,610)
Department of Recreation and Parks 58,829 58,829 55,406 3,423
Department of Transportation.......... PP T, 136,727 136,727 189,266 (52,539)
Enoch Pratt Free Library .. .......cooiioiii it et e e e ee e 32,438 32,438 31,904 534
Mayoralty.. . 226,596 226,596 340,166 (113,570)
Office of Civil nghts 6,506 8,894 2,718 6,176
Office of Financial Review.. 817 817 737 80
Office of Sheriff. . ... ... 22,791 22,791 19,482 3,309
Office OF State's AttOITICY .. ittt e e e et ettt e e e e e e e e e e ee e e e 39,382 39,382 39,197 185
Supervisor of EleCtions .......oouiiiiiiiiiiiie i 10,136 11,436 12,096 (660)
Total expenditures and encumbrances....... JU e 2,061,972 2,101,660 2,256,672 (155,012)
Excess ofrevenues over expenditures and encumbrances....... 47,728 47,728 (25,739) (73,467)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in........ 15,250 15,250 41,003 25,753
Transfers out....... ... (110,541) (110,541) (113,624) (3,083)
Total other financing soUrces (USES).....oiuiniiiiiiii i iieieaaaens (95,291) (95,291) (72,621) 22,670
Net changes in fund balances.............ooioiiiii i, (47,563) (47,563) (98,360) (50,797)
Fund balances - beginning ..... 1,397,471 1,397,471 1,397,471
Fund balances - ending $ 1,349,908 $ 1,349,908 1,299,111 $ (50,797)
Adjustments to reconcile to GAAP basis:
Residual Equity Transfer In
Addition of encumbrances outstanding.. J 180,694
Less: Accounts payable not recorded for budgetary purposes
and other GAAP adjustments .........ooooiiuiiieieeneinannaannns (536,655)
Fund balance - June 30, 2023 (GAAP DASIS). . euuituite it $ 943,150

(1) Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community Development Block Grant Funds
and the Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, except for certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are
not budgeted and encumbrances which are recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

(2) The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated revenues. The budget includes: (1) the
programs, projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2) the estimated resources (inflow) and amounts available for appropriation, and
(3) the estimated charges to appropriations. The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City
Charter prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation.

(3) This schedule does not include a non-budgetary revenue and expense item in the amount of $2,489,000 which was paid by the Maryland State Retirement
System on behalf of the City of Baltimore for certain employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances,
and Changes in Fund Balances — Budget and Actual — Budgetary Basis(1), (2),
Grants Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance with
Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget  Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Intergovernmental SIAntS. ... .. ..o.uiueututieiee e et e et et et et et e 470,699 470,699 324,365 (146,334)
(03115 3 & 1 £ TP PR PP 203,325 203,325 122,656 (80,669)
TOtAl TEVEIUES .. oot ettt ettt et et et e e et e et 674,024 674,024 447,021 (227,003)
BExpenditures and encumbrances:
COMPLIOLIET. ... ettt ettt e 7,350 7,350 693 6,657
COUTES -+ttt et et et et et et et et e et e e e et e e et et e e et e et e e e e ae e e 9,262 9,262 5,436 3,826
Department of Finance... 159 (159)
Department OF Fire. ... ...ttt e e 89,580 89,580 90,243 (663)
Department 0f General SEIVICES. . ....u.uu et utititiiienienieiiei e et eeteeeeeeenes 3,213 3,213 1,168 2,045
Department of Health..........oooooiuiiiiiiiiiiii e 157,045 157,045 148,750 8,295
Department of Housing and Community Development..............cooeuenn 175,560 175,560 122,723 52,837
Department OF LAW. . ... ouenietie it iet et ettt et e e e e 585 (585)
Department of Planning...........oooiiiiiiii e 6,082 6,082 285 5,797
Department 0f POHCE. ......oiuiiii et 71,884 71,884 71,518 366
Department 0f PUBTIC WOTKS .. ....ouuiitiiti it 9,296 9,296 58 9,238
Department of Recreation and Parks..............coooiiii i 12,434 12,434 8,614 3,820
Department of Transportation..............ooeuiuereiuitintiiiiiieteiieieieeeeeae 33,507 33,507 33,697 (190)
Enoch Pratt Free Library 16,001 16,001 13,182 2,819
IMAYOTALEY . ..ottt et e e e et e e e 51,446 51,446 43,026 8,420
Office Of CIVII RINES . . covetiet et ettt e 169 169 4 165
Office 0f Sheriff.........ouii e 2,908 2,908 263 2,645
Office 0f State's AttOIMEY .. .....ue ettt e 12,520 12,520 5,645 6,875
Supervisor Of EleCtiONS ... ..t itiitie it
Total expenditures and encUMbIANCES.........c.evuiiuiiniiiiniiniiieiieen 658,257 658,257 546,049 112,208
Excess of revenues over expenditures and encumbrances....... 15,767 15,767 (99,028) (114,795)
Other financing sources (uses):
TIANSTEIS TN ...ttt et et ettt e e e e et 28,730 28,730
TTANSTEIS OUL. ... tet ettt iet et et et et et et et e et et e e e s e e e e nenes (15,767) (15,767) (723) 15,044
Total other financing sources (uses)... . (15,767) (15,767) 28,007 43,774
Net changes in fund balances.................c..oooi. (71,021) (71,021)
Fund balances - beginning ...........cc.oeeoitiriiriiriiriiiee e et eae e
Fund balances - ending. . ..........ouiiieiriiiiiaie et $ - 8 - (71,021) $ (71,021)

Adjustments to reconcile to GAAP basis:
Residual Equity Transfer In
Addition of encumbrances outstanding..................c.oeeeeeinns
Less: Accounts payable not recorded for budgetary purposes
and other GAAP adjustments .........c.ccoeeuieniiiinninniniinianen 70,937
Fund balance - June 30, 2023 (GAAP basis)............ccceeueeiuiuinaeiiiieannn.. $ (84)

(1) ) Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and Grants Revenue Fund on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, except for
certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and encumbrances which are recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

(2) The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated revenues. The budget includes: (1) the
programs, projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2) the estimated resources (inflow) and amounts available for appropriation, and
(3) the estimated charges to appropriations. The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City
Charter prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Employees" Retirement System Plan
For the Year Enced June 30,2023
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

2014 2015 2016 007 2018 2019 200 202 222
City's share ofthe net pension Tabiity ............oococrvversccescrvevernssannens 85.92% 1%  800%  8LS6%  T251%  869%  778L%  8LT5%  BL8%
City's proportionate share of the net pension fability ............covsvverrierorne § 610998 614236 $ 644079 $ 507470 $ 565892 $626594 $705725 $30824 $ 512491
City's covered payroll.... S S 344,809 7656 319693 318999 3333 L0 365095 340218 39541
City's proportionat eshare of he net pension Ilablllty
as a percentage of its covered employee payroll............c.coovorverneren 171.2% 167%  2005%  187.3%  185%  1716%  2004%  1070%  3L6%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liabilty ............ 67.83% B800%  651%  6517%  TL1%  6980%  665T%  665%  75.90%

The reporting date is June 30, 2023 and the measurement date is June 30, 2022. Covered payroll i as of the measurement date.

CITYOF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Employees' Retirement System Plan

For the Year Enced June 30, 2023

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Description 04 Al 216 a0 018 009 0 0 0 03
Actuarially determined contrbution ... o 8 AT S TI0R S GO7I2 6 686% § 63481 § 7305 § WU § 6168 § L84 § X
Contribution in relation to the actuanally determmed conmbutlon o 81,558 82780 61,704 68,904 g8l 7305 WM 676% e 807
Contribution deficiency (excess).. $ B) S B S MMs (@S $ $ $ $ $

Covered payrol.... e 9 B89 8 TEH § 319683 § 31899 § 43R § LT § D05 § M8 § M2 § 36
Contnbutlonasapercentageofcoveredpayroll 2365% B8%  1030% 260 08 4% 4% 198% 1910%  245%

Covered payrollis an of The Employees' Retirement System Plan fiscal year end.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schecule of e City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-ERPS
For the Year Enced June 30,2023

(Bxpressed in Thousands)
A5 2016 007 218 2019 00 0 0
City's share ofthe net pension fablty . 002% 002% 003% 003% 003% 003% 003% 003%
(ity's proportionate share of the net pensmlablh s 9 49§ 584§ 700§ 6§ 6% 0§ T 0§ 4% § 640
City's covered payroll. . %2 850 1400 143 1486 139 140 1456
City's proportionate share of the net pension liabiiy as a percentage of s covered employee payroll 482.1% 6934% 500.0% 812% 4671% 55.3% 38.% 1%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension bty ... 86.21% 6297% 66.71% 68.36% 67.9%8% 66.29% T6.76% 1175
Note; The reporting date is June 30, 2023 and the measurement date is June 30, 2022,
CITYOFBALTIMORE
Schectle of Employer Contributions
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-ERPS
For the Year Enced June 30, 2023
(Bxpressed in Thousands)
Description JAIKy 16 007 2018 2019 00 0 0
Actuarially detemined contrbution ....... o $ % 0§ 4 § 69§ 69 0§ 60§ 65 § WM § 1
Contribution in relation to the actuarially determind contribution ... - 466 486 659 659 691 6% I 73
Contrbution deficiency (excess) ... o 0 9 $ $ $ $ $ $
Covered payroll.....ovovvvovorn i ® 0§ & 0§ 0§ 13§ 146§ 10§ L7 0§ 146
Contribution as @ percentage Of COVEIR PAYTON .o vevrvrerrenen s s 8%5% 51.18% 410T% 46.30% 4651% 2086% 51.25% 50.76%
Note: 2023 data i not availabl.
CITYOFBALTIMORE
Schecule of e City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-LEOPS
For the Year Enced June 30,2023
(Bxpressed in Thousands)
I 216 0 018 2019 00 0 0
City's share of the nt pension Babity .....vverersrsrsrsrrrrrr 011% 013% 01% 014% 013% 01% 01% 01%
(City's proportionate share of the net en510nlab1h LS BAB S N4 S MRS5S W8 0§ w02 S UK § WM § B
City's covered payroll.. . mn pil 0 3 8 pAl 25 256
City's proportionate share of he et pension fiabilty as a percentage of ts cov ered employee payrol..vvvnen. 13108% 141650  129823%  13018%  L13076%  119165% T13%6.3% 9266.6%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage ofthe total pension BabY .........v.vevvvvsrrrrenrsrrre 61.30% 5888 6280% 6382% B4.7%%% 63600 63.60% 07.74%
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2023 and the measurement date s Jung 30, 2022
CITYOFBALTIMORE
Schecule of Employer Contributions
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-LEOPS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Bxpressed in Thousands)
Description I 216 0 018 2019 00 m 0
Actuarially determined contribution . N | 29 0§ 240§ 2 0§ M § 2§ 26§ 2% 5 2M8
Contribution in relation to the act uanal de emunedcon nbu fion 239 297 297 AN 259 261 2% 2108
Covered payroll... m u 0 » 0 i 5 %
Contribution as a percentage of covered payrol] s 0000 116682 11300% 16903 L3AG%  U3056%  UBM%  105945%

Note: 2023 data is not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios
Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System - Single Employer Plan

Pension Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

2015 216 007 2018 019 2020 01 022 A3

Total pension liability

Interest (includes interest on service cost) $ U863 256,066 $ 260001 $ 2620 § 75197 $ M0 § WAL $ 290606 $ 268,798

Service cost 65,548 66,199 0730 70987 0244 69279 66969 71089 73380

Change in assumption 35,49 86,384 45,988 2540

Differences between expected and actual experience 13% 28065 11,33 (17476) (20544) (9039 13551 (18539) (13223)

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributi (219808 (223:359) (237,1%) (245,080) (6971) (255.9%) (262.905) (268604) (27963)
Net change in total pension liabilty 95,769 162,465 104,889 104651 164310 81784 102,816 120540 9185
Total pension liabilty - beginning 3252538 3348302 3510767 3,615,656 372030 3884617 3966401 4069217 4189757
Total pension iability - ending $ 3348302 § 3510767 § 36156% $ 370307 § 3864617 § 3966401 § 4069217 § 4189757 § 4281613
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net investnent income $ 32131 § 5352 $ 29% $ 21978 $ 21668 $ 148059 § (15075 $ 14160 § (280107)

Contribution - employer 113004 1181% 120219 129689 137738 141325 14679 151,088 161,379

Contribution - member 28058 30130 30339 2902 31285 0711 31,383 31657 073

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributi (219,808) (223359 (231,1%) (245,080) (246,970) (255,9%) (262,%05) (268,604) (279639

Adninistrative expense (3.786) (4.281) (431 (4328) (49%84) (5149) (4.967) (4928) (5115
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 2959 (%5794 (67972) 22,161 128731 58955 (104799) 663373 (312,747)
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 224511 24741710 248376 2360404 2562565 2,691,302 27150251 2645458 3328831
Plan fiduciary net position - ending 2474170 2448316 2360404 2562565 2691302 215057 2645458 3328831 2,956,084
Net position fiabilty (asset) - ending $ 874132 § 1062301 § 125525 § L5778 § 1103315 § 12614 § 143759 § 860926 § 13559
Plan fiduciary net position s a percentage of the total pension Habilty .............cc.uvvvervcionsscirnns 738% 69.74% 65.28% 68.88% 69.28% 69.34% 65.01% 1945% 69.04%
Covered payroll $ 2051 § 30408 § 28719 § 26357 $ 3331 $ 03 $ 36640 § 330600 $ 318,060
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll 30082% 3L5T% 4013% 39066% 369.05% 31126 43588% 26041% 416.75%
The reporting date is June 30, 2023 and the measurement date is June 30, 2022.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios
Elected Officials’ Retirement System - Single Employer Plan
Pension Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Total pension liability

Interest (includes interest on service cost) .. $ INV/ 1219 $ % 3 % 3 103 § 10456 $ 1130 $ 140 $ 1220

Service cost 39 410 260 250 21 43 27 290 292

Changes of benefit terms (64)

Change in aSSUMPLON ..c..e.cvecererreverrireeae (3523) 315 8l

Differences between expected and actual experience .. (256) (440) (474) 662 A5 16 80 1,015 259

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (725 (765) (763) (933) (1,110) (1,165) (1,125) (1,306) (L512)
Net change in total pension ability ..............ocvvv.eevveemeriesieri s 595 (3099) 2 94 315 1,740 382 1139 259
Total pension liability - beginning .... 16,185 16,780 13,681 14,002 14946 15261 17,001 17383 18522
Total pension liability - ending ............. $ 16780 § 13681 § 14002 § 14946 $ 1561 § 17000  $17383 $ 1852 § 18,781
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net investment income 3508 $ 69 $ 5Ho$ 316§ 239§ 106 $ 204 $ 7086 $ (2944)

Contribution - employer 307 8

Contribution - MEMDE ..o 56 61 62 90 69 70 76 m 76

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (725) (765) (763) (934) (1,110) (1,165) (1,125) (1,306) (L512)

AdMInISIative eXPRNSE ......vvvevererereeeriricreieees (32 (3) (35) (55) 37 (36) (37 (34) (35
Net change in plan fiduciary net POSION ...........cvecvmeriiicrisiciieiei s 3114 [v2)] (691) 227 1231 (75) (792) 5823 (4415)
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 20,349 23463 23,440 2,149 24,966 26,197 26122 25,330 31,153
Plan fiduciary net position - ending .. 23,463 23440 22,749 24,966 26,197 26,122 25330 31,153 26,738
Net position labilty (asset) - ending . (6683) 0759) (8747) (10020) (10.936) O12) (94 (12630) (1957)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 139.83% 171.33% 162.47% 167.00% 17L70% 15365%  145.72% 168.20% 142.31%
Covered payroll .... .8 1267 § 128 $ 133§ 1297 $ 139§ 1363 § 1470 § 1410 $ 154
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll ......c..cooovocoveriins (521.37)% (751.38)% (655.70)% (772.55% (781.70)% (669.19)%  (540.75%  (859.30)% -(515.35)%

The reporting date is June 30, 2023 and the measurement date is June 30, 2022.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Employer Contributions-Single Employer Plans

Ten-Year Trend Information
Pension Trust Funds
(Expressed in Thousands)

214 215 216 2017 218 2019 2020 2021 202 2023

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System:

Actuarially determined contribution ............c.wevervresnern

Contribution in relation to the actuarially

determined CONTIDULION ..vv.vvvovvrvees s

Covered payroll.......ooo.vvvrevericvorenne.

Contribution as a percentage of covered payrol ...............

$ 113843 $119020 § 120115 § 129689 § 137738 § 141326 § 146795 $151088 § 161380 $154766

113843 119020 121115 129689 137738 14136 146795 151088 161380 154766
22739 32667 3008%5 20637  A3B/L 323/ 6640 30600 318060 318719
B8P 3P 026%  A3T6%  4260%  A384% 490  OT0%  S074%  48.56%

Elected Officials' Retirement System:

Actuarially determined contribution .............veewvecvvvrenee

Contribution in relation to the actuarially

determined CONEDULION ..vv.vvvvvvvces s

Covered payroll.......v..verevervvron.

Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll ...............

$ WS$ &S $ $ $ $ $ $ $

07 8
1260 129 134 1297 1399 1363 140 1431 154 1583
A23%  650%  000%  000%  000%  000%  000%  0.00% 0.00%  0.00%

Source is individual Retirement Systems' stand-alone audit reports.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Ten-Year Trend Information
OPEB Fund
(Expressed in Thousands)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Total OPEB Liability
Service CoStat end O YEAT .....vvvvvrrieirieve s D 29652 $ 3088 § 29956 $ 52654 $ 51,945 $ 225 $ 24,031
Interest .. - 93,367 94,514 100,281 149,945 150,398 99,388 65,353
Changes of benef t term .. 563,734 (455,349) (455,348)
Difference between expected and actual experience .. (210,824) (103,175) (112,063) (108,649) (107,844)
Changes of assumption or other inputs 30,644 304,959 (280,793) 29,636
Benefits payments .. (106,880) (106,352) (97,821) (104,936) (79,092 (46,643) (44574)
Net changes in Total OPEB Llablhty 16,139 49,644 690,285 (5512) (724,954) (479,027) (33,398)
Total OPEB Liability - beginning . 1,384,925 1,401,064 1,450,708 2,140,993 2,135,481 1,410,527 931,500
Total OPEB Liability - ending (a) ... $ 1400064 $ 1450708 § 2140993 $ 2135481 $ 1410527 § 931,500 $ 898,102
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contribution - Employer .... $ 138931 § 145466 $ 1245719 $ 121951 $ 121,020 $ 62588 $ 54,09
Net investment income 46,166 32,933 33133 866 157,969 (70,869) 56,281
Benefit payments (106,880) (106,352) (97,821) (104,936) (79,092) (46,643) (44,574)
Net change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position ... 78217 72,047 59,891 17,881 199,897 (54,924) 65,802
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - beginning ... 438,342 516,559 588,606 648497 666,378 866,275 811,351
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - ending (b) .. 516,559 588,606 648,497 666,378 866,275 811,351 877,153
Net OPEB liability - ending () - (b) ..... $ 884,505 § 862102 § 149249 § 1469103 $ 544252 § 120149 § 20,949
Note: This is the seventh year of presentation per GASB 74. T his will build into a 10 year schedule.
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2022
Total OPEB liability .............. $ 1400064 $ 1450708 $ 2140993 $ 2135481 § 1410527 § 931,500 $ 898,102
Plan fiduciary net position 516,559 588,606 648497 666,378 866,275 811,351 877,153
Net OPEB liability ... 884,505 862,102 1,492,496 1,469,103 544,252 120,149 20,949
Plan Fiduciary Net Posmon asa percentage of the Total OPEB Llablllly 36.9% 40.6% 30.3% 31.2% 614% 87.1% 97.7%
Covered payroll ... 1,464,035 1,345,680 1,196,671 1,352,753 1,467,615 1,410,204 1,410,204
Net OPEB llablhty asa percentage of covered payroll 60.4% 64.1% 124.7% 108.6% 37.1% 85% 15%
Average money weighted rate of [eIUM. ....co.vv.vvieiiiieiie i 10.5% 6.4% 5.8% 0.6% 21.4% -8.0% 6.9%
Note: This is the seventh year of presentation per GASB 74. This will build into a 10 year schedule.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability
Ten-Year Trend Information
OPEB Fund
(Bxpressed in Thousands)
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
City's share of the net OPEB liability ..................... 14% 71.3% 84.5% 84.8% 98.8% 85.4% 85.4%
City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability .. . $ 65170 § 614351 § 1260559 § 1245666 $537.868  $10259%5 $ 17889
City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability as a percentage of its covered employee payroll. 42.7% 64.1% 124.7% 92.1% 36.6% 7.3% 13%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB ability ........c.eovorioriiiiiisinsianins 36.9% 406% 30.3% 3L.2% 61.4% 87.1% 97.7%
Note: This is the seventh year of presentation per GASB 74. This will build into a 10 year schedule.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Ten-Year Trend Information
OPEB Fund
(Bxpressed in Thousands)
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Actuarial determined contribution .. % 175567 0§ 182546 0§ 181645 0§ 80595 0§ 36,373
Contributions in relations to the actuanal determmed contnbutlons 124,579 121,951 121,020 62,588 54,095
Contribution deficiency (excess) .. $ 50988 $ 60595 $ 60625 $ 18007 $ (17722
Covered payroll ... s 0% 1196671 $ 1352753 $ 1467615 $ 1410294  $ 1410204
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 10.4% 9.0% 8.2% 4.4% 3.8%

Note: This is the fifth year of presentation, per GASB 74. This will build into a 10 year schedule.
Prior to 2019 this information was not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
(Unaudited)

1. Budgetary Data

Annual budgets are legally adopted for the General Fund and the Grants Fund with corresponding fundings from the
General Fund for special revenue funds, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, except for
certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and encumbrances which are recognized as
expenditures for budgetary purposes.

The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated
revenues. The budget includes: (1) the programs, projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2)
the estimated resources (inflows) and amounts available for appropriation, and (3) the estimated charges to appropriations.
The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City Charter
prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation. The budget is prepared on a cash basis with the
exception of certain normal and routine monthly accruals related to payroll.

The following procedures establish the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:
Original Budget
(1) City agencies submit their anticipated annual budget needs to the Department of Finance during December.

(2) From December through March, the Mayor and the Department of Finance analyze, review, and refine the budget
submittals.

(3) In April, the Director of Finance sends its recommended budget plan to the Board of Estimates. The Board then holds
hearings and the recommended budget is amended as necessary. Citizens have the opportunity to offer input before the
Board votes on the budget.

(4) In May, a majority vote of the Board of Estimates approves the total budget and sends it to the City Council. The Board
of Estimates must submit the proposed budget for the next fiscal year to the City Council at least 45 days before the
beginning of said fiscal year. The Board of Estimates prepares a proposed Ordinance of Estimates to be submitted to the
City Council. The Ordinance of Estimates is the legal authority for the enactment of the budget.

(5) The City Council then holds hearings on the proposed Ordinance of Estimates, with additional citizen input before it
votes in June. The City Council shall adopt the budget at least five days before the beginning of the fiscal year. The City
Council then sends the approved Ordinance of Estimates to the Mayor.

(6) The Mayor then either approves the total Ordinance of Estimates, or disapproves some items and approves the rest of
the Ordinance of Estimates.

Final Budget
The final budgetary data presented in the basic financial statements reflects the following changes to the original budget:

(1) Appropriations for a particular program, purpose, activity, or project may, upon the recommendation of the head of the
municipal agency concerned and the Director of Finance, and with the approval of the Board of Estimates, be carried over
to the subsequent fiscal year to carry out the initial appropriation objectives. All appropriations not carried over lapse at
the end of the fiscal year in which they were made. In addition, funds encumbered for contracts, purchase orders, approved
requisitions or other actual commitments, as well as funds dedicated to grant programs and capital improvements are
carried out over the ensuing fiscal year until utilized or cancelled.

(2) The adopted budget is prepared and appropriated on an agency, program, activity, and object of expenditure basis by
fund. Purchase orders which result in an operating or capital overrun are not released until additional appropriations are
made available. Expenditures for each adopted operating budget may not legally exceed appropriations at the agency level.
Administratively, the Department of Finance has the authority to move appropriations between activities of the same
program within the same agency. The Board of Estimates has the authority to transfer appropriations between programs
within the same agency. Only the City Council can transfer appropriations between agencies.

(3) The City Charter permits further appropriations for programs included in the original Ordinance of Estimates made
necessary by material changes in circumstances and additional appropriations for new programs or grant awards which
could not reasonably be anticipated when formulating the original Ordinance of Estimates. These changes require
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
(Unaudited)

supplemental appropriation ordinances. During fiscal year 2023, a supplemental appropriation ordinance was required for
the general fund in the amount of $39,688,000.

Budgetary data, as revised, is presented as required supplementary information for the general fund and the motor vehicle
fund.

2. Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability, Schedule of Employer Contributions, Schedule
of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios

The City Plans are considered part of the City’s reporting entity and their financial statements are included in the City’s
basic financial statements as pension trust funds. Each plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes
financial statements and the required supplementary information for that plan. The State System Plans are included in the
City’s basic financial statements in governmental activities and these plans also issue a publicly available financial report.
Financial statements for the City Plans and the State System may be obtained from the following websites:

For Employees’ Retirement System and Elected Officials’ Retirement System: www.bcers.org
For Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System: www.bcfpers.org
For the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System: www.sra.state.md.us

3. Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability and Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
The City of Baltimore provides other postemployment benefits (OPEB) to all qualified City and BCPSS employees. The

OPEB Trust Fund does not issue separate financial statements but is included in the City’s financial statements as a
fiduciary trust fund.
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Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted to expenditures for particular
purposes.

Community Development Block Grant, Special Racetrack Funds, School Construction, Baltimore Casino, State Video
Lottery Terminal Funds, Table Games Fund, Affordable Housing Trust Fund and Children and Youth Fund - These funds
account for revenues derived from certain State shared taxes, governmental grants and other revenue sources that are
restricted by law or administrative action to expenditures for specific purposes.

Scholarship Fund - This fund accounts for the contributions received and related interest income. The fund can be used
to provide scholarships to City residents.

Permanent Funds

Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, not principal, may
be used for the purposes that fund and support the reporting government’s programs.

Enoch Pratt Free Library Fund - This fund accounts for principal trust amounts received and the related interest income.
The interest portion of the trust can be used for the operations of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.

Memorial Fund - This fund accounts for the principal trust amounts received and the related interest income. The interest
portion of the trust can be used by the City for memorials.

111



CITYOF BALTIMORE

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023
(Bxpressed in Thousands)
Special Revenue Funds Permanent Funds
Communty State Video Enoch Total
Development ~ School Lottery Affordable Pratt Free Nonmajor
Block Grant ~ Construction Baltimore ~ Terminal ~ Scholarship  Table Game Housing Trust Chiloren and Liorary - Memorial Governmental
Fund Fund  CasinoFund  Fund Fund Fund Fund  YouthFund  Total Fnd  FRind  Toal  Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash equivakS.........c..vvvvvvrnns $ 18§ 20048 290 $ 852§ 6069 § 4003 § 4645 2039 § 90200 § 259 § 610§ 89§ 91069
TIVESHINES. oo 699 699 200 986 12346 13045
Other receivables, et............ooonrvvvvrrreennee. 33531 3 3875 387
Due from other government......................... 28 1436 26 2007 2007
Ol BSSES. .o 3549 268 446 8% 678 4209 4648 039 16781 219 10466 1325 1309%
Liabiltes, deferred inflows of resources
and fund balances:
Liabiles:
Accounts payable and accrued fabiles........... 3811 593 150 2 3 165 6264 6,264
D t0 ofher fundS.....vvvvveveesrseerrrrrrrrnnns 29400 29400 29400
Total Babis. .. .vvvvevvcvrrre R 5% 150 12 13 165 3664 35,664
Total labilties ....vvvv v R 5% 150 12 13 165 3664 3664
Fund balances:
RESHCLEd. ..o 6,768 44 18764 72004 219 046 13A5 B
ASSIZIO. o 8 268 38 8w Am 19113 19113
Total fund elances ........occvvvvrvvon 8 268 38 82 678 a6 18764 9L 20 0466 135 143
Total liabiles, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances ................ $ BHMI S 268§ 4468 82528 6768 5 429§ 4645 S 2039 S1678L § 2749 §10466 § 1325 § 1309%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Forthe Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Special Revenue Funds Permanent Funds
Communiy State Video
Development  School Lottery Affordable Enoch Pratt Total Nonmajor
Block Grant  Construction Battimore ~ Terminal ~Scholarship Table Game  Housing ~ Children and Freg Library Memorial Governmental
Fund Fund ~ CasinoFund  Fund Fund Fund  TrustFund YouthFund  Total Fund Fnd  Total Funds
Revenues:
Taxes - 1062l vvvvovreeereee e § 1159 § 11919 § 13757 § 37129 $ I
State shared TEVENUE ......vvv.vvvvvvvveervvvvnnen 4006 § 927 § 2918 § 18 18048 18048
Interest, rentals and other mvestment income........ $ 178 m $ % 8§ 10%
Tntergovernmental grants................vvvvvvvvvvvvrnneen $ 21319 2319 21319
Total leVEnUES.......vvvvvvvvrvervvarrieriones 24319 15559 9237 2918 178 1887 11919 1B 19774 % LAY 80,69
Expenditures:
Current:
General QOVEIMIMRNL,.........ccvvvveeeunrrrrrrverrronns 1 1542 617 52 28,050 28050
Public safety and regulation ................cooer. 79 94 1783 1783
SOCIAl SEIVICE. v 26 26 26
Education... 81 8In 8112
Recreation and CUUIE.............oovvevvvevvereninene 87 175 1812 268 268 2,080
Sanitation and waste removal ... 813 813 813
Economic development...... 1428 1041 %7 16210 16210
Total xpendiures..........cvvvvvrrrrres 25669 1544 3603 582 1725 1931 8172 51106 %M 57374
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expendiures................. (1350) 135 564 23% 178 162 9988 5585 22668 9% 53 649 28317
Other financing sources (uses):
THASFETS OUL.vvvvvvvvvvvvvvvesesssssssssssssssssssssnnnns (4000)  (1525) (5525) (5525)
Total other fnancing sources (uses)........... (4000)  (1525) (5525) (5525)
Net change in fund balances.................... (1350) 13 1634 811 178 162 9988 558 17,143 % 53 649 177192
Fund balances - Deginning .................ccovvvvverssssserins 1628 %8 218 79 6590 A5 64 B9 3T 26 9913 12566 86,540
Fund balances - ending...........ccooovvvvvvvcriiiiirrrrrrrnen $ S 2688 38B % 8128 6768 S 427 S 464 S 18764 S OLIT 0§ 2749 § 10466 $13215 § 1043
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Nonmajor Proprietary Fund

Enterprise Fund

Enterprise funds are used to account for the operating of various City activities that are provided to the public on a cost
reimbursement basis.

Conduit Fund - This fund accounts for the rental, operation, maintenance and development of the City’s Conduits.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Net Position
Nonmajor Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Conduit Fund

Assets:
Current assets:
Accounts receivable, net:

(011115 USRI $ 14,362
TOtal CUITENE ASSEES. .. ettt e e et et 14,362

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents..............coiiiiii i e 7,599

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation...............c.oooiiiiiiiii i 210,476
Capital assets not being depreciated. ... ...ooueeiiiiii i 32,707
Total NONCUITENE ASSELS. ..ttt ettt ettt e e e e 250,782

01721 TS TR 265,144

Deferred outflows of resources

Deferred outflows related t0 PENSION .......vuiieiiii e 342
Deferred outflows related to OPEB ... e 637
Total deferred outflows Of TESOUICES. .. ..oiutiiitt it e e, 979

Total assets and deferred outflows Of TESOUICES. . .vvvviieiitieit i, 266,123

Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued Habilities. .............oooiiiiiiiii e 1,513
Due to Other fUNAS. ... .oe e 48,401
ComPENSAtEd ADSEICES . . ...ttt e et ettt et e e e 260
Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable from restricted asSets..........oeiitiiiiii e 7,030
Total current HADIItIES. . . . ..ottt et e, 57,204
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension Hability ..........o.oioiii e 3,681
Net OPEB Hability ........oooieii e e 764
ComPENSAtEd ADSEIICES. ..ttt ittt et et e e et e et e e et e e e e 296
Total noncurrent HabIlItIES. . . ....ooert ettt e e e 4,741
Total HabIHLIES . . ..o vttt e e, 61,945
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related t0 PENSION ......viuetiiete ettt et et e e eeeaas 132
Deferred inflows related to OPEB ...t e e 1,654
Total deferred INFIOWS OF TESOUICES. ... v uuueeeete ettt ettt e, 1,786
Total Liabilities and deferred INflows Of TESOUICES. . ...vvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaaaannnn, 63,731
Net position:
Net investment in CAPIAl ASSELS ....uviutietitt ettt et ettt et e eaeeeenaenes 457,255
L85 (T 1y Tor =T« PSP (254,863)
TOtal NEt POSIION. .. ..\ttt e e e e et e $ 202,392
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position
Nonmajor Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Conduit
Fund
Operating revenues:
Rents, fees, and other INCOME...........ooviiiiiiiiii e $ 41134
Total OpeTating TEVETUES. .. ... e vttt ettt ettt et et eeeaenns 41,134
Operating expenses:
Salaries and Wages. ... .ouiueieie et 6,178
Other PerSONNEl COSTS. .. ..uitit ittt ettt et e e e eans 1,035
CoNtractual SETVICES. ... vttt 3,087
Materials and SUPPHES. . ... .eueneieie et 117
Y e eTe 1810 111S) 1| P 11
DS (T 1 (o) 1,979
Total OPerating EXPEIISES. ... vt et ert it et enteteteeeeeeeaeeeeeeseneennannes 12,407
Income before capital contributions and transfers .................cc.ccoecieieiiiieinnnn 28,727
Capital contributions (diStriDULION). .........oueuieiniiet e, (19,520)
Changes M NEt POSTLION. .....ueiuiteet et ettt ettt e eeae e eneenans 9,207
Total net PoSItion - BEZIMMING ..........otiniitietitit ettt ettt re e e ereneaans 193,185
Total net position - €NdiNg. ............oooeiini e, $ 202,392
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Nonmajor Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Conduit
Fund
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from CUSTOMETS. . ...ttt ettt et et et e e et et et e e e aneenaas $ 69,224
Payments t0 @MPlOYEES. ... .ttt ettt ettt et e (6,457)
Payments t0 SUPPHETS .. .....uiniet ettt et et et et e e (6,913)
Net cash provided by operating activities............ovvveieiiiiniiit i, 55,854
Cash flow from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital SSEtS........o.vuiitiriiitiiii e (55,672)
Capital contributions (reducCtion)............oevuinitiriiit e (19,520)
Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities............................. (75,192)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents..............ccoooiiiii i, (19,338)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of Year.............o.oiiiiiiiiii e 26,937
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year........... ... $ 7,599
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
OPErating MCOIMIE ...\ttt ettt et e e e $ 28,727
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
D PICCIAtION CXPCIISE ..\ v utt ettt et et e et e et et et e et e et et e ee e eaeeaae e teeaeaaeenneanneannas 1,979
ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE. ... e (125)
O BT ASSEES . . v v vt ettt 28,215
Deferred outflows = PENSION .. ..vutiett ettt et e e e e et et e 286
Deferred outflows - OPEB ...ttt e e e (282)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. .............coiiiiiii 1,141
Other HaDIHEIES ... .vne ettt e e e e e e (4,970)
Other noncurrent Habilities ..............ouieieieie e (28)
Pension liability - current period ............ooiuiiiiiiii e 1,091
OPEB liability - current period ............oiitinit i e (559)
Deferred inflows = PENSION. ...ttt 99
Deferred inflows - OPEB.......oiiiiii e 280
Total AdJUSTMENLS. ... ee ettt et et e 27,127
Net cash provided by operating aCtiVItIES . .. . .......ueu ettt $ 55,854
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Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency
to other departments or agencies of the government, and to other governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis.

Municipal Communication Fund - This fund accounts for the repair and maintenance of the City’s radios.

Mobile Equipment Fund - This fund accounts for the service, repair, operation, and replacement of the City’s equipment
fleet.

Reproduction and Printing Fund - This fund accounts for the operation of the City’s printing shop.
Municipal Post Office Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the City’s internal post office facility.

Municipal Telephone Exchange Fund - This fund accounts for the administration and operations of the City’s telephone
exchange.

Building Maintenance Fund - This fund accounts for repairs and maintenance in City-owned buildings.

Hardware and Software Replacement Fund - This fund accounts for the cost of maintaining the City’s software licensing
agreements and hardware refreshes.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Fund Net Position
Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal Hardware and
Municipal Mobile  Reproduction Municipal Telephone  Building Software
Communication Equipment and Printing Post Office Exchange Maintenance Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents..............coceevveee. $ 2,403 $ 3845 $ 5184 $ 11432
Accounts receivable, net:
Other...... $ 38 % 199 17 $ 343 917
Due to other fund...........ccoooovviiiiiiiiiiiiei 1,396 1,396
INVENTOTIES ..ot 10,890 806 $ 966 12,662
Total current assets...........ccoeeeververennenn. 2,403 11,248 1,005 966 5,258 343 5,184 26,407
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash.......ccoovviiiiiieieiieee e 698 101,452 102,150
Capital asSets, Net......coveeervriirireeiiieeeeciinne 2,755 74,324 19 77,098
Total noncurrent assets.........coeevvvvvevnevne 3,453 175,776 19 179,248
Total aSSets......vvvvrverreereeeeieninns 5856 187,024 1,005 985 5,258 343 5184 205,655
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities............ 376 15,381 478 666 1,795 8,232 936 27,864
Due to other funds...........coocoviviiiiniieeiiein 32,109 4,038 1,341 2,685 40,173
Financed purchases...........ccoevvvieeveeeiiiiieennenenns 1,882 22,632 24514
Compensated abSENnces .........cccvvvvereviiierneen 27 703 42 25 81 310 1,188
Total current liabilities...............c.ccoce..... 2,285 70,825 4,558 2,032 1,876 11,227 936 93,739
Noncurrent liabilities:
Financed purchases...........coevvvvreveeeiiiiieeneenenns 5,895 87,382 93,277
Compensated abSences .........c..oovvvveeeveeenernrnnn 41 834 69 38 267 373 1,622
Total noncurrent liabilities..................... 5,936 88,216 69 38 267 373 94,899
Total liabilities..............cc..ovnen... 8221 159,041 4,627 2,070 2,143 11,600 93 183,638
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets........................ (35,690) (35,690)
Unrestricted (deficit).........coooverirririiiiiineneens (2365) 63673 (3,623) (1,085) 3115 (11,257) 4,248 52,706
Total net position ...........ccccouvviiviiineeeviiiiiiiiiinen 9 (2365) $ 27,983 $ (3622) $ (1085 $ 3115 $ (11257) $ 4248 $ 17,017
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position

Internal Service Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Hardware and
Municipal ~ Mobile Municipal ~ Municipal Building Software
Communication Equipment Reproductionand PostOffice ~ Telephone  Maintenance  Replacement
Fund Fund  Printing Fund Fund  BchangeFund  Fund Fund Total
Operating revenues:
Charges fOr SEIVCES ... vvvvvvevrrr v $ 8572 $ 69590 $ u8 $ 4016 § 120§ 782 $ 595 § 128371
Operating expenses:
Salaries and Wages..........vvevvvvcrrrnsnrvrresnsnsone 697 15319 801 418 1,689 6,109 5183
Other personnel 08t ..vvvvvrververvesvervesvesvesver iy 5733 228 162 27 1492 8,049
CONLTACTUALSEIVIES . v 3690 45612 1401 4 9,040 2627 U5 97,0%
Materials and SUPPLES. ...vvvvvrvvvverevrovsorsorsorsonsonna 2,051 786 846 3 989 4675
MINO €QUIPIRIL. ..o vvv v u ) 5 u 7 6,232 6,210
DRPIECIAION. v 18% 14386 i 16,246
Total operating eXpenSes. .....vvvvvrrverveene. 6,397 83073 331 5%1 11,046 4,224 6477 157459
Operating iNCOMe (1088)...v..vvvevvnvrvvrvrernn 2115 (13483) (3083) (1,855) 108 (13312) (522)  (29,088)
Nonoperating revenues:
T G (R (542 (542
Loss on sale 0f equIpIent.........evvevvovrvvrvvenrrn (329 (329
Total nonoperating revenues, net .............. (575)) (575))
Change in et POSTON. ...vvvveevcevevveevcen 2115 (19.234) (3063) (1,855) 102 (13312) (b22)  (34839)
Total net position - DEZIMNING ......cvvrvvvvvvvvevveevsssrsirine (4540) 41207 (560) L) 2083 2115 4710 518%
Total net position - e0dINZ.........o.ooocceercorrrveerirrrieniioi 9 (2365) § 27983 $ (3623) §  (1,089) § 315 8 (10057) $ 4208 § 17016
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Internal Services Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal ~ Mobile  Reproduction  Municipal ~ Telephone
Communication Equipment  and Printing Post Office  Exchange  Maintenance Replacement
Fund Fund Fund

Hardware

Building  and Software

Fund Fund

Total

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from CUSTOMELS. ........vvvovververirieniniririniniens
Payments t0 emplOYES..........vvvrvverrerreviieiierereiennn
Payments t0 SUPPEETS. ......vvvvvverrerrevrererer e
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities........
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets.....................
Financed purchases payment .........c...o.evveverrvvrereriennons
TEETESE PRI ..o s
Net cash (used) by capital and related financing
ACHVIEES. ..o e
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents. ...
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year...............cccevvrvvnn.
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year...............cooeververrrinnn.

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
operating activities:
Operating 1COME ([085)........vvovververrrrrrrierierierinirions

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities:
DEPIECIAION. ..o
Changes in noncash operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts eCeIVable. ..o,
TOVEIROTIES. ..o
Accounts payable and accrued liabilites.................co.evvn.s
Compensated ABSEIICES............vvrvervvrerreriirerereirnninnns
Due t0 oher funds...........ovververirieieee
Other BabIHES ........ovovevviverevieeeiee e,
Total AdUSIMENLS. .......evovvvvierereiener e

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities.....................

Noncash activity from capital and related financing activities:

New financed purchases ...........ccoovevvevvniiniiinniinnncinnn,
Total noncash activity from capital and related financing activities ..

$ 8572 § 9488 $

5068 § 12017 § 30442 §

595 § 160,104

(80 (20856) (1431) (32786)
(3%1)  (396%) (9620)  (554)  (92979)
3L U5 (6609 414 U3

(150) (156)

(1843) (1849)
(5422) (542)

(1849 (5590) (143)

1918 2885 (6609 414 2696
118 e 6600 4TI0 86666

$ 3101 § 101452

>

$ 5184 § 113562

$ 2175 § (13483) §

(3063) $ (1855) $ 1032 § (13372) $

(52) § (29089)

18%  143% 16245

(359) (%) (583)

(4017) (4446)

(49 8010 422 % 159

) oy

2671 2685 %77

1% ) u7

1586 47888 6763 % 634

§ 3L S A5 $ (6609) $ 414 $ 3%
§ 26009 26009

$ § 26009 26009
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Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds include the following funds, which account for assets held by the City as a trustee or as an agent for
individuals.

Pension Trust Funds — These funds account for the receipt, investment, and distribution of retirement contributions made
for the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officials, and other City employees.

OPEB Trust Fund — This fund accounts for the receipts of City and retiree contributions into the OPEB Trust Fund and
payment of all retiree related health and life insurance benefits.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
June 30, 2023
(Expressed In Thousands)

Elected  Fireand Police
Employees' Officials' ~ Employees' OPEB
Retirement ~ Retirement  Retirement Trust
System System System Fund Total
Assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIBNES . ... ....evvie e $ 408710 $ 20§ 42000 % 329 $§ 114285

Investments:

SEOCKS . v 923,044 18012 1,441,369 609019 2991444

BONAS v 366,202 5,647 450,942 154,679 977,560

REAIESIALE ... 273,959 3389 307,836 84,321 669,505

Private equity and hedge fund ..o, 429184 832973 1,262,157
Securities lending collateral ... 43,881 12079 55,960
Forward foreign CONLTACES .......vveeee e 12,449 2,152 14,601
OhETASSEES ... vt AT 1 13902 1244 36,755

TOMALSSEES ... evvveee et 2,111,156 300 3103253 880558 6,122,267
Liabilities:
Obligations under securities lending program .............oooovvvviiiiiiniinnn, 43881 12,019 55,960
Forward fOreign CONETACES ... ..\'vvv e 12449 2152 14,601
ACCOUNS PAYADIE ...\ 20929 14,164 3405 38498
Pension benefits payable ... 20 20

Total liabilities .............cooovviviii 71,259 20 28,3% 3405 109079
Net position:
Net position restricted for penSionS ...........ovvvvvvvvviiiiieiee 2033897 $ 21280 § 3074858 $ 5136,03%
Net position restricted for OPEB..........ovvvivviieee e $ 871153 § 817153
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
For the year Ended June 30, 2023
(Expressed In Thousands)

Elected  Fireand Police
Employees'  Officials’  Employees' OPEB
Retirement ~ Retirement  Retirement Trust
System System System Fund Total
Additions:
Contributions:
100 PP $ 94788 $ 153984 5,09% § 302867
BDIOYEE ... 214 % 80 32,088 23437 97,749
Total contributions ... 116,932 80 186,072 97532 400,616
Investment income:
Net appreciation fair value of investments .............oocoovviiiiiiiiininnn, 86,087 1,504 163,882 44832 296,305
Securities lending income, Net ..o 211 19 406
Interest and dividend INCOME ..........oovviiviii 347192 613 75012 15897 126314
Total INVESIMENtINCOME ... vvvv v 121,09 2117 239,089 60,729 423025
LeSS; INVESHMENE BXDENSE ..ottt et 90 62 15,892 4448 20,492
Net InVeStMENtINCOME .. .. ov e 121,000 2,055 223197 56,281 402533
Total 8dditions . ... 271932 213 409,269 153813 803,149
Deductions:
Retirement BENEfitS .. ... .o 170,579 1533 264,546 436,658
Health benefits ... 88,011 88,011
DRAtN DENETIES .. ..o 870 615 1,485
AAMINIStratiVe BXPBNSES .. ...\t 5069 60 5252 10,381
ONT e 1,820 20,082 21,902
Total dedUCtions ... .. v 178,338 1593 290,495 88,011 558,437
Changes in NEEPOSIION ... v 59,594 542 118,774 65,802 244712
Net position restricted for pensions and OPEB - beginning of the year....................ooevn. 1,974,304 26,1371 2,956,084 811,351 5,768,476
Net position restricted for pensions and OPEB - end ofthe year...............oovvvivviviinnnn, $ 20338% § 21219 § 3074858 § 877153 § 6013188
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statistical Section
(Unaudited)
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Net Position by Component
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2014 2015 2016 217 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Governmental activities

Net investment in capital assets .................. $2560231 $ 2520873 $ 2464962 $ 2528116 $ 2574640 $2520881 $2628359 $2561,824 § 2,619,065 $2,212,781
L R 22598 15946 24669 400063 483623 527293 533780 548492 548272 607148
Unrestricted (442540)  (L,759,089)  (L662,259) (LO5L655) (2771,072) (3416173) (3838.247) (3,756,368) (3,301,360) (3,265,506)
Total governmental activities

L3111 RS $2149280 § 777730 § 827372 § 976524 § 287191 $ (367999) $ (676,108) § (646052) § (134023) § (445577)
Business-type activities

Net investment in capital 88SetS .................. $ 2215884 §2379232 $ 2386644 § 2981404 $ 3383394 $3345821 $3475643 $3554.754 $ 3393693 $3510817
RESHTICtEd....vvvvvvvvviiirr 180965 157613 165076 162084 161308 181109 184072 257759 292386 363,595
LA N 123976 136251 413302 85565  (92013) 176933 237007 369574 613755 557993
Total business-type activities

L POSIHION...vvvvvvvvvvvvevvvssrseens $ 2520825 $ 267309 $ 2965022 $ 3229053 § 3452689 $3703863 $30896820 $4,182,087 § 4209834 4432405
Primary government

Net investment in capital assets .................. $ 4785115 $ 4900105 $ 4851606 $ 5509520 §$ 5958034 $5866,702 $6104002 $6,116578 § 6,012,758 $5,723598
RESHTICtEd...vvvvvvvvvvvciirivi 03563 173559 189745 562047 644931 708402 717852 806251 840658 970743
LA RN (318564)  (L622,838) (L248957) (LB66,090) (2.863,085) (3239240) (3601,140) (3:386,794) (2,687,605) (2,707513)
Total primary government

BREPOSIHION...vvvvvvvvvvvvvvccvvinsrsrseesenens $ 4670114 $ 3450826 $ 3792304 $ 4205577 § 3739880 $3335864 $3220,714 $3536,035 § 4165811 $3,986,828
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Expenses
Government activities:
General gOVernment .............c.occoveeiieeniceinnens $ 278892 $ 294987 $ 303696 $ 249415 $ 404025 $ 524515 $ 400893 $ 469895 $ 680482 $ 643985
Public safety and regulation . 673,680 692,155 744,940 764,040 781,830 1,228,602 929,667 540,675 495,295 884,812
Conservation of health 125,383 112,575 116,592 119811 134743 169,216 153,361 238343 102,496 223809
Social services .. 112,301 102,809 109,591 120,630 95,107 103,384 96,066 109,391 46,078 71198
Education 306,128 302,568 299,699 218,881 383934 494,735 556,361 445278 415,151 663,354
Public library. 34550 35,063 34,150 34531 35,189 46,150 43288 44795 47844 48600
Recreation and culture ... 52540 51,367 53,657 58,124 59,049 68,491 70,023 50955 57420 81437
Highways and streets 172,330 185,601 192,487 169,147 165,800 181,100 171571 171578 109,502 227,609
Sanitation and waste removal .. 63,623 67,445 70823 76,638 81877 98499 88,140 93298 96,363 120,261
Public service 50,260 51,041 49475 53,188 50,052 103,340 59,833 64,306 749 32,060
Economic development ... 2083870 141,772 126,430 1335% 131,347 188,852 148,659 200,302 133416 166,988
Interest 41,967 41,078 30518 28857 71530 52,787 5749% 43994 25,105 35,000
Total governmental activities expenses .. 2,120,524 2,078461 2,132,058 2,086,856 2,400,483 3259671 2,775,358 2472810 2,210,501 3,199,113
Business-type Activities:
Water ... 155,308 160,208 170,637 167,667 147289 158,089 202,211 193828 197,622 226,107
Waste water . 179,306 182,769 193563 193,055 207,730 237,3% 276,754 272,330 275487 331,684
Stormwater 18292 15,747 19,365 21521 26175 25299 21,206 24515 39,556 20,309
Parking ........ 23528 19,183 18125 27939 17,797 24038 15,145 20,808 7693 13,092
Nonmajor proprietary . 10,753 11,607 12,148 13,703 10,087 11,142 11577 14317 2,717 12518
Total business-type activities expenses .. . 387,187 389,514 413838 423885 409,078 455,964 532,893 525,858 543075 604,310
Total primary government expenses ... $ 2507711 $ 2467975 $ 25458%6 § 2510741 § 2809561 $ 3715635 $ 3308251 $ 2998668 $ 2753576 $ 3803423
Program Revenues
Governmental activities:
Charges for Services (a) ..........ccccocevveeriiiciiicnn $ 103331 $§ 107482 $ 103190 $ 103151 $ 111154 § 122790 $ 119799 $ 106621 $ 103576 $ 104,068
Operating grants and contributions ... 431515 318,266 347,636 344,684 324451 365,771 378,546 471,637 453220 603,774
Capital grants and contributions 71806 54,788 25,284 83501 41,095 67,257 151510 69,483 43478 39,217
Total governmental activities revenue ..................... 606,652 480,536 476,110 531,336 476,706 555,818 649,855 647,741 600,274 747,059
Business-type activities:
Charges for services:
WALET et 158,678 176439 160,865 163,563 178,367 175492 216,396 243563 278,280 232,752
Waste water . 221,181 216428 229,300 235133 258,386 276,844 210,764 289812 278,131 304453
Stormwater ... 27511 25971 21,807 29,309 28552 28540 30,943 31462 37,882 37,163
87,398 85,634 87,145 88454 85,257 76,801 69,697 38,693 56,537 60,104
Nonmajor proprietary . 14,385 13916 37,505 11,744 28,639 34,627 35,986 36,712 36,807 41,134
Capital Grants and Contributions .. 131574 201,880 259,288 217,959 169,154 161,469 162,602 195,057 16,230 103471
Total Business-type Activities Revenue . 640,727 720,268 801,910 746,162 748,355 753,773 786,388 835,299 703,867 779,077
Total Primary Government Revenues 1247379 1,200,804 1,278,020 1277498 1,225,061 1,309,591 1436,243 1483040 1,304,141 1526,136
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Government Activities .... (1513872)  (1597925)  (1655948)  (L556520)  (L923777)  (2703853)  (2125503)  (1825069)  (1610227)  (2452054)
Business-type Activities ... 253540 330,754 388,072 322217 339,217 297,809 253495 309441 160,792 174,767

Total Primary Government Net Expenses . o $ (1260332 $ (L6771 § (L267876) § (1233243) § (1584500) $ (2406044) $ (L872008) $ (L515628) $ (L449435)

$ (2211.28])

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities:

Property taxes ... $ 810824 $ 81619 $ 852114 $ 853197 $ 88647 § 909254 $ 882332 $ 977299 $ 1034569 $ 1,056,930

Income taxes ... 284431 300,014 346,727 335923 346,797 440,144 396,540 410,712 449876 455,975

Other local taxes 204,301 193595 242,426 240278 187,754 263381 175,770 209918 353372 281966

State shared revenues . 131,180 147608 153,195 159,022 170,240 166,082 163417 155527 190,226 205,090

Unrestricted investment Income .. 16,722 19431 34782 21634 2829 48,730 34734 16598 24739 66,839

Miscellaneous 32581 88,734 3073 32523 124395 161,944 94,212 60,895 26429 31,504

Transfers (195,564) 61495 100,737 62,095 59,295 59,128 56,482 24,176 43,045 42,196
Total Governmental Activities . 1284571 1627076 1763054 1,704,672 1,803,194 2,048,663 1803487 1855125 2,122,256 2,140,500
Business-type Activities:

Unrestricted investment Income .................ccoueeenn. 2,186 5809 4591 3849 5535 12493 9,853 -

Transfers 195564 (61,495) (100,737) (62,095) (59,295) (59,128) (56,482) (24,176) (43,045) (42,19)
Total Business-type activities .. 197,750 (55,686) (96,146) (58,246) (53,760) (46,635) (46,629 (24176) (43,045) (42,196)
Total primary gOVEINMENt ...........c.eveverivrnrireierierrienn 1482321 1571390 1,666,908 1,646,426 1749434 2,002,028 1,756,858 1830949 2079211 2,098,304
Change in Net Position
Governmental activities . (229,301) 29,151 107,106 149152 (120,583) (655,190) (322,016) 30,056 512,029 (311,554)
Business-type activities .. 451,200 275,068 291,926 264,031 285517 251,174 206,866 285,265 117,747 132571
Total primary government .. $ 21989 $§ 304219 $ 399032 $ 413183 § 164934 $  (404016) $ (115150) $ 315321 $ 629,776 ($178983)

(a) Changes for services include charges for various City services such as rental of recreational facilities, solid waste disposal fees, port and stadium security services, impound lot fees and library video rental.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Modified Accrued Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
204 255 216 o 218 209 0 m M 0
General Fund
Nonspendable .....cvvervwes § 5519 § 5519 & 207255 § 260 § 220 % 308§ 39S 261§ L6 S 6007
RESHTICtEd v 3609% 123613 3109 e AR 318302 3353
Assigned........ 183946 174647 A5 197220 21658 5125 237026 180620 9917 282,6%
UNBSSIZE oo 106022 102642 134300 134377 163,604 145945 139,661 152864 157211 20912
Total General Fund .....covvvervoviorn $ 0461 5 20008 § 675812 § TS0 § GBS § 8339 S BB §  T6ESR2 § 8676 § 943150
Al Other Govermental Funds
Restricted
Grants revenue fund .........o.o..... $ 249§ 21606
Capital projects fund ............... § 926 § 210 § 1073 § 508 8448 300 § 106898 TS e s A
Other nonmajor funds .............. 13342 13756 139%6 13986 14688 18057 053 40316 68619 829
Assigned
Capital projects fund ............v.. 5064 56,46 98,117 86,406
Other nonmajor funds ............ B 58,09 10,068 1023 879 1699 16,64 19038 vl 19113
Unassigned
Grants revenue fund ........oo. (8335) (178%) (36799)  (13584) 8
Capital projects fund .....ovvvve— (13612) (1516 (14629) (8.966) (863)
Other nonmajor funds ... (9:451) (123%9) (1819) (1432)
Total all other Governmental Funds ............ $ (0603 (BT (1660 8 TAL S yeU § 1458 § 167215 § 153318 § 14367 § 18167
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Revenue:
General fund:
Taxes - local ... $ 17258118 $ 17284515 $1426286 $ 1410593 $ 1,406,403 $ 1535001 $ 1,490,708 $ 1,568,679 $ 1,820,590 $ 1,742,360
State shared revenue . $131,180 137,714 142,213 140,451 146,174 146,085 148,910 141,732 175,035 187,042
Licenses and permits 41,457 41,584 48,829 44,450 41,043 38,880 34,042 31,702 27,391 25,610
Fines and forfeitures ... 14,673 15,325 8,365 7,192 27,085 34,939 36,093 35,484 33,314 35,336
Interest, rentals, and other investment income ... 15,833 17,181 33,991 21,082 27,071 46,140 32,027 13,834 21,808 64,164
Intergovernmental grants .. 132,434
Federal grants 261 275 217 480 79 16,719 85,039 57,888
State grants 102,786 105,059 104,585 105,705 104,644 98,528 107,973 107,204 101,891
Other grants ... 26 26 26 26 27 26
Charges for service: 47,201 50,573 45,996 51,509 43,026 48,971 49,664 39,435 42,871 43,122
Miscellancous 5,757 5,730 459 7,300 8,560 4,492 6,693 6,636 3,354
Total revenues - general fund .............ccoccevveiiiinnnins 1,617,292 1,657,982 1,810,967 1,788,788 1795552 1,957,130 1,920,628 2,029,802  2,287424 2,233,422
Other governmental funds:
Grants revenue fund ... 242,805 223,148 222,291 226,145 233,957 242,604 236,726 268,121 281,944 447,021
Capital projects fund ... 91,069 66,983 45,370 105,487 62,019 149,195 167,792 81,726 57,369 53,613
Other funds 36,279 41,327 40,792 47,068 56,090 64,161 66,619 56,737 74,300 80,691
Total revenues - other governmental funds . 370,153 331,458 308,453 378,700 352,066 455,960 471,137 406,584 413,613 581,325
Total revenues all government funds ..... 1,987,445  1,989440 2,119,420 2167488 2147618 2413090 2,391,765 2436386 2,701,037 2,814,747
Expenditures:
General fund:
General government 216,329 258,028 281,616 249,579 155,606 267,831 259,968 415,463 433,325 435,450
Public safety and regulation .. 625,432 679,202 702,632 730,093 766,230 831,453 799,401 810,793 867,723 745,296
Conservation of health .. 23,778 20,887 19,663 21,882 38,648 36,077 37,785 132,450 63,706 58,239
Social services 76,857 64,249 73,851 86,353 59,899 68,539 56,519 65,812 5,778 19,944
Education 273,241 265,939 269,937 276,324 293,355 289,410 288,912 304,669 282,743 336,714
Public library ... 24,577 24,942 24,856 24,812 24,505 26,784 27,886 24,794 27,282 30,946
Recreation and culture 39,796 39,349 41,884 44,392 43,845 45574 51,897 51,558 50,672 63,368
Highways and streets 102,308 113,452 125,440 96,537 99,848 102,468 99,702 107,305 147,151 146,889
Sanitation and waste removal 59,837 64,422 72,642 72,380 75,384 78,238 81,719 94,402 95,638 109,558
Public service 41,241 43,895 42,947 44,769 42,579 44,863 49,689 51,149 29,676 16,025
Economic development ... 49,348 49,069 39,499 34,276 41,634 52,998 63,843 50,473 73,146 53,447
Debt service-Principal 42,956 60,646 51,466 60,922 66,913 55,403 61,575 67,878
Debt service-Interest 24,786 37,042 43,247 44,425 56,683 47,399 32,419 40,437
Other bonds cost...... 2,033 6,318
Total expenditures - general fund .. 1,532,744 1623434 1,764,742 1785403 1736246 1949582 19400917 2211670 2,170,834 2,124,191
Other government funds:
Grants revenue fund . 275,977 223,964 238,344 218,716 221,811 242,441 273,949 293,820 329,217 475,112
Capital projects fund ... 160,874 172,688 173,201 154,671 186,541 241,506 258,800 153,872 161,181 177,426
Debt service fund:
Principal .. 44,483 38,912
Interest .... 31,708 31,005
Other bond costs 6,178 6,135
Other funds 23,133 31,107 29,565 34,101 41,857 37,119 41,958 56,757 41,074 57,374
Total expenditures - other government funds . 542,353 503,811 441,110 407,488 450,209 521,066 574,707 504,449 531,472 709,912
Total expenditures all governmental funds 2,075,097 2,127,245 2,205,852 2,192,891 2186455 2470648 2515624 2716119 2,702,306 2,834,103
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures ....................... (87,652)  (137,805) (86,432) (25,403 (38,837) (57,558) (123,859) (279,733 (1,269) (19,356)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers, net .. 56,828 61,495 100,038 60,289 57,703 64,777 57,882 24,176 43,045 42,196
Leases 8,978 29,618
Issuance of debt 17,927
Proceeds from leases . 3,524
Proceeds from subscriptions issued (SBITA) . 7,348
Refunding leases ............... (4,563)
Face value of bonds and loans 5414 64,249 92,317 1,907 225,155 121,406 43,560 55,843
Refunding of bonds ............ (377,111) (133,560) 3675 (36,720) 7,197
Transportation revenue bonds .. 9,609 (13,833) 14,924 (8,004) 47,209 137,485
Swap termination
Premium (discount) on sale of bonds . 1,606 3,220 35,923 5,976 8,224 101,710
Proceeds from bond issuances ... 403,750 8,792
Capital contributions (20,421)
Payoff of bond anticipation note ... (60,148)
Total other financing sources . 41,821 136,959 190,720 88,835 165,052 190,646 117,907 225,728 60,972 162,575
Net changes in fund balances .................... . $ (45831 $ (846) $ 104288 $ 63432 $ 126215 $ 133088 $  (5952) $ (54,005 $ 59,703 $ 143219
Debt service as a percentage of noncapital expenditures . 3.89% 3.52% 3.26% 4.66% 4.61% 4.53% 5.36% 3.96% 3.57% 3.87%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Total Percent of
Fiscal Tax Collected within due Percent Collections in Total Total Tax Collections
Year Levy Fiscal Year of the Levy of Levy Collected Subsequent Years Tax Collection to TaxLevy
2014 $ 755711 $ 741,449 9.1 $ 14,263 $ 714254 995 %
2015 778,380 762,772 9.0 12,061 772,040 9.0
2016 804,301 760,686 946 3278 808,328 95.0
2017 851,099 808,328 %0 3319 841524 989
2018 892,079 865,223 97.0 11,0% 876,318 982
2019 901,885 870,822 9.6 2,388 873210 9.8
2020 924,357 887,452 9.0 19491 906,943 981
202 934,187 906,201 970 13273 919474 97.0
202 957,351 933828 975 933,828 975
2023 979,383 946,088 9.6 946,088 9.6
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Assessed and Estimate Actual Value of Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)
Real Property Personal Property Total Ratio of Total

Estimate Estimate Estimate Assessed Value Total
Fiscal Assessed Actual Assessed Actual Assessed Actual to Total Estimate ~ Direct
Year Valu Valug Value Valug Valug Valug Actual Value%  TaxRate
014 $ 2920703 $ BB § 196675 0§ 19%67%5 31648 8 35,905,136 8.8 2.360
2015 29,063,381 33,749,836 1,895,006 1,895,006 30,958,387 35,644,802 8.9 2360
216 31,577,756 3182497 2011722 2,010,722 33580478 37,194.219 889 2360
017 32,550,695 31113758 2123826 2123826 34674521 39,237,584 884 2360
218 33,909,100 33,844,708 2241083 2,309,659 36,150,153 41,154,367 818 2360
2009 34,346,269 30,649,866 2261405 2,381,099 36,607,674 42,030,965 811 230
2020 3,108831 4041299 2,255,234 23714928 37,364,065 4787922 873 2360
0 3,937,626 41359937 223,33 2281050 33,172,965 43,646,987 815 2360
202 37,198,306 12126603 2,15534 2,202,000 30,353,700 44,328,603 888 2360
2023 38,039,602 42,848,675 2,210,906 2243263 40250508 45091938 893 2300

Note:  Assessed values are established by the Maryland State Department of Assessents and Taxation on July 1 of each year. Each real property’s assessment is reevaluated

every three years. Taxrates are for each $100 of assessed valug. The Battimore City real property taxrate is $2.248 and the Maryland State real property taxrate

is $0.112, for a total of $2.360.

Source; Baltimore City Department of Finance.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates

Last Ten Fiscal Years (1)

Fiscal City Tax State Tax
Year Rate Rate (2) Total (3)
2014 $ 2268 $ 0112 $ 2380
2015 2.268 0.112 2.380
2016 2.268 0.112 2.380
2017 2.248 0.112 2.360
2018 2.248 0.112 2.360
2019 2.248 0.112 2.360
2020 2.248 0.112 2.360
2021 2.248 0.112 2.360
2022 2.248 0.112 2.360
2023 2.248 0.112 2.360

Notes:

(1) Tax rates are for each $100 of assessed valuation.

(2) The State tax rate is shown for information purpose only, since the City acts in the role of collector and
does not report this portion of the property tax as revenue.

(3) The City has no special assessments.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Principal Property Taxpayer
Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Expressed in Thousands)

2023 2014

Percentage Percentage

Taxable of Total City Taxable of Total City

Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed

Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

BGE (Baltimore Gas & Electric Company).........cooovwrvvvivviicre $1,161185 1 2% $ 699477 1 2.2%
SSA Baltimore Holdings, LLC............ocomerrrrorereronnsrissreneeones 252328 2 0.6%

CSX TraNSPOMALION. v v 26039 3 0.5% 182,98 4 0.6%
Harbor Point Parcel 2 Holdings. .......vevvevvevrsvevirmsricrannens 177,109 4 04%

Baltimore Hotel COrpOTation. .........wevvverevevvesisrnssasnessesnenns 168,436 5 04% 163,991 6 0.5%

Harbor East Limited - Parcel D...........coovvvevivcvoriiirirensieion 128,086 6 0.3% 258,18 2 0.8%

100 Pratt St. Ventures LLC.........co.cvevvevcrsvcrcreecsee e 124,085 7 0.3% 177828 5 0.6%
414 Light Street, LLC ..o.ovvvvvvveere oo 123,650 8 0.3%

VRriZON MD.....ovovivvises s 120209 9 0.3% 198217 3 0.6%
CPUS Brewer's HIL LP.........ooevveereees e 111,707 10 0.3%

Harbor East Limited-Parcel B .........ccovevveveercee e 78246 8 0.3%

Baltimore Center ASSOCIALES..........vevvevreoreereereereer e 159,016 7 0.5%

Hyatt Regency Baltimore ..............vovvemevvveecinnrrireicssnicon 69,163 10 0.2%

Canton Crossing Tower LLC..... 74,180 9 0.2%

TOMAL .o 92,082,834 6%  $2061834 6.5%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type, Primary Government
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Govemmental Activities Business-type Activities
Longtem  Long-tem
General Specil  Financing  Financing General Totdl  Percentage
Obligation ~~ Obligation ~ with Federal ~ with Federal  Revenue Financed ~ Obligation ~ Revenue  Financed ~ Primary  ofPersonal ~ Per
Fiscal Year ~ Bonds Bonds ~ Covemment  ofMarylind  Bonds lease  Purchased  Bonds Bonds  Purchased  Covemment Income (b)% Capita (a)
04§ 4% 0§ U4 § Bl 0§ 106§ BN § 189,600 33§ L7BH6 § 240§ 30%5% 14§ 481
Pk 553,761 147218 37 662 301,804 161471 308 1920369 180 3205% g 516
2016 575,193 145,990 713 PK) B Y/ 160,368 30 L83 1 31 0% 0y 58
007 527,049 199876 B 358,666 144969 | 2039 1067 3386049 uy 5%
At 526,57 19,176 030 35923 160,006 3 220430 0 3 un 58
2009 512881 19,203 16707 318975 150,608 465 2626638 64 3UT38 246 665l
200 589,054 204193 1399 38518 157210 425 251800 M 3U5716 03 666
il 506,18 33,246 1108 344,306 149,781 3% 2854 8 420026 NIA NIA
/A 51478 334405 19% 008§ 1636 | 3k 2 4518066 N/A NIA
K S0 368807 453 M B BIK 206 3T 19 456262 NIA NIA

(2) Per capita calculation utilize calendar year figures proviced by U.S. Department of Commerce, Censts Bureau, in thousands.
(b) Personal Income data from the Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce.
N/A Information not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Cash Net Percentage of
General Available for General Actual Taxable
Obligation Debt Service Bonded Value Per
Fiscal Year Bonds Activities (b) Debt of Property % Capita (a)

2014 $ 528,082 $ 49947 $ 478135 133 767.73
2015 556,779 51,130 505,649 142 813.14
2016 579,395 62,486 516,909 121 840.96
2017 469,340 53,552 415,788 1.06 679.78
2018 530,146 111,525 418,621 1.02 694.82
2019 577,543 116,468 461,075 1.10 756.06
2020 593,329 109,142 484,187 113 826.67
2021 599,984 599,984 1.37 N/A
2022 544,760 544,760 123 N/A
2023 547,055 547,055 121 N/A

(a) Per capita calculation utilize calendar year figures provided by U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau, in thousands.

(b) Externally restricted for repayment of principal on debt; through fiscal year 2015, debt service was accounted for in a separate Debt Service Fund; as of
fiscal year 2016, debt service is included in the General Fund. Effective with the fiscal year 2021, the Debt Service Fund is not accounted for separately and
is now part of the General Fund.

N/A Information not available
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The City of Baltimore has no Overlapping Debt.

Water Revenue Bonds

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt
June 30, 2023

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Legal Debt Margin Information
June 30, 2023
The City has no Legal Debt Margin.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Pledged Revenue Coverage
June 30, 2023
(Expressed in Thousands)

Wastewater Revenue Bonds

Water Less: Net Wastewater Less: Net
Utility ~ Operating Available Debt Service Utility Operating Available Debt Service
Fiscal Year Revenues BExpenses Revenue  Principal Interest  Coverage Revenues  Expenses Revenue  Principal  Interest Coverage
2014 $ 158,678 $ 113,947 $ 44,731 $ 10,830 $ 21,126 140 $ 221,181 $ 123993 $ 97,188 $ 24,083 $ 27,140 1.90
2015 176,439 114,341 62,098 12,250 27,894 1.55 216,428 122,937 93,491 24,951 33,151 1.61
2016 160,865 112,771 48,094 15,880 33,432 0.98 229,300 126,379 102,921 31,485 39,359 1.45
2017 163,563 117,547 46,016 17,298 33,627 0.90 235,133 130,532 104,601 33,886 37,475 1.47
2018 178,367 93,837 84,530 18,441 38,044 151 258,386 141,648 116,738 40,251 38,934 1.55
2019 185,132 99,376 85,756 21,058 39,047 1.43 267,204 157,518 109,686 40,805 41,063 1.34
2020 216,396 137,014 79,382 21,058 39,047 1.32 270,764 163,142 107,622 40,805 41,063 131
2021 243,563 107,329 136,234 28,018 40,915 1.98 289,812 151,068 138,744 45,196 38,240 1.66
2022 278,280 99,503 178,777 28,181 40,418 2.61 278,131 162,374 115,757 51,722 38,178 1.29
2023 232,752 136,899 95,853 35,434 39,233 1.28 304,453 222,804 81,649 55,083 38,804 0.87
Stormwater Revenue Bonds Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds
Stormwater  Less: Net Parking Less: Net
Utility Operating Available Debt Service Facilities ~ Operating Available Debt Service
Fiscal Year Revenues BExpenses Revenue  Principal Interest  Coverage Revenues  Expenses Revenue  Principal  Interest Coverage
2014 $ 27511 $ 13585 $ 13926 $ 436 $ 466 1544 $ 87398 $ 10919 $ 76479 $ 9280 $ 9,407 4.09
2015 25,971 10,632 15,339 441 441 17.39 85,634 7,133 78,501 9,800 8,753 423
2016 27,807 14,641 13,166 616 140 17.65 87,145 6,662 80,483 10,350 8,217 433
2017 29,309 16,799 12,510 1,771 1,037 4.46 88,454 10,159 78,295 10,960 7,669 3.98
2018 28,552 19,733 8,819 1,312 533 533 85,257 9,015 76,242 11,490 6,992 413
2019 28,540 17,454 11,086 1,059 500 711 76,801 8,117 68,684 12,270 5,716 3.82
2020 30,943 17,825 13,118 1,059 500 841 69,697 6,821 62,876 12,270 5716 3.50
2021 31,462 19,396 12,066 2,471 2,571 2.39 38,693 6,416 32,277 4,775 4,202 3.60
2022 37,882 17,744 20,138 2,821 2,530 3.76 56,537 4,096 52,441 4,325 3,926 6.36
2023 37,163 19,802 17,361 2,985 2,453 3.19 60,104 6,003 54,101 5,055 3,827 6.09
Convention Center Revenue Bonds
Convention Net
Center  Available Debt Service
Fiscal Year Revenues Revenue  Principal  Interest Coverage
2014 $ 4560 $ 4560 $ 3260 $ 1,302 1.00
2015 5,968 5,968 3,435 1,118 131
2016 4,517 4,517 3,625 924 0.99
2017 4,120 4,120 3,825 729 0.90
2018 4,580 4,580 4,015 533 1.01
2019 4,220 4,220 4,220 327 0.93
2020 4,425 4,425 4,225 110 1.02
2021 (a)
2022 (a)
2023 (a)

Note: Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in note number 8 in the notes to the financial statements
Operating expenses do not include interest, depreciation or amortization expenses.

(a) Convention Center Revenue Bond Series 1998 was paid off in 2020. The Bond Series 2017A for the Convention Center is presented in the ACFR but the revenue is reported in
Baltimore Hotel Corporation financial statements.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years

Personal Income (a) Per Capita

Calendar (thousands of Personal Total Unemployment
Year Population (a) dollars) Income (b) Employment (c) Rate (c)
2014 623,711 3$ 27,485,795 44,068 268,596 8.6
2015 621,849 28,753,031 46,238 271,363 7.4
2016 614,664 29,338,098 47,730 270,515 6.4
2017 611,648 30,073,681 49,168 271,837 59
2018 602,495 30,942,036 51,357 273,304 55
2019 593,490 31,679,263 53,378 275,911 49
2020 585,708 31,707,954 54,153 256,482 85
2021 576,498 33,757,152 58,556 256,302 7.0
2022 569,931 34,085,639 59,807 262,081 43
2023 N/A N/A N/A 271,413 2.3

Source:

(a) U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

(b) Per capita personal income is calculated based on the personal income divided by the estimated population.

(c) Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation.

N/A Information not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Principal Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

2023[1] 2014 [4]
Percentage Percentage
of Total City of Total City
Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
Government [2]
State .. 34,258 1 10.14 % 34502 1 10.71 %
Other Govemment authorny (Clty, School etc. ) 2369 2 7.02 24,444 2 8.11
Federal ......c.oooveviiiciniiian, 10976 3 325 9,542 3 3
Subtotal GOVEIMMENL .....c.vvvevercer e 68,930 2041 % 68,488 2182 %
Ten Largest Private Sector Employers [3]
Johns Hopkins Hospital and Health System..............cc.covvvirnrrrae 20,845 1 6.17 18,621 2 547
Johns Hopkins University ... 18,600 2 551 25,000 1 6.65
University of Maryland Medlcal System 11,450 3 339 9,830 3 285
Mercy Health SEIVICES .........vevvvvivieieiriee e 9530 4 282 4,028 6 2.69
University Systemof Maryland ............c.ccccoieiiciiciieins 8,965 5 265 9,526 4 182
MedStar Health .........c..coivvvniiiiiiiiiiicci i 6,175 6 183 6,176 5 158
LifeBridge Health - Sinai..... 5315 7 157 5,026 7 0.00
Amazon.com.. 4,500 8 133 113
Exelon / Constellatlon Energy / BGE 3,000 9 0.89 2,705 9 0.86
Kennedy Krieger Institute .. 2,600 10 0.77 2417 10 0.94
St. Agnes HealthCare .. 3267 8 0.74
Subtotal Ten Largest anate Sector Employer 90,980 2693 % 86,56 2473 %
Total Government and Ten Largest Private Sector Employers e 159,910 4134 % 155084 4655 %

Source:

[1]  For the government and private sectors: Maryland Dept of Commerce.

[2] Data only available for the first quarter of 2023, Baltimore City Employment Table.

[3] Data from table, Brief Economic Facts reports lastet available 2022-2023 (Baltimore City)
[4]  For 2014, City of Baltimore Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2014.

[5] Quarterly Average Employment; Total Employment Table
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Full Time Equivalent Employees By Function
Last Ten Years

Full-time equivalent Employees at June 30,

Function/program 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
General GOVEIIIRNL ......c..vovrvoverseer e 1,666 1,700 1517 1,785 1858 1,934 1,949 1,940 1,862 1812
Public safety
POBCE. e 3,608 3444 3259 3125 3243 3235 3241 3193 3197 321
Fire ........ 1,69 1,699 1,639 1731 173 113 113 1734 113 1745
OET .o 695 700 813 3% 751 757 758 167 766 761
Conservation of health ............cccoooivvvricrceian 719 890 842 800 84 820 814 913 909 905
PUBC BOTATY .o 3% 301 39 389 431 450 450 455 454 451
Recreation and parks ............c.coevevosrrvsnsicrnsiicnnn 385 30 Kl 310 3 3R 3 3n 380 a4
Highways and Streets ............c...cooovvmverrvorsrvrorsnern 1331 1428 1,024 1,079 1,074 1,070 1,070 1,020 1,127 1,147
Public work
WAET ..ot 857 n 8%9 810 846 847 847 850 844 84
WASEEWALET .+ .v. v 1,09 97 694 761 750 751 751 71 43 43
Solid waste ....... 705 802 9% 880 866 864 864 838 859 858
Other ......... 682 504 487 423 438 | m 437 431 433
Public service .........c..o...... 260 65 73 65 65 68 68 69 65 64
Economic development ....... 461 559 42 382 RS 39 304 3718 378 414
14558 14006 13444 13275 13539 13670 1364 13717 13747 13862

Source; Baltimore City Bureau of Budget and Management Research.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Operating Indicators By Function/Program
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Function/Program 04 A5 A6 N7 N8 2019 00 Pl 02 A3
Police

ATESIS* oo U0 33062 B30 43 BUL 9183 1660 1260  109% 13159
Fire

Fire Suppression Units DISPAtChed ..o vvvv v MOTI8 143800 147049 163672 163959 166977 154107 16530 17850 1755763

STUCTIALFIIES ..vvvveo v L030 2540 23T 27600 2841 28% 2746 33 2051 283

EMS Transports 925 Q0% 97502 10084 100009 100,043 8910 g6 B3 8632

TISPECHONS v s NA  NA 2439 1655 292  181% 19818 18507 16083 14030
Solid Waste

Refuse Collected (t00S) ....ovvvvvnecrrnsnerneecisssmisnnee AG13T 155624 149582 153793 159204 15383 44402 158541 154816 143316

Recyclables Collected (f008) .v.vvvevvvvenenvrscmrsmrnes 028 8919 853 9502 2962 208 6000 B0 21 1AM
Water/Wastewater

NUIDET O ACCOURLS .o GOA008 426642 407000 420681 427040 421773 4142 421674 4965 427512

Average Daily Water Production (MGD) ..v.vevvvvvvecvesvvesecnnsrssnnnnns 0 3 193 19 18 19 1% 19 1% 209

Average Daily Sewage Treatment (MGD) .....vvvvvvvcensssnrsnrsnsnn 208 199 25 180 176 32 18 18 176 183
Transportation (DOT)

Miles Streets Resurfaced/ReconStructed .......u..vvvvessovvvsvsrsssssissieses 000 120 120 610 109 109 % 76 i) A

Potholes Repaired ......vvvecvvvvnee 12642 1671 129 12466 B0 18513 (T VXY R I A T W

Traffic CHations ISSUEA** .......ovoveeevvvee s 118 8 it 8 6 2 2 2

Parking CHations ISSUE .......vvvvvseen s L34 300230 405720 256551 310655 36361 223611 186811 k4 311446

Traffic Signals REPAITEN ...vvvvvvvvvvovrcsrrsissscssses s A6 440 438 4TI 5582 4918 3383 4150 185 4678

Street LIghts REPAIed ....ocvovvvsvvrseorrnvrssesssssrmnnnnes 0000 24254 3L 2013 2258 2758 1163 1,076 1238 137
Housing

Number of inspections (housing and code enforcement) ...........vvvwvvrvens DAGIL 5466 196698 24721 261588 2113 210192 220481 190280 149662

Number of PErmits ISSUEd ... vvvvveeevvevvsvrsecrrnvrrn BB 700 N3 40718 094 35309 059 WM 28 465

Property Management Service Requests Completed™* .....vvvvvrerrvnen 8824 884 M4 NV6H 86 79,093 68,865 55,013 65,001 73906
Recreation and Parks

Enrollment at ReCreation Centers .......vvoovvvvvovsressevssssssseenns 138103 14407 158483 148300 162230 14893 BB 1090 043 218

Permits [5sued f0r Park FACIHIES .......vovvooveeve e 166 184  19% 11 199 1681 98 608 1555 843
Library

Volumes i Collection (MHONS) ... vvvvevvvvvrvessvrrsssrcsssssvessscssisn 22 23 22 22 22 23 24 24 24 248

Volumes Borowed (M0nS) .......vvvevevvessvevnsossssssssesssssssssssssine 13 13 12 11 13 17 18 1 17 19

N/A Data not available.

* Yearly arrests are based on calendar year data, not fiscal year.

** This figure includes only DOT officer-written citations and does not include automatic camera citations, 2020 amount is estimated.

**% - Property Management represents primarily cleaning and boarding of vacant properties.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

Function/Program 2014 2015 2016 207 2018 2019 2020 201 2022 023

Police/Sheriff
BUIAIIGS ©vvvvvvvvv v 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16
Marked Patrol URHS .........ovvevvee v 463 576 480 620 680 680 501 560 555 517
OMhEr VERICIES ...t gkl 309 510 538 504 55 555 608 51 kel

Fire Stations
BUIINGS ©.ovovevvv s 62 62 62 62 62 62 61 5 5 5
Fire/EMS Apparatus (Tankers/Ladders/Medics) (Fleet) ... 142 138 155 146 115 u 149 157 1m0 u
OthET VERIEIES v iy 28 24 28 P pL| 0 29 /) 25

Recreation and Parks
BUIINGS 1vvvvvvvv v s 20 20 20 20 20 20 yill il il iV
ACTRAZE .o s s 581 58 A4 4814 48T 4814 5617 5027 5018 5022
VERICIES v vvvvv v s Vil 10 Vil 142 19 128 137 139 i) 138
BQUIDIENE v 158 151 145 137 104 156 131 1% 19 1%

Public Works (Transportation, Solid Waste, and General Services)
BUHAIIZS v 119 119 119 119 il il 1% 128 i 18
VRHICIES v 1007 %7 %l 10% "3 95 1,109 1143 113 1018
BQUIDIRNE v 5% 53 534 510 n 499 48 438 VR 3
SHERS (MES) . v 4000020002000 2000 4800 4800 4800 4800 4800 4800

Water/Wastewater/Stormwater
THEALMRNE PIANLS +vvvvvvvvvvvvevrevr v 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Othr BUIINZS .. .vvve v s p/il p/il pil p/il pil p/il 5 1% i 103
Vehickes ... 64l 636 54 41 688 667 116 4 ] 63
Equipment ............. ) 481 466 605 9 B 8 216 216 257
Water Mains (Mikes)............. 3400 3669  36% 37 3B 3% 3718 3723 3957 4002
Water Treatment capacity (MGD) .....vcvvvvvescvvenrrmssvessrn 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30
SANEALY SEWELS (IHES) v v v 3% 1% 130 138 1398 1416 1370 1417 1471 1472
SEOMSEWES (THES) +.vvv v vv v 1100 108 1108 1180 1180 123 112 1197 1203 1204
Wastewater Treatment capacity (MGD) ...c.ceeecevesrssrssssrenns 253 253 253 253 253 253 253 253 23 23

Libraries
BUIIGS .o i) Pl Pl pli Pl pli Pl pli pl Pl
VERICIES ..ot 17 17 16 14 17 17 17 17 17 18

Other-General Government
BUIINGS 1vvvvvvvv v s 13 13 1 1 13 1 13 13 13 13
Vehicles ....... h14 17 5 168 316 m n puil 81 15
BQUIDIIENE ©.vvvve v n 14 76 19 49 3 2 10 10 10

* The total number of buildings excludes residential properties under the ownership of the Mayor and City Council.
NIA - Datanot available.
Source:  Baltimore City Department of Finance.
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